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LISTING INFORMATION
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Board Lot
5,000 shares
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2024

20244
HK$°000 HK$°000
TET Tt
Revenue I 4
— Media Content Distribution Business — AR RITER 354,405 322,495 +9.9%
— Brand Licensing Business — R 293,401 166,314 +76.4%
Total Mgt 647,806 488,809 +32.5%
Gross profit margin S kS 47.9% 48.3%
Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company 7%/ ] fi 5 M A it Fi| 52,311 48,963 +6.8%
Proposed dividends per share® BB REE
— Final — K HKO0.28 cent HKO0.32 cent
0.283% 4l 0329 il
— Special — F 5l — HKO0.02 cent
— 0.027 Al
Liquidity ratio RBESLE
Current ratio® REHR 2.6 2.6
Cash ratio® el xRoe 0.9 07
Capital adequacy ratio EXRELLE
Debt to equity ratio® BRI R N/A N/A
TEAR A A

[€)] Proposed dividends per share were calculated by dividing proposed dividends (1) T o R MR S A R R I IR S R LA A A
by the number of the Company’s ordinary shares of 1,992,000,000 in issue as at H AR 28 w) £ 3 47 3% 78 1) #0H 1,992,000,000 5
the date of the annual report. wHE .

(2)  Current ratio was calculated by dividing the total current assets by the total — (2) i Bl Lt 3 J5 ¥ i B & /8 48 (8 Bk DA 454 B H
current liabilities as at the respective dates. i E) AR

(3)  Cash ratio was calculated by dividing the cash and cash equivalents by the total ~ (3) B &N HFLH & RHSFEYEUESHARA
current liabilities as at the respective dates. WY B A B AR R TG o

“) The Group did not have any interest-bearing nor external borrowings. Thus the 4) N I o e SN = S B A
debt to equity ratio was not applicable. B HE £ LU RS o
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Group Geographical Revenue Mix from External Customers

REEIMBEF R ERSS

Asia, except Hong Kong
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o Hong Kong

it 17.5%

Americas and Europe
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100%
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Turnover and Gross Profit Margin
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As at Asat  Change
31 March 31 March during
Business Segment 2025 2024 the year

R2025%F 1220244

B2 38318 3A31H
Media Content fEm A 752 702 +7.1%
Brand Licensing o R 15 425 379 +12.1%

Dividend per share

BRER

(HK$’million) (¥ ##75)
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Financial Calendar & B

Interim results announcement o E A A

28 November 2024 2024411 H28H

Payment date of the interim dividend w0 ELUR A5 H O

15 January 2025 202541 H15H

Annual results announcement RAEER A

26 June 2025 20254F6H26 H

Closure of Register of Members T e R R A o OB R

— Annual general meeting — BRRBEERE
12 September 2025 to 17 September 2025 20254F9H12H £ 202549 H17H
(both days inclusive) (BiEHREMXR)

—  Proposed final dividend' —  EEE IR R WK B
23 September 2025 to 26 September 2025 20254F9H 23 H #£20254-9H26H
(both days inclusive) (BiEHREMXR)

Annual general meeting i SR A K g

17 September 2025 20254E9H17H

Payment date of the final dividend! AR B UR A B

3 November 2025 2025411 H3H

Note 1: The proposed dividend is subject to the approval of the BT - TR R VIR A M S ZE A TR i B R AR € b R R L o

Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Dear Shareholders,

LEARN FROM THE PAST AND MOVE
FORWARD WITH RADICAL INNOVATION

Having been in the intellectual property (“IP”) management for over
30 years starting from a family business to a business with revenue
of HK$647.8 million and net profit of HK$52.3 million for the Year
and 752 active titles of media contents and 425 brands available for
Asia Pacific, we see IP management will become a pivotal change for
Hong Kong. This is particularly so after the promulgation of “l4th
Five-Year Plan for National Economic and Social Development of the
People’s Republic of China and the Long-Range Objectives Through
the Year 2035” where Hong Kong will position and develop itself into
the regional intellectual property trading centre.

We have learned that nothing is constant, but the past makes the
present and the future is rooted in the actions we take today. Since
our listing in 2019, we have delivered solid results for the past 6
years. As we continue to navigate through external challenges, our
second 5-year strategic plan that was launched at the last AGM will
focus on investing in our future and advancing our growth strategy
through “GO GLOBAL”. We will continue to invest in the Group’s
own IP content channels Ani-One® and Ani-Mi™, e-commerce
platform Ani-Mall® and product brand Ani-Two® We will continue
to seek opportunities for expansion and growth through mergers and
acquisitions, investing in companies that share our values and align
synergistically with our business, both in our current markets and
our future markets. We will also look for new business format to
tap into our strengths in IP management and commercialisation by
bringing different IPs together, continuing our role as a Hong Kong
ambassador and cultural exchange super-connector.

As an IP management company striving to be number 1 in Asia,
we believe that innovation and creativity are central to our daily
operations. Innovation is not just about a new product or service
or initiative. Innovation is the capability to conceive, develop and
deliver such new products, services and initiatives. Such capability
starts from breaking our conventional mode and changing mindsets
in our approaches and identifying market needs to create new
markets. Radical innovation will be what we will adopt in new
products, services and markets. We are more excited than ever about
the possibilities for creation or co-creation with others.

AL IR
EEME BHERH

FAM AL g5 g ak A AT OB OM304F > K
JR A 3B R F A AR B AR 45 £ 647.8
HOE T K AR ES23E BT o I R
K Hb 5 48 A 75218 A 2501 B 0 25 ORE K425
8 AT P R A 2 > FRAM R 2 R A A
REGS A A 5 s I BRI S A 4 o R H R AE
(GRE UNRE i R S g g
| O AR B A20354F 5 S B A ) B8 A
% A B 0 B R A A I I ik
FERERE Gyl o

FoAM FR kB o S M . (H A X Rt Bl
TE > AR AAEAR A FAM S KA SR AT Ey o
F20194F BT LA > FRAMAE 4 X 6 4F TP LA
TREEMEL > W48 T RN P
FAM A JiE Fe oA AR g b R A8 A
SAF B S 8 I SR A PR A B R
3 %8 4 [GO GLOBAL ¥ 3 384/ (14 34 =
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A 2% B 48 Ani-One® M Ani-Mi™ -~ & i
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JER 22 7] o FAM TR A = 5K 1 FE B AL
75 e TR TR AS [A] A R0 Al E RE o B R AT A
R R R R AL A > B
I 8 A s KA e SUAb A8 R AR A5 N9 £
fa, o

A8 J BT I 1 B 9 B — A R Y L
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e B B B o AR A B R AN S A
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The Group’s long-term dividend policy is to share the fruits of our
hard work with all Shareholders, while efficiently utilising the
Group’s resources to expand business and improve profitability,
leading to value creation and sustainable growth. I am therefore
pleased to report that a final dividend of HKO0.28 cent per share was
proposed for the Reporting Period. Including the interim dividend of
HKI1.09 cent per share distributed during the Reporting Period, the
total dividends for the Reporting Period is HK1.37 cent per share,
representing a distribution of approximately 52% of the Group’s
profit attributable to Shareholders.

I believe with innovation, creativity and our growing professional
team, we will scale higher heights not only for our business but also
for Hong Kong. I take this opportunity to thank my colleagues for
their dedication and commitment to the vision, values and mission of
the Group. I also thank you on behalf of the Board and the Group for
your support as our Shareholders sharing our strategic vision for the
Group.

Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia
Chairman and Executive Director

26 June 2025
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

BUSINESS REVIEW

REVENUE Uz

.e 32.544

MEDIA CONTENT
DISTRIBUTION BUSINESS

EBOEREE
E 3 4C]-

HK$647.8 million 647.8E &7 ﬂ NET PROFIT &%

HK$52.3 million 52.38 &8 T

6.8

BRAND LICENSING
BUSINESS

IREEARRITER e \ ahEIRIESE TS

Revenue 3% : —

Revenue %25 :

HK$354.4 million 35445 B 7 — @ HK$293.4 million 293.4FH &8 7T

9.9, 4o =

A. Media Content Distribution Business
1.  Growing global and local at the same time

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s media content
distribution business continued to demonstrate strong
momentum. Total sales reached HK$354.4 million, an
increase 9.9% versus previous year. This solid result
reflected robust market demand and deployment of
effective distribution strategies. While new streaming
platforms are being set up and investing in Asia, existing
ones are starting new services into more markets. The
Group has started a new partnership with South Korean
video streamer Laftel on our contents for Asia.

To broaden the scope and reach of our Ani-One® brand
and its branded zones, the Group has expanded our
footprint to the Philippines, Cambodia and Malaysia.

+76.4+a

A. ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁ 4

Gl ER L ES EL
R IR > A SR Y LA 2
BTEBEHZE RSB -
ARG HE E F354.410 B HEOT -
g —ERR9% o B — 1% i
A T SR S T 3 A R A
B BB AT R T E o e SR ET
F14) B AT S5 B SF- 5 TE 7E SR U ST A
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45 B O B wh B A A U 40 1 Laftel
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Grooming own in-house brands and branded
platform Ani-One®

Ani-One® (our diversified Japanese animation content
platform) expanded its YouTube presence by launching
two new localised sub-channels for Indonesia and India,
growing its network to seven channels. With over 8.4
million subscribers and 1.5 billion views, Ani-One®
continues to deliver Japanese anime with localised
subtitles and dubs across Southeast Asia. Popular
simulcast titles during the Reporting Period included
“OSHI NO KO Season 27, “Kaiju No. 87, “Solo Leveling
Season 27, and “Alya Sometimes Hides Her Feelings in
Russian”, the latter achieving over 28.2 million views as
of 31 March 2025 on Ani-One® YouTube.

Ani-One® also introduced original ACG-focused content,
including short-form videos featuring voice actor
interviews and fan activities. Collaborations with YouTube
on initiatives like YouTube Shopping and “&F & & i~
further integrated Ani-One® with Ani-Mall®, enhancing
fan engagement and e-commerce synergy.

In addition to online promotions, Ani-One® has partnered
with Hong Kong Jockey Club for themed events such as
“Umamusume: Pretty Derby” screenings and community
festivals, strengthening “Umamusume: Pretty Derby”
brand presence both online and on the ground. This
showcases how Ani-One® is more than a dedicated anime
channel having its own platform on distribution but also
a brand for collaboration in creating new market and
customers reach.

Landing Chinese anime and content projects
internationally

Ani-Mi™, our animation brand dedicated to bringing
Asian animation to audiences in Asia, expanded its
influence in the Chinese anime space through a multi-
channel strategy and hosted screening events of Chinese
anime for marketing in Asia.

m MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2025 Annual Report
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Continue Acquisition of content

To support the continued growth of our content
distribution network, the Group strategically acquired
high-quality titles across anime and movies genres.

On anime, the Group secured top-performing simulcast
titles such as “Solo Leveling Season 27, “Kaiju No. 87,
“My Hero Academia Season 7”7, “OSHI NO KO Season
2”, and “Alya Sometimes Hides Her Feelings in Russian”.
Among the new titles mentioned above, “Solo Leveling
Season 2” has been consistently ranked within the Top 10
TV Shows in the licensed territories such as Hong Kong,
Indonesia, Malaysia, the Philippines, Singapore, Taiwan,
Thailand, and Vietnam on Netflix as of 31 March 2025
since the title’s launch on the said SVOD service on 5
January 2025 (source: https:/www.netflix.com/tudum/top10).

On movies, the Group acquired many titles across
animated, live-action, and concert genres for theatrical
release, including “BLUE LOCK THE MOVIE -
EPISODE NAGI-", “Umamusume: Pretty Derby -
Beginning of a New Era”, and “My Hero Academia:
You're Next”. Several titles achieved over JPY1 billion
at the Japanese box office, reinforcing our commitment to
high-impact content.

Additionally, the Group secured many blockbuster
movies from Mainland China and Hong Kong for inflight
entertainment, including “The Goldfinger”, “Panda Plan”,
and “Detective Chinatown 19007, the latter becoming the
first Mainland franchise movie to surpass RMB10 billion
in China.
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B. Strategic Investment

1.

Investment in Anime product company Sunrise
eMarketing Limited

The Group’s affiliate Sunrise eMarketing Limited
(“Sunrise”) is a company engaged in trading, wholesales
and ecommerce of licensed anime products. Sunrise has
received sound recognition by anime fans and consumers
in Greater China and Southeast Asia through various
local events, popup stores, retail presence and ecommerce
engagement. Sunrise has positively contributed profit to
the Group in the Reporting Period.

Sunrise is currently carrying the Group’s product brand
Ani-Two® for products under “Jujutsu Kaisen”, “Chainsaw
Man”, “Blue Lock” and “Kaiju No. 8”. Ani-Two® is an
umbrella brand owned by the Group for anime IP products
developed both by the Group and its affiliated companies.

Investment in movie production company S11
Partners Limited

During the Reporting Period, a subsidiary of the Company
has completed the subscription of a 10% interest in the
enlarged issued share capital of S11 Partners Limited
(“S117). S11 is a content production company incorporated
in Hong Kong with business operations in both Hong
Kong and Taiwan. S11 will start filming multiple movies
and TV series within 2025.

C. Brand Licensing Business

1.

Acquisition of new licensing brands

The Group entered into master license agreement for
Asia on 1 January 2025 with SUNLEMON, a Japanese
company that makes cute and soft plush and toys with a
long history since 1984. SUNLEMON has fans base in
Japan and around the world.

m MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2025 Annual Report
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2. Expansion on licensing brands rights
The Group has created groundbreaking collaborations

with timeless iconic Sesame Street and the trendy, modem
style of “LINE Friends” IPs for the Greater China market.

3.  Business Development
Over the years, the “goods economy” and “2-dimensional,
aka ACG culture” have become the prevailing trends
among younger generations, from millennials to Gen
Alpha, in China. Consequently, our business experienced
a surge during the Reporting Period.

The Group has introduced self-merchandise and
distributed in pop-up events, anime fairs in various
regions and Ani-Mall® throughout the Reporting Period.

“Haikyu!!” pop-up with over 200 stock keeping unit
(“sku”) of merchandises was held at Festival Walk in
Hong Kong. It attracted a lot of fans queues snaked during
Easter holiday. Apart from above, “Blue Lock” pop-up at
Festival Walk in Hong Kong and Ani-Mail® pop-up store
which featured 9 Japanese anime IPs at Changi Airport in
Singapore were organised.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK AND FUTURE PLANS

The Group will continue its growth model for year
2025/26

We will speed up our growth by investing in our business and adding
new senior and experienced management team members while
expanding our content portfolios and sales territories.

Media Content Distribution

With a growing global portfolio of new and library anime, movies
and drama content licences, the Group will continue to explore new
revenue potentials from regional platform clients. We will introduce
new content genres and formats, such as micro dramas and social
media videos, integrating our marketing and IP licensing capabilities
to enrich our offers. We will spread our footprint to more new
territories, building new business accounts and client networks.
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Ani-One®
Ani-One® YouTube channels:

The Group will introduce new membership tiers with exclusive
and first window contents. We will also create more sub-channels
dedicated to specific genres to increase monetisation potentials.
We will also produce more original contents in new formats for our
channels to further strengthen our brand recognition and engagement.

Ani-Music-One®
With the growing demand for live music entertainment and the
unique appeal of anime music among fans, the Group will further

develop its music and live performance business under the Ani-
Music-One® brand.

New business

With so many IPs under our management, they fuel the ambition
for the Group to organise Asia’s biggest and most important IP
management mega event to connect IP creators and owners to their
fans and customers providing the medium to forge our leadership
position in the IP industry.

Licensing
We will continue to enrich our brand portfolio through acquisition,
representation and joint venture business models. We will actively

extend our footprint to the newly emerging markets like Vietnam and
India.

Number of active titles of media contents
available
Number of brands available

CING RNy g
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the revenue by business
segment during the years indicated, both in absolute amount and as a
percentage of total revenue:

For the year ended
31 March 2025

For the year ended
31 March 2024

B E2025%F # £20244F
3A3IBLLEE 3H31H 14
Revenue Percentage Revenue Percentage Change
& L tE W 25 {5 L 5 B
HK$°000 % HK$’000 %
THER % AREP %
Media Content 5 R 2
Distribution Business AT 354,405 54.7 322,495 66.0 +9.9%
Brand Licensing Business &b i % fi 2£ ¥ 293,401 45.3 166,314 34.0 +76.4%
647,806 100.0 488,809 100.0 +32.5%

Revenue derived from Media Content Distribution Business remained
the largest source of revenue for the Group, contributing 54.7%
(2024: 66.0%). It experienced a 9.9% increase in revenue this year,
driven by a significant increase in revenue from distribution of
feature films. This positive trend was primarily due to our strategic
progress in film distribution. The successful launch of new films
significantly contributed to this increase, which showcasing our
dedication to effectively promoting quality content and maximising
our reach. The distribution of feature films contributed a notable
revenue of HK$112.1 million (2024: HK$32.3 million) to the Group
during the Year, which represented 17.3% of the Group’s total
revenue.

Revenue derived from Brand Licensing Business increased by
HK$127.1 million or 76.4% to HK$293.4 million during the Year.
The increase was mainly due to a surge in East Asia during the
Year. The increase was also contributed by the growth in sales of
merchandise in various pop-up stores, events and different online
sales channels, which contributed revenue of HK$68.8 million for the
Year, representing an increase of approximately HK$29.3 million or
74.3% as compared with last year.

oK I A AT B I g AR B AR
A8 B K U R AR VR > 1554.7% (2024 4F ¢
66.0%) ° 7 4F BE W 45 16 129.9% » 3 F i i
BB A B ER M- & Em
B 3 R R A 4 T AE TR Y B AT b Y g
HE R o BT TE RS R Th 4 B G R i T i
WA > %8 BR8N R
TR 25 0 e KAL 46 18 5 28 01 (R K G o TE AR
FE o BREEAT TS L AR AT A T AT Bk
Ao EEL2.1H & 0 (20244F 1 32,35 H i
J6) > Ak AR B AR A 1917.3% o

AR i R R S R RS BN 1271 i
JC 376.4% A A E 19293.4F B i T o 1
1o BN 4 76 R 56 M [ AT BT A o ]
W EEAAEANFRME - G 8) R RS L
FHERENELHEE AR EA%E
] 7 A 4 T JRR Ui A £ 68.8 T T 1R
FAE BN A929.3 H B ¥ L 5(74.3% -
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Cost of Sales

Cost of sales was primarily royalty payments to the media content
licensors and brand licensors at the mutually agreed royalty rates.
Our Group’s cost of sales increased by HK$84.9 million or 33.6%
to HK$337.8 million for the Year. The increase was in line with the
increase in revenue.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit for the Year amounted to HK$310.0 million, representing
a year-on-year increase of HK$74.1 million or 31.4%, mainly due to
an increase in revenue. Meanwhile, gross profit margin of 47.9% for
the Year was slightly lower than the previous year’s 48.3%.

Other Income and Gains, Net

Other income and gains increased by HK$1.2 million or 14.0% to
HK$10.0 million for the Year. The increase was mainly due to the
increase in government subsidies and interest from a convertible bond
and investment in a media content, partially offset by the decrease in
bank interest income.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for the Year amounted to HK$113.4
million, representing an increase of approximately HK$37.6 million
or 49.5% as compared to last year. There were increases in staff
costs, expenses for marketing and withholding taxes which is in line
with the increase in revenue.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses of the Group for the Year
amounted to HK$66.3 million, representing an increase of HK$2.1
million or 3.2% as compared to last year, which was mainly due
to increase in legal and professional fees, auditor’s remuneration,
training cost, and transportation cost, partially offset by reducing
other general and administrative expenses due to cost saving
measures implemented by the Group.

Fair Value Gain/(Loss) on Investment in a Convertible
Bond

The Group has invested in an unlisted convertible bond due 2026
issued by an independent third party. The bond was redeemed during
the Year and its fair value as at the redemption date was estimated to
be SGDI1,000,000 (approximately HK$5,800,000) (2024: S$926,000
or HK$5,369,000), resulting in a fair value gain of HK$431,000
(2024: fair value loss of HK$428,000) credited to profit or loss for
the Year.
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Share of Results of a Joint Venture and an Associate

During the Year, the Group recorded share of results of a joint
venture and an associate, amounting to HK$2.5 million (2024:
HK$0.3 million).

Other Expenses, Net

Other expenses, net for the Year amounted to HK$88.6 million,
representing an increase of HK$42.2 million, owing to the loss on
payments to falsified bank accounts, increase in impairment loss and
write-off of various assets during the Year. These mainly included (i)
a write-down of HK$64.3 million of licensed rights to net realisable
value, an increase of HK$24.3 million compared with last year, after
taking into account the current market conditions and estimated
future recoverable amounts in respect of the licensed rights; (ii) loss
on payments to falsified bank accounts of HK$21.3 million (2024:
nil); (iii) net of impairment, reversal of impairment and write-off of
trade receivables amounting to HK$2.8 million (2024: net of reversal
of impairment of trade receivables of HK$0.3 million) after taking
into account the aged trade receivable balances and customers that
were in financial difficulties; (iv) impairment on intangible assets of
HK$1.0 million (2024: HK$0.6 million) in view of the unlikelihood
of recovery of the full amount invested; and (v) foreign exchange
losses of HK$0.3 million (2024: HK$6.0 million) resulting mainly
from depreciation of Renminbi; partially offset by (vi) write-back of
long aged trade payable of HK$1.6 million (2024: nil).

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense for the Year amounted to HK$2.1 million (2024:
HK$8.8 million), representing an effective tax rate (income tax
expense divided by profit before tax) of 3.8% for the Year (2024:
15.2%). The decrease in effective tax rate for the Year was mainly
due to increase in tax credits related to withholding tax claims and
reversal of tax provisions over-provided in prior years.

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, profit for the Year increased by HK$3.3
million or 6.8% to HK$52.3 million. Net profit margin of 8.1% was
similar to the previous year.

Profit For The Year Attributable to Shareholders of the
Company

Profit for the Year attributable to Shareholders of the Company also
amounted to HK$52.3 million, representing an increase of HK$3.3
million or 6.8%.

Et—BEeELER—HEBEELE
|

AR RE > ARG B AT B M A E 4
(L —MBEAENEHA25A BT
(20244F : 0.3H B o0) o

HipEX FEE

AR AF ) H Ath B SR R 42,27 B T
FERBOE B L TER BN FENMKE
() SR AT IR 5 S AT B 48 2 DA R 4% T 7 e (E
T 15 R BB 1 A B o B R E B G AR
% JEE AT T W KA BE A RE B A FT R A AT
Wi ] 4 RE o B RE O & n] A B TR (R R AR
BAMN24.3F B JC £64.3H M IC 5 (i) )
BB SR AT R 5 S AT W HE 2K 521,370 B
IC (20244F - M) 5 GiD K H ER IR NE 5
FEW R IE & B A MBS RN E S - 85
JRE WA TE ek~ ek 4 R K BB A28
U TT (20244F & ) B S0 TR I (L 488 [ i
FH 0.3 B IT) 5 K (v) A8 % 8 i e 2
BWESENATRENE > MBS EWE S
B1.0H B0 (20244 0.6 B IT) 5 (V)
T b0 5 48 75 0.3 0 & #s T (20244F 1 6.0H &
Wor) o EEmH R AR E T8 MR
53 45 (vi) [ % = 30 B A5 AR B MY 1.6 E BV T
(2024 4F : %) JIT #& 85 -

REHMAX

AR AR BE W BT A B B SE 2.1 E B T (2024
8.8 H Uk ) o Bl A 4E 0B R B
R (P15 Bl B 3 R LA BR BT i A £53.8%
(20244F 1 15.2%) » A< 4F B B BB R 1 Ik D
F2 O A AT A B AR o i R e A AR
JEE TS A 0 TR B o

FREF

A bl B o A AR R N R 3 3.3 s
JC (E06.8%) £52.3H 85 #s o6 - 41 Fl F8.1%
BRL 38 1F 4F B AR A o

RATBRREMEARFERR

AN T R A AR AR B s R R 255231 B
ot > BEN3.3E B r 56.8% ©

2005%H BHEEERAT m



Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise media content commercial rights,
computer software, brand licensing contracts and ERP system.

The movements of the intangible assets during the Year are set out

BVEE
I TV ey A R A T CEHE R R B K
P~ R HE & 40 R B A 3 IR R

AR TG A B ST

below:

2025 2024

2025%F 20244F

HK$’000 HK$’000

TET T I0

At the beginning of the year, net SR R (e 8,700 8,582

Additions NE 740 4,598
Amortisation i 8 (1,939) (3,674)
Impairment WA (1,034) (643)
Exchange realignment e 5. 34 4% 12) (163)

At the end of the year, net AR T E 6,455 8,700

Investments in media contents

The Group has invested in certain media content production projects
of which the Group is guaranteed by the respective media content
producers for a fixed rate of return or minimum amount of return
after the release of the media contents within the specified periods.
In addition, the Group is also entitled to certain distribution rights of

REKBAR

AEBOBES THEAXREEHEE > B
A7 B [ A A5 IRE R N 7 SRR A AR R T R AE
HLE TRy M 7A) 8 A I 6 PR 2 1 M 15 (81 7 [ ik
HER R AR o BLAh > AL IR A HEAR
525 Wk 1) AL R A A I AL R A A T

related media contents as stipulated in the respective agreements.

The movements of the investments in media contents during the Year
are set out below:

BATHE

AAE BRI A A 2 S

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$°000 HK$°000
TET Tt
At the beginning of the year, net A E 15,355 23,888
Additions NE — 1,894
Return of investments & Wi IE — (7,975)
Change in fair value YNESIE 3] (621) (2,452)
At the end of the year, net AR (E 14,734 15,355
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Licensed Assets

Licensed assets decreased by HK$25.7 million or 7.1% to HK$334.3
million as at 31 March 2025, of which HK$16.5 million (31 March
2024: HK$13.3 million) related to prepayments for licensed assets
with licence periods which have yet to begin. The decrease was
mainly due to the recoupment of licensed assets and the write-
down of licensed rights to net realisable value, partially offset by
acquisition of media content distribution rights, during the Year.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables decreased by 4.3% due to strengthened collection
practices, resulting in faster payments from customers during the
Year.

Trade payables
Trade payables were similar to the level at the end of last year.

Contract liabilities

The decrease in contract liabilities in 2025 was mainly due to the
decrease in advance payment received from customers.

NET CURRENT ASSETS

In line with business expansion, the net current assets increased
by 8.3% to HK$556.4 million as at 31 March 2025, compared to
HK$513.9 million as at 31 March 2024. The current assets were
HK$911.3 million as at 31 March 2025, an year-on-year increase
of HK$69.0 million, primarily due to the increase in cash and cash
equivalents and partially offset by the decrease of licensed assets and
trade receivables. The current liabilities were HK$354.8 million as
at 31 March 2025, an increase of HK$26.4 million as compared with
last year, which was mainly due to the increase in accruals and other
payables partly offset by the decreases in contract liabilities and lease
liabilities.

NET ASSETS

The net assets increased by 4.6% to HK$614.8 million as at 31 March
2025, compared to HK$587.7 million as at 31 March 2024. The
increase was mainly due to (i) the increase of HK$42.5 million in
net current assets; (ii) the decrease of HK$3.6 million in non-current
liabilities; and partially offset by (iii) the decrease of HK$19.0
million in non-current assets.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2025, our Group had cash and cash equivalents of
HK$326.4 million (2024: HK$235.7 million), the majority of which
were denominated in Renminbi, US dollars, New Taiwan dollars.
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As at 31 March 2025, our Group had a current ratio! of 2.6 (compared
to 2.6 at 31 March 2024) and a cash ratio? of 0.9 (compared to 0.7 as
at 31 March 2024). The liquidity ratio remained stable as compared
with last year.

Notes:

1 Current ratio was calculated by dividing the total current assets by the total
current liabilities as at the respective dates.

2 Cash ratio was calculated by dividing the cash and cash equivalents by the total
current liabilities as at the respective dates.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2025, our Group did not have any interest-
bearing nor external borrowings. Thus, neither the gearing ratio nor
the debt to equity ratio was applicable to our Group.

Our Group’s operations were mainly financed by internal resources
including but not limited to existing cash and cash equivalents,
anticipated cash flow from its operating activities and the net
proceeds generated from the Listing. With a strong liquidity position,
our Group is able to expand in accordance with its business strategy.

Our Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2025.

There was no material impact to our Group arising from the
fluctuation in the exchange rates of the major currencies in US
dollars and Renminbi during the Year.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

After deduction of the underwriting fees and commissions and
expenses payable by the Company in connection with the Listing,
the net proceeds from Listing were HK$185.9 million (the “Net
Proceeds”).

The Board closely monitored the use of proceeds from the Listing
with reference to the use of proceeds disclosed in the Prospectus and
the announcement in relation to change in use of Net Proceeds dated
25 July 2022. For further details of the change in use of Net Proceeds
and the reasons for and benefits of such change, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 25 July 2022.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group utilised approximately HK$183.4
million of the Net Proceeds, representing approximately 98.7% of
the Net Proceeds, and the unutilised Net Proceeds amounted to
approximately HK$2.5 million (the “Unutilised Net Proceeds”),
representing approximately 1.3% of the Net Proceeds.

m MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2025 Annual Report

R2025E3 H31H > 7 4 [ Y 3 B L Rk
2.6 (JR20244E3H31H 1 2.6) [ Bl 4t &2 5
0.9 (JA202443H31H : 0.7) - Byt R E &
AL AR RRE -

Wi

1 Ui B LU R % O ) A AR BR DL A AT B H
I AR

2 B 4 bl A B 4 B4 AF W BR DA A B A
PURRRIN U B=ig b

20244 K 20254E3 H31H > A 4E [ 3 AT
fl 5HE R AN ERAE A - L > EAR B[R
Ll SR R AR S A 2 L R R A A S ] o

A SR Y 8 DL R IR (R HA
R B Bl e B 5 (HY) ~ HRHACE TS
B P15 BB U R L BT P A A T AR
£ o Bk R S B E SR DL > A AT AR
% 5 s AT R -

202543 A31H » A4 B3 M AT ] 2 K 5k
REfE -

A AR B A AR S 2 B S8 o0 L N R
T B A B A A0 AT A EE K R R o

EHBRERE

80 B AR 2N W) AT B T A B O B 8 2 T
KA 4 DL R B S > b T A Bk R A (TR
BREZFHE] HI1859H Bkt o

O ORI 4 I T R T 4 ER 0 T A5 K
TE % AR 98 0 33 552022457 H25 0 2 8 4
ST B P A5 K OER R E > U E R LT
BT A5 3K E W R o A B i A A5 K E A
B HE— A RS O B % B 0 B i
% o wE 2 BN T H W 252022F7H25H (1)
NE -

202543 H31H » A 4 [ E &) A 15 3
FRA183.4F B T > I T3 IHIF A
98.7% - i A B Fl BT 159 3K E I3 B A 242.5 0
BB IC(RBAMBIRED G 5K
TE I 3 491.3%



The following table sets out the original planned use of Net Proceeds,
the revised allocation as at 25 July 2022, and the actual usage up to
31 March 2025.

Intended use of Net Proceeds as

stated in the Prospectus and the Planned use Utilised
change in use of Net Proceeds Approximate of actual  Net Proceeds
announcement dated 25 July % of total ~ Net Proceeds as at
2022 Net Proceeds (o228 July 2022

RRERIBARENDA RanE
WUNETRBEZBEFE kHeRE BRKERE 70258
BERABALNAE BEAEN FENHE CHAKE

HEZEERAS BHEAL  BRer  BESE
%  HK$ million  HK$’ million
TEAL  BEER

T F#HH R 202247 H 25 H 1Y 5 & w5t # o 45
AR~ BAEFT o & DL K B E 20254
SH3TH B AW o

Revised
allocation of
Unutilised  the unutilised  Utilised Net
Net Proceeds  Net Proceeds Proceeds from  Unutilised Net
as at asat 26 July2022to Proceeds as at
25 July 2022 25 July 2022 31 March 2025 31 March 2025
R2022
R0nE 71R26H
R02% 718258 ENBE 20255
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HK$’ million  HK$ million  HKY million ~ HKS$’ million
BEBT BEBT BEAT BEBT

Strengthen media content portfolio % K B8 i 1 &+ 54.8% 1018 @2 536 783 (783) -
Expand our Brand Licensing BRAMEEER 17.5% 36 (124) 202 59 @1 18
Business
Use for co-investment in the FR SRS G R 9.5% 117 (10.7) 70 — — —
production of media content AES
Acquisition of a potential target (B — R IEH HE - - — — 44 43 0.
company to strengthen W I
the development of Brand EHRMER
Licensing Business
Relocation and renovation of ~ HtE R A B A&t # 69% 129 “9) 8.1 38 (32) 06
Hong Kong office and upgrade ~ UARA AL & AABHE
information technology R
equipment
Use for our general working RlE-hEEge 6.6% 123 (12.3) - - - -
capital
Expand media content team, brand K B AAEK - 47% 8.6 (45) 41 06 (0.6) -
licensing team, and expand s L1 T DN
workforce and enhance back- ALK R MR E
office support &
100.0% 1859 (929) 93.0 93.0 (90.5) 25

Note 1: Subsequent to the end of the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
report, the Group utilised approximately HK$0.3 million of the Net Proceeds,
comprising HK$0.3 million for upgrading information technology system.

Note 2: The planned amount of use of Net Proceeds has been adjusted in the same
proportion and same manner as stated in the Prospectus due to the difference
between the estimated net proceeds and the actual net proceeds.

Save for the aforesaid changes, there is no other change in use of Net
Proceeds.
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The Board is of the view that the change in use of the Unutilised
Net Proceeds as announced on 25 July 2022 will enable the Group
to effectively meet the financial needs of the Group and enhance the
flexibility in financial management of the Company, and is in line
with the current business needs of the Group, and therefore, is in the
best interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

The Board also confirms that there is no material change in the
principal business of the Group as set out in the Prospectus and is of
the view that the above change is in line with the business strategy of
the Group and will not adversely affect its operation and business.

The Board will continuously assess the plans for use of the Net
Proceeds, and may revise or amend such plans where necessary
to respond to the changing market conditions and strive for better
business performance of the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of our Group
during the Reporting Period and the share capital of our Company
only comprises ordinary shares. As at the date of this announcement,
our Company has 1,992,000,000 ordinary shares in issue.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARY, ASSOCIATE
AND JOINT VENTURE

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiary, associate
or joint venture during the Reporting Period.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2025, none of the assets of our Group was pledged.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2025, our Group had no material capital commitment
that was not provided for in the consolidated financial statements.
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The Board and the management of our Company are committed
to the maintenance of good corporate governance practices and
procedures.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for our Group to safeguard the
interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its
business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions as set out in the CG Code
as contained in Appendix Cl to the Listing Rules as its own code of
corporate governance. Throughout the year ended 31 March 2025 and
up to the date of this report, our Company has complied with the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code, save and except for code provision
C.2.1 in part 2 of CG Code as set out below:

Chairman and Chief Executive

Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia currently holds both positions as chairman
and chief executive officer. Throughout the business history, Ms.
Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia has been the key leadership figure of the
Group and has been primarily involved in the formulation of business
strategies and determination of the business plans. The Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) consider Ms.
Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia the best candidate for both positions and that
the present arrangements are beneficial for and in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

In order to maintain good corporate governance and fully comply
with the above code provision, our Directors will regularly review the
need to appoint different individuals to perform the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at the date of this report, the composition of the Board is as
follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia
(chairman of the Board and chief executive officer)
Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta
Mr. Ma Ching Fung

Non-executive Director
Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson, MH

Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda

Mr. Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP
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All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of
expertise, and have exhibited high standards of personal and
professional ethics and integrity. The biographical details of each
Director and the relationships between the Directors are disclosed
on pages 77 to 86 of this report. Save as disclosed above, there is no
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship(s)) between the Board members.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Board has met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

Our Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of his/her independence in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
also considers that they meet the independence criteria set out in the
Listing Rules.

Directors’ Re-election

The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) of the Company are appointed for a specific term of three
years, subject to renewal after the expiry of the then current term.

All the Directors of our Company are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meetings. Under the
Articles of Association of our Company, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. Our Company’s Articles of Association also
provides that all Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be
subject to election by shareholders at the first annual general meeting
after appointment. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-
election.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of
our Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors our Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.
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All Directors, including non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning. The independent non-executive
Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory
reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the Board for
bringing effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to relevant information
of the Group and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at our Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to our Company details of other offices
held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant operational matters of our Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of
our Company are delegated to the management.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has mechanisms in place (the “Mechanisms”) which
include processes and procedures set out in various policies, such
as the Director Nomination Policy, Board Diversity Policy and
Remuneration Policy, to ensure a strong independent element on the
Board, which allows the Board effectively exercises independent
judgment to better safeguard Shareholders’ interests, additionally,
the Nomination Committee has been established with clear terms of
reference to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

The Board also conducted internal Board evaluations to solicit
views from the Directors on the performance of the Board and the
evaluation results were satisfactory. The objectives are to improve
Board effectiveness, maximise strengths, and identify the areas
that need improvement or further development. The evaluation
process also clarifies what actions of the Company need to be taken
to maintain and improve the Board performance, for instance,
addressing individual training and development needs of each
Director.
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All Directors are entitled to seek advice from the Company Secretary
as well as from independent professional advisors at the Company’s
expenses. During the Reporting Period, the Company has reviewed
the Mechanisms established to ensure independent views and input
are available to the Board and was satisfied with the implementation
and effectiveness of such Mechanisms.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director receives a formal and comprehensive
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of
the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Such induction shall be supplemented by meetings with
senior management of our Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, all Directors have attended
training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars,
conferences and workshops and read relevant news alerts,
newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant publications.

Board Meetings

The Articles of Association state the responsibilities and operational
procedures of the Board. Pursuant to code provisions of the CG
Code, the Board will meet at least four times a year at regular
intervals to consider operational reports and financial results of our
Company and policies. Significant operational policies have to be
discussed and passed by the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, seven regular Board meetings
were held for the purposes of, among others, considering and
approving the annual results of our Group for the year ended 31
March 2024 and the interim results of our Group for the six months
ended 30 September 2024. During the Reporting Period, apart from
regular Board meetings, the chairman also held a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, our Company has held one  # £ 20254F3H31H IE4FE » AAF L A5

general meeting. — KRR KE -
The attendance record of the meetings is set out below: & w th I AL SR AN T
Attendance/
No. of Board
Meeting(s)
HERE
EEEEE LY
Executive Directors BTES
Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia (Chairman and — # /]N 3 (3 [ 36 77 B A8 #)

Chief Executive Officer) 717
Chiu Siu Fung Noletta it /)N JBL 717
Ma Ching Fung TG IFE 8% 7/7
Non-executive Director FHITES
Wong Hang Yee, JP R R4 1) 717
Independent Non-executive Directors BY EHITESE
Fung Ying Wai Wilson, MH W (RAREE) 717
Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda Y <l 717
Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP BB I (30 580 2

XF &) 717

Attendance/
No. of General
Meeting(s)
HERE
BRRAXERE™

1/1
1/1
1/1

1/1

1/1
0/1

1/1
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed our Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, our Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the Model Code and the guidelines, and our
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
corporate governance report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of our Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of our Company are established with specific written
terms of reference which deal clearly with their authorities and
duties. The terms of reference of these committees are posted on the
website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the website
of our Company at www.medialink.com.hk.

Audit Committee

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises one
non-executive Director, namely Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fung Ying Wai
Wilson, MH, Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda and Mr. Wong
Kam Pui, BBS, JP and is chaired by Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson, MH.

The terms of reference of the Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The main duties of the Committee are to assist the Board in
reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the
internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of the
independent auditor, and arrangements to enable employees of
our Company and stakeholders to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters
of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Committee held five
meetings for reviewing the interim and annual financial results and
reports and significant issues on financial reporting, operational and
compliance controls, the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems and internal audit function, appointment of
the independent auditor and their engagement in non-audit services
and relevant scope of work.
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The Committee also met the independent auditor twice, including
a private session without the presence of the executive Directors,
during the Year.

The attendance record of the meetings is set out below:
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Attendance/
Members of Audit Committee No. of meeting(s)
HERE
BERH

Fung Ying Wai Wilson, MH (Chairman of W (R AEE) =)
the Audit Committee) (HFEHZAET) 5/5
Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda P Sl 5/5
Wong Hang Yee, JP #SEN CRF 40 1) 5/5
Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP BT G A EE - KP4 +) 4/5

Nomination Committee

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises
one executive Director, namely Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia, and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Leung Chan Che
Ming Miranda and Mr. Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP, and is chaired by
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia.

The terms of reference of the Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Committee include reviewing the Board
composition, developing and formulating relevant procedures for the
nomination and appointment of Directors, making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment and succession planning of
Directors, and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Committee would take into
account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board diversity
as set out in our Company’s Board Diversity Policy. The Committee
would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the
Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria as
set out in the Director Nomination Policy that are necessary to
complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity,
where appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Committee reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and considered the
qualifications of the retiring directors standing for re-election at
the annual general meeting, reviewed the criteria and procedures
for appointment of director and senior management, evaluated the
Directors’ performance so as to assess whether they are spending
enough time in fulfilling their duties, and made recommendations to
the Board on the succession planning for Directors. The Nomination
Committee considered an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board is maintained.

The attendance record of the meeting is set out below:
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Attendance/
Members of Nomination Committee No. of meeting(s)
HERE
BERH

Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia (Chairman of M/ (12 EEE BT
the Nomination Commaittee) 11
Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda g Sl 1/1
Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP BTG BRI E & - KP4+ 1/1

A written resolution was passed in lieu of holding the Nomination
Committee meeting during the Year.

Nomination procedures and the process and criteria

In the nomination process of appointing a new director, the
Committee and/or the Board may select candidates for directorship
from various channels, including but not limited to internal
promotion, re-designation, referral by other members of the
management and external recruitment agents. The Committee and/
or the Board would, upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of
a new director and the biographical information (or relevant details)
of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria (as
set out below) to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Committee and/or the Board would rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of our Company and reference check of
each candidate if applicable. The Committee would then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election as a
Director at the general meeting of our Company, the Committee and/
or the Board would evaluate such candidate based on the criteria (as
set out below) to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship. Where appropriate, the Committee and/or the Board
would make recommendation to shareholders of our Company in
respect of the proposed election of Director at the general meeting.
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In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria would be considered: (i) character and integrity;
(ii) qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the Board
Diversity Policy that are relevant to our Company’s business and
corporate strategy; (iii) any measurable objectives adopted for
achieving diversity of the Board; (iv) requirement for the Board to
have independent Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules
and whether the candidate would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;
(v) any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board
in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence, gender
and cultural diversity; (vi) willingness and ability to devote adequate
time to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of our Company; and (vii) such other perspectives that
are appropriate to our Company’s business and succession plan and
where applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board and/
or the Nomination Committee from time to time for nomination of
directors and succession planning.

Board Diversity Policy

Our Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets
out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. Our Company
recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in maintaining our Company’s competitive advantage. Currently, the
Board has 4 female directors and 3 male directors having 57% female
on the Board. The Board considers that the current gender diversity
in the Board is satisfactory.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Committee will review
annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and where
appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement our Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the
Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing
and assessing the Board composition, the Committee is committed to
diversity at all levels and will consider a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional and
industry experience.

Our Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to our Company’s business growth and
is also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices
at all levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured
so that a diverse range of candidates are considered.

The Board has set measurable objectives to implement the Board
Diversity Policy and will review such objectives from time to time to
ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards
achieving those objectives.

A A B PSR EE R AR EEE T
G HE R : (3 A A G E R LS B
AN T SEH S A 2 TR W AH B 1 2L 2 AR
Fofg ~ ek K288 IR ESE G Lok
AT A B 2 ool R s i) S E B E &
& Z ek BT B AR A9 AT ] o] 5 B HAZ S (iv) #
HE MR i R A% ST B R e
DL K 2 BE b R B T o 8 ST R B 0 A
B NESABI AL viEEANE
¥~ FihE - B - BorE - MR R UEE
JtAb 7 TE AT 2 R g A R AT AT B H
B DA TR BT AN T EFHE
K/ o0 5 2 B B BB Y R ) % Rg
F15 B (vid) 5E AR S 7R 2T K 4 AT 5T E
SEEE N B R ERe K WL
ZH G AR E RS AT R AT e R
WS T A B B (i ) e

EEEITLBE
ARFRICRNEF & 2oL B > Hpig
Sl E R G Zouibm Ik - ARFEINIH
HEFEEGZ UL ERL > MR
55 B S T ) 22 o0 AL R A AR R R
WHMWEERK - Bl > EHGH4H L
PESE R R B E S R
57% o 4G a8 M AT E E g R £ oo
LN E -

REEEGLZOLEOR  ZEEMGFER
ol 2 A 2N~ BB S AL o AR
8 DU B0 B A B4R R R D A
AR AN - FEREH R HZ
Jefl o FEAm Rl KT Al e AL T > &
BEENRE SR Ll A% 8L
8771 ELAE EOR R PR > AFEE - S0k
LBERR - HEERK - HE -~ Rk
YSERES Y

Aoy A B TR HE R 2 ou Ak 45 05 TR 8 P
i - DABEGAS 2 ) S8 g R > Sl B0 ke
PRI & BAY & B (EEH a1 1) MK
BRCH R > KB NI MAFE -

FEHECHENABABUEGEEFG S
TRAL UK > A I A % 45 R DL R
3 e E T B B A% 4E BB O T TR Y
HE R -

2005%H BHEEERAT m



As as 31 March 2025, the gender ratio of all employees (including
Senior Management) of the Group was 34% male: 66% female.
The Company is committed to maintaining gender diversity among
employees and providing them with an equal work environment and
opportunities.

Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this report, the Committee comprises one non-
executive Director, namely Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fung Ying Wai
Wilson, MH and Mr. Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP and is chaired by Mr.
Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP.

The terms of reference of the Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The primary functions of the Committee include reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management,
the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management; and establishing transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director
or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for
reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Committee held one
meeting on remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management. The Remuneration Committee endorsed
and the Board approved the grant of Award Shares to a Director and
certain employees of the Company.

The attendance record of the meetings is set out below:

Members of Remuneration Committee

Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP (Chairman of
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Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of
the members of the senior management by band for the year ended 31
March 2025 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HK$) HFiNEE (B T)

RPE B E PR RIME SCBELLS 1R > 8
FE20254F3H3IHILFE m & 2B A B
o T A

Number of

person(s)

0 to 1,500,000
1,500,001 to 2,500,000

021,500,000

1,500,001 %22,500,000 1

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 9 and 10 to
consolidated financial statements of this report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES

TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the Group’s code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and all the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code for the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this
annual report.

The Company has also established written guidelines on terms no
less exacting than the Model Code for securities transactions by
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-
sensitive information of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound and
effective risk management and internal controls are maintained,
while the senior management is charged with the responsibility to
design and implement an internal controls system to manage risks. A
sound system of risk management and internal controls is designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

As the date of this annual report, our Company does not have an
internal audit function. Nevertheless our Company engaged an
external professional firm to carry out internal audit functions and
the Board was responsible for internal control of our Group and for
reviewing its effectiveness.
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Our Group has appointed BT Corporate Governance Limited
(“BTCGL”) to:

— assist in identifying and assessing the risks of our Group
through the use of an enterprise risk assessment questionnaire
and interviews; and

— independently perform internal control review and assess
effectiveness of our Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The results of independent review and assessment were reported to
the Audit Committee and the Board on 23 June 2025 and 26 June
2025 respectively. Based on the review results of BTCGL, the Board
and the Audit Committee are satisfied that the Group’s internal
control and risk management systems are adequate and effective.
The Board will conduct a review on the effectiveness of the internal
control and risk management systems of our Group at least once in a
financial year.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

Our Group upholds good corporate governance and requires all
employees to conduct themselves with integrity, in an ethical and
proper manner. Our Group is committed to achieving a high standard
of business conduct and has zero tolerance for any form of fraud or
bribery, and is committed to the prevention, detection and investigation
of all forms of fraud and bribery. The Anti-Corruption Policy, which
outlines our Group’s zero-tolerance stance against bribery and
corruption, assists employees in recognising circumstance which
may lead to or give the appearance of being involved in corruption or
unethical business conduct, so as to avoid such conduct which is clearly
prohibited, and to promptly seek guidance where necessary.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

Our Group is committed to a high standard of openness, probity and
accountability. In line with that commitment, our Group expects
and encourages employees and those who deal with the Group who
have concerns about any suspected misconduct or malpractice within
our Group to come forward and voice those concerns through a
confidential reporting channel. In this regard, our Group has adopted
the Whistleblowing Policy. The procedures aim to provide reporting
channels and guidance on reporting possible improprieties and
reassurance to whistleblowers of the protection that our Group will
extend to them in the formal system, including anonymity and legal
protection against unfair dismissal or victimisation for any genuine
reports made.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

Our Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to our Company’s Directors, senior management and
relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control
procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorised access
and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

REMUNERATION PAYABLE TO
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The remuneration paid to the independent auditor of the Company,
Ernst & Young, in respect of audit services and non-audit services
for the year ended 31 March 2025 amounted to HK$2,527,900 and
HK$465,100 respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ma Ching Fung is the company secretary of our Company.
His profile is set out in the “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” section of this report. Mr. Ma has duly complied with
the relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of
dividends. The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, the Board shall take
into account the following factors of the Group when considering the
declaration and payment of dividends:

o financial results;

o cash flow situation;

. business conditions and strategies;

. future operations and earnings;

. capital requirements and expenditure plans;

o interests of Shareholders;

. any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

. any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board during a
financial year. Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject
to the Shareholders’ approval.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this report,
no changes have been made to the Articles of Association. A copy of the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of our Company is posted on
the website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the website
of our Company at www.medialink.com.hk.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings
Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings by
requisitioning an extraordinary general meeting. Pursuant to Article
64 of the Company’s Articles of Association, any one or more
shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the
right, by written requisition and send to the Board or the company
secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by our
Company.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles of Associations, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the
Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of director
at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to
propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing
by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged
at our Company. The period of the lodgement of the notices will
commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of
the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than
7 days prior to the date of such general meeting and the minimum
length of the period during which such notices to our Company may
be given will be at least 7 days.

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person (the “Candidate”) for
election as a director of our Company at the general meeting, he/
she shall deposit a written notice (the “Notice”) with our Company
Secretary. The Notice (i) must include the personal information of
the Candidate as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and
(ii) must be signed by the shareholder concerned and signed by the
Candidate indicating his/her willingness to be elected and consent to
the publication of his/her personal information.
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The period for lodgement of the Notice shall commence on the
day after the despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for
such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such
meeting. In order to allow our Company’s shareholders to have
sufficient time to consider the proposal of election of the Candidate
as a director of our Company, shareholders who wish to make
the proposal are urged to submit and lodge the Notice as early as
practicable before the relevant general meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of our Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. Our
Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the following:

Address: Suites 1801-6, 18/F, Tower 2

The Gateway, Harbour City

25 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon, Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Company Secretary)
(852) 2508 9767
investor_enquiries@medialink.com.hk

Fax:
Email:

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement,
or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address, apart from
the registered office of our Company, and provide their full name,
contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Our Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
Our Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, Directors (or
their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet shareholders and
answer their enquiries.

Policies relating to Shareholders

Our Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy
to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its
effectiveness.
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According to the Shareholders’ Communication Policy, the Company
currently has different platforms and channels (including general
meetings, website, email, and telephone of the Company) allowing
the shareholders of the Company to access the latest information,
make inquiries, or express their opinions from time to time. During
the year ended 31 March 2025, after being reviewed by the Board,
it was unanimously approved and confirmed that the current
Shareholders’ Communication Policy has established different
platforms and channels for shareholders to express their opinions
and obtain the latest information of the Company. It is unanimously
believed that the Shareholders’ Communication Policy has been
effectively implemented and can continue to be used.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN
RESPECT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of our Company for the year ended
31 March 2025.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon our
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of our Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 113 to 119 of
this report.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Medialink Group Limited
(the “Company”) is pleased to present the fifth Environmental,
Social and Governance (hereinafter called “ESG”) Report (the
“ESG Report”) of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively as
the “Group” or “we”). The ESG Report summarizes the policies,
sustainability strategies, management approach, initiatives and
performance made by the Group in the environmental and social
aspects of its business. For the disclosure on corporate governance,
please refer to the section on Corporate Governance Report.

The Group has responsibility to maximize shareholder returns, and
this is aligned with the objective to provide clients with the best
service and platforms. This is achieved not only through the Group
having financial strength but also through investing in its employees
and wider social practices.

OBJECTIVES OF THE REPORT

This ESG Report aims to provide the performance of the Group in
respect of the ESG aspects in a transparent and open manner over the
past year, so that the stakeholders can understand the progress and
direction of the sustainable development of the Group.

REPORTING SCOPE

This report covers the period from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025
(the “Reporting Period” or the “Year”), which is in conformity with
the Group’s financial year. This report focuses on the Group’s
management approach, performance and measures in respect of the
ESG aspects. In particular, the environmental and social KPIs
disclosed in this report cover its overall scope of businesses in the
media content distribution and brand licensing.

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

The Group has been engaged in managing intellectual property rights
on media content and brand licensing for over 30 years. Under the
media content distribution business, the Group invests and cooperates
closely with media content licensors through entering content
production and distribution arrangements and distributes media
content relating to animation series, variety shows, drama series and
animated and live-action feature films. Under the brand licensing
business, the Group is involved in the licensing of various rights in
relation to brands owned by brand licensors including merchandising
right; location-based entertainment rights; and promotion rights in
the Asia Pacific region.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
requirements set out in the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” contained in Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). The disclosure in this
report complies with the disclosure requirements of the “comply or
explain” as set out in the Guide. This report was reviewed,
confirmed and approved by the Board on 26 June 2025. During the
process of preparation of this report, we summarized the Group’s
performance in corporate and social responsibilities based on the
principles of “Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and Consistency”.
Please refer to the table below for our understanding and response to
such reporting principles.

Reporting

Principles Implications

HERA o8

If the directors decided that the threshold

at which ESG issues become sufficiently
important to investors and other stakeholders,
they should be reported by the issuer.

firl % 2 58 M IR BT - AL & KB A BB B E
P& H M H A H R AP
JE P B AT A o

Materiality
HEM

¥ & IR Al

AT~ AL KE R IR IR A
ZTHARAF ((EBBR)EH LT
B Bk 2P i 2 CBR B - AL & M IA
HIREID I 2 BLE R R o AN
FoR SRR N AN S AN
HLE o ARETIRN20254E6H26 H 58 #E 6
W~ WERR AEUE o AR I 1 A R
s FRAM P R E g R T & —
M IR R > AL AS AL B AE AL g
FAT 5 T R B o G B FRAM B A% S O R
I B AN B E > S S B R -

Our Responses

EMHHDEE

The Group believes ESG report exerts
significant influence on the investors and
stakeholders. We disclosed the process

of identifying important ESG factors in

the report, including the identification of
stakeholders, and the use of the importance
matrix for the assessment of material issues.
Based on the communication mechanism with
stakeholders and the principle of materiality,
we identified important ESG-related factors,
focused on them, and disclosed corresponding
measures in the report.

LML BYE - thw KA AR B
BE R AR 0 R A OB - RAMTE
ot P 4 9 IR AL g R
RAV@AR - G0 & > DR E
TN R AT Al B O B o AR R SR 1 Y
T 2 A D B R TR o R A B R
B~ Ak SR iR A BR Y EE R ARSI R
T o Sl 7E R B R A o
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES (Continued)

R E R A )

Reporting
Principles Implications Our Responses
&R g e EMAvE &
Quantitative The disclosure of KPIs needs to be This report made quantitative disclosure
w1k measurable. The data of standards, methods about KPIs, and reported the standards,
and assumptions or calculation on emissions methods, assumptions or data for calculation
and energy consumption, as well as of emissions and energy consumption, as well
standards for reporting emissions and energy  as the conversion factors used and, where
consumption as well as conversion factors appropriate, effective comparisons.
hall iscl . N N U
used shall be disclosed A 2 S R A B A R -
PO BURCE IR I W R E AT R o WS PEACR BB IR FERT F A BR M - ik -
PR RE VRS FE R BEE O ARG R RS B R o DL R B g T R (i
SR BE o DU PR ORI BE RN FERO S EE H) A H L
e K i A g IR T 2 T DA R -
Balance The ESG report should provide an unbiased This report discussed our achievements and
- iy picture of the issuer’s performance. The challenges in sustainability.
houl id selecti issi Sy o
report S (.)u d avoid se eCtlonS,.OmlsslonS., or 2': i&% ﬁﬂ_ ﬁﬁ% ?‘21’35 E ﬂ- j"g‘f,»@ %é%jj‘ E E‘Jﬁﬁ E’J[.
presentation formats that may inappropriately 1k B o
influence a decision or judgment by the report
readers.
BREE - Ak & R VA Ol B IE M AR B AT
N B R BL o ik E 4t 7T BE & AN 83
R A D SO B R R IR
2R -
Consistency The issuer should use consistent This report adopted, as much as practicable,
—ErE methodologies to allow for meaningful consistent methodologies and provided
comparisons of ESG data over time. explanation on any differences in the methods
P ; . , f ion f h in the 1
BE 4T R Fl— A0 77 - DL W B oe:romputatlon rom these adopted in the last
IR g R RO T ke T
o A 2l AT B PR — Bor O ik o 3 R B
AR R A 07 3R AE w7 5 7 T AT A 25
B

SOURCE OF INFORMATION

The information disclosed in this report is derived from the Group’s
formal documents, statistics or public information. The Board is
responsible for the truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of its

contents.
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WAY OF PUBLICATION AND FEEDBACK

This report is prepared in both English and Chinese and is available
for viewing and downloading from the Company’s website
(www.medialink.com.hk) and the Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkexnews.hk). In the event of discrepancies between the
English and Chinese versions, the English version shall prevail.

The Group is open to and values all advice and suggestions received,
in order to uphold the common interests of the Group and all
stakeholders. We welcome stakeholders to send such advice and
suggestions to the Group’s email: info@medialink.com.hk.

BOARD STATEMENT

This report demonstrates the Group’s ongoing achievements and
commitments to enhancing its sustainability performance in areas
including employment and labour practices, environmental
protection, business operations, supply chain management, and
corporate governance.

The Board acknowledged the responsibility for monitoring and
managing ESG-related risks and the effectiveness of the ESG
management system. The Board reviews and discusses the goals and
targets under the ESG initiatives to optimise efficient use of
resources and to minimise the impact on the environment and natural
resources from the Group’s operation annually.

Sustainable development is an integral part of the Group’s business
strategy in order to achieve business excellence and enhance
capabilities for long-term competitiveness. The Group is committed
to operating in a manner that is economically, socially and
environmentally sustainable while balancing the interests of various
stakeholders and fostering a positive impact on society. The Group’s
sustainability strategy is based on compliance with the applicable
legal requirements, sustainability principle and stakeholders’
opinions. The Group has established and implemented various
policies to manage and monitor the risks related to the environment,
employment, operating practices and community.

The Board believes that a sound environmental, social and
governance structure is vital for the continued sustainability and
development of the Group’s activities. The Group is willing to take
more responsibilities for the society but with a view to balancing the
Shareholders’ interests and the society’s benefits. The Group will
continue to strengthen the efforts in information collection for better
performance in the ESG areas and broader disclosure of related
information in sustainable development.

m MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2025 Annual Report
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ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group conducts a top-down management approach regarding its
ESG issues and has developed a core governance framework to
ensure the alignment of ESG governance with its strategic growth.
The structure of ESG governance is divided into two components,
namely the Board and ESG Team. The Board holds the overall
responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategies and reporting as well as
overseeing and managing the ESG issues. The Board discusses and
reviews the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities, strategies,
priorities of the Group’s material ESG issues, goals and targets,
performance and progress made against ESG goals and targets
regularly with the assistance of the ESG Team. The Board also
examines and ensures the effectiveness of Group’s risk management
and internal controls through an annual assessment, and the
precision and accuracy of the information disclosed in the ESG
reports.

To develop systematic management of the ESG issues, the Group has
established the ESG Team which comprises staff from relevant
divisions of the Group. The ESG Team is sub-divided into ESG Core
Team and ESG Working Team. The ESG Core Team include Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Head of Human
Resources & Administration, and all division heads. The ESG Core
Team is responsible for assisting the Board in implementing ESG
policy and continuous monitoring its implementation, while each
division head is a sub-team leader to lead its ESG Working Team to
execute the Group’s ESG activities.

The ESG Team is responsible for collecting relevant information on
the ESG aspects for the preparation of the ESG reports, and
identifying and prioritising the Group’s ESG issues. It periodically
reports to the Board, assists in assessing and identifying the Group’s
ESG risk and opportunities, and evaluates the implementation and
effectiveness of the Group’s ESG risk management and internal
control system. It also examines and reviews the Group’s ESG
performance, policies, goals and targets, covering environmental,
labour practices, business operations, supply chain management and
other ESG aspects.
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ESG PHILOSOPHY OF THE GROUP

ESG is not a slogan but a responsibility for everyone in the Group.
Townhall meetings were conducted to communicate the importance
and the Group’s ESG management approach, strategies and policies.
Tailored for the Group’s business, 5Cs (Creativity, Content,
Character, Care and Contribution) were adopted to drive the Group’s
commitment to good ESG practices in addition to adoption of green
office wherever we operate.

REATIVITY
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CARE CHARACTER

b, S

As part of the Group’s vision, we actively participated in supporting
and offering entertainment to the less privileged community that
we Cared by integrating their well-being into our daily business
operations. We celebrated our fifth listing anniversary by working
with Dignity Kitchen, a social enterprise that provides training in
catering for people with different abilities and provided free lunch
boxes to those in need in June 2024. In a collaboration with Youth
Square, a youth development initiative by the Home and Youth
Affairs Bureau, we are proud to contribute to our ESG goals by
participating in the “YS School Cultural Festival 2024 — Ani-Com
Fantasy 2024”7, fostering cultural engagement and community
connection among young audiences through the vibrant world of
Anime Content. By showcasing two of our anime films during
the festival, namely “Haikyu!! The Movie — The Talent and the
Sense” and “Haikyu!! The Movie — The Battle of Concepts”, these
screenings not only enriched the youth’s appreciation of anime
culture but also inspired them to embrace challenges with resilience,
perseverance and determination in their personal growth via the story
of Haikyu!!. This year, we participated in the Charity Flag Day event,
organized by the Hong Kong Cat and Dog Association, featured
with emoji brand on February 5, 2025. We embrace Creativity in
emoji theme by applying it to flag stickers, capturing the spirit of
fun and engagement. The activity aimed to raise vital funds for the
Cat and Dog Rescue Centre, providing essential care and support to
homeless cats and dogs in Hong Kong. Besides, in our commitment
to social, environmental and governance principles, we actively
leverage Character to engage in community-driven initiatives. Our
Group supported the Oxfam Rice Event 2024 featured with The

m MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2025 Annual Report
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Little Prince to sell Oxfam rice bags and eco-friendly bags in Hong
Kong to support impoverished smallholder farmers with impacts of
extreme weather on their livelihoods. By integrating the characters
into these campaigns, we successfully inspired positive change within
the community, emphasizing our dedication to making a meaningful
impact. Through these efforts, we did not only nurture the character
identity but also foster a culture of kindness and community
engagement, raising awareness and promoting social responsibility.
We also Contributed to Caritas Hong Kong and have been awarded
Good MPF Employer since 2018. In addition, we participated in the
Caritas Hong Kong Charity Walk event, titled [ 91§ — 202507 %
Z % 4471, on March 29, 2025. We formed a dedicated team, joined
the 5 km charity walk in Hong Kong. This event aimed to raise funds
to support the underprivileged in Hong Kong, focusing on essential
social work services. Funds raised would be contributed to family
and elderly services, community development and medical assistance
for those in need. By participating in this charitable initiative, our
Group demonstrates its commitment to social responsibility and
community welfare.

In order to determine the ESG reporting scopes, the key management
personnel have discussed internally and identified the environmental,
social and operating items; and assessed their importance to the
stakeholders and the Group. The summary of material ESG items are
listed out in this Report.

STAKEHOLDERS’ ENGAGEMENT

The Group is committed to maintaining the sustainable development
of its business and the environmental protection of the communities
in which it operates. We maintain regular communication channels
with our stakeholders, including government/regulatory bodies,
shareholders/investors, employees, customers, suppliers, community,
etc. and strive to balance their opinions and interests through
constructive communications in order to determine the directions
of its sustainable development. We assess and determine our
environmental, social and governance risks, and ensure that the
relevant risk management measures and internal control systems are
operating effectively. The following table shows the management
response to the stakeholders’ expectations and concerns:

Major Communication
Channels

IRRERE

Stakeholder Expectation and Concern

whE

Government/ > Filing of tax returns > Compliance with laws
regulatory bodies B RE RS and regulations
B/ GER R Bk
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Management Response

EEEDE

Pay tax on time; observe and comply with laws and
regulations

Establish comprehensive and effective internal control
system

B R A A R
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STAKEHOLDERS’ ENGAGEMENT (Continued)

Stakeholder

Major Communication
Channels

Expectation and Concern

FOES R

Management Response

BhE IERERE HEHEX EEELDE
Shareholders/ Press release, Corporate Profitability Ensure satisfactory financial performance, business growth
investors Announcements and R and a strong competitive position within the industry
3 wo NG\ AT i
i Ret o ment Set up comprehensive business strategic plan for achieving
Annual and Interim eg{rn omimvestmen business goals and objectives
Rpots RERH B R E U LR ERA
R R Corporate governance Ensure transparent and efficient communications by
Annual General system . dispatching information at the websites of HKEX and the
Meetings AAERHE Company
BRBERE Information disclosure S PR YNSE i S o S A il
and transparency RAEMEE
{5 54 5 LA W
Employees Trainings and team Compensation and Ensure fair, reasonable and competitive remuneration scheme
E& building activities welfare BRAT  ARMESETHNEMEZ
S B R R s B FramEm Ensure a safe working environment
Business meetings and Health and safety BETANTIERE
brlefmg? A% 2 Encourage employees to participate in continuous education
i & R Career development and and professional trainings to enhance competency
Performance appraisals training opportunities GEEESAEEHEREERE SRS
Bt fh BERRAAIRE
Customers Phone calls High quality products Provide high quality products and services continuously in
ZFi Bt and services order to maintain customer satisfaction
Mesings and B R R AR IR R RIRFRE R
correspondences Reasonable price Provide a variety of value-added products and services
i jE [Ets 5 PR R0 A RS
Timely delivery Establish after-sales services to satisfy customers’ needs
REX& B ERRELEEEFFK
Suppliers Phone calls Integrity Select suppliers with due care
fft e 7 &b il B o R 1
Meetings and Corporate reputation Establish policy and procedures in supply chain management
correspondences PERE A R
LELSE Good relationship with Maintain strong and long-term relationship
the Conpary RIEREEN A EHE
L0 ) R 1 11 B
Communities Charitable and Social responsibility Focus on community investment and contribution
i volunteering activities HeHLR HEdRBEnER
EERERAED Environmental Encourage employees to actively participate in charitable
Community interactions protection activities and voluntary services
HEEH R Rk SRR S BEE R B RE BT
Corporate reputation Maintain good and stable financial performance and business
AL growth

HERRIFRM B X AR B R
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT AND
MATRIX

During the Reporting Period, the Group has evaluated a number
of environmental, social and operating items, and assessed their
importance to stakeholders and the Group through various channels.
This assessment helps to ensure that the Group’s business objectives
and development direction are in line with the stakeholders’
expectations and requirements. The Group’s and stakeholders’
matters of concern are presented in the following materiality matrix:

EEMTFERER

TR A AR AR B AR 2 TH R 3 R
B~ A RoE E AT B SR > I A R R [R
TR Al 5 A B AR A5 R H 9 E A
R BE > DA BT A A7 Bl A 42 1 e R 6 5 Bt
REAT A& 45 10 2 10 309 5 B BE5K o 7 AS 4 [ A
R 03 3 Bt B0 9 5 Y B2 8RS DT Y B 22
P B A

Materiality Matrix

EEMEE
@ Anti-discrimination @ Staff compensation > Customers’
measures and welfare satisfaction
S BT B AR A E-9aR( D=V S
= @ Labour rights @ Occupational health > Product and service
20 iE protection and safety quality
= (i B 52 2 e B IR
@ Staff training and > Anti-corruption
promotion opportunity | E=ei
B TR S T
&
]
% # < Greenhouse gas < Use of resources > Customers’ data
E i emissions IR A privacy measures and
S £ 2 SRS PR @ Talent management protection
R Za A5 PRt % =
2 & § > Community FLEE 5 it
£ i contribution > Suppliers
E =W Vam i management
g R
=
<> Exhaust air emission <> Water resources > Operational
JBE SRR utilization compliance
<> Sewage discharge KR BEAH
2w JBE K PRk # Preventive measures
= T % Generation of non- for child and forced
hazardous wastes labor
I % ) D ik L L R 58 i 55 L
O/
Low Medium High
& ® =)
Importance to the Group
HEKEEHEENY
<> Environmental ¢ Employee > Operation
By 77 i 877 1 BT T
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KEY ESG PERFORMANCE TARGET

In order to fulfil the latest requirements listed in the Appendix C2
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Code of the Listing
Rules, address investors’ increasing expectations on public disclosure
of environmental performance and targets, as well as taking into
account the Group’s expansion with enhancement of the Group’s
ESG performance, we have established ESG related targets for the
Reporting Period. Referencing the results of historical data analysis
and internal operational review, the following targets have been set
with the result how the Group did in the Reporting Period:

Emissions
(1) Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”)
Emissions:

Scope 1 — the Group’s
business direct GHG
emissions, including
combustion of gasoline.

Scope 2 — the Group’s
business indirect GHG
emissions, including
consumption of purchased
electricity.

(2) Air emissions:
Nitrogen oxides
Sulfur oxides
Particulate matters

Use of Resources
(3) Electricity:

4) Gasoline:

(5) Water Resources:

(6) Paper:

Development and training

(7) Percentage of employees who
took part in training:

Community Investment

(8) No of volunteering events for
communities:

=

Lo TAE R T

TERR HEREBRRE

SR TR R M B C2CBR B - AL | A
R SN DA RN ROES & T SR P i
A 0N B B R BR 0 R BURN H AR H 45 3
W EE DL 25 B B A 4 T e M AR 4R
MRS b ERRBET B2
TR 5 0 A E B ER B - AR B AR A B
WY EE o 227 iR S SIC0R 40 A A0 R0 0 4 4 [l
FELEQ A SR A B T i 309 7R o Y A

2 0 20 Ay
| SoowE

H

g dlm SN
B

N
b
S

i

R R IE
S2RZINEETIL:

e
o 58

#* &
Ed ]

S
>

BRE:

o

Tonnes M

Tonnes M

Tonnes M
Tonnes M§
Tonnes MA
MWh JE L K§
Liters A F+
Tonnes MA

Tonnes Mf

% Ho L

Event 7§ #)

Actual
BB

Target

BE

2024/25
2024/25F

2024/25
2024/25F

1.53 3.80
60.73 62.55
0.08 1.34
0.04 0.04
0.01 0.10
132.47 134.54
664.18 1,580.00
364.48 249.48
0.49 0.62
71% 80%

5 5
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KEY ESG PERFORMANCE TARGET (continued

Out of the 8 targets, the Group has achieved 6 targets. We will
continue to monitor and track our performance in the areas of
resource consumption and development and training for employees
against these targets. To strive for improvement in environmental
performance, longer-term reduction targets will be formulated and
disclosed at an appropriate time going forward.

OVERALL ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION MANAGEMENT APPROACH

The Group recognises the importance of good environmental
management and is committed to protecting and conserving the
environment and natural resources. We strive to continuously
improve our environmental performance for the management
philosophy of sustainable development. In response to the global
environmental protection trends, the Group implements the
environmental protection policies to promote energy conservation,
reduce emission with pollutants and to mitigate environmental risks,
including compliance with the applicable local laws and regulations,
ensuring efficient use of energy, water and other resources during
operations, raising staff’s awareness in environmental protection,
and management monitoring of the implementation of environmental
policies.

A1l — Emissions

The Group recognises the close link between energy consumption
and greenhouse gas emissions and undertakes various energy saving
measures (refer to the “A2 — Use of Resources” section below for
details) to control energy consumption, improve energy efficiency
and minimize greenhouse gas emissions. Waste management mainly
involves disposal of domestic garbage and collection of waste paper
for recycling (refer to the “A2 — Use of Resources” section below
for details). The Group’s businesses do not generate any hazardous
wastes.
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OVERALL ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION MANAGEMENT APPROACH
(Continued)

A2 — Use of Resources

The Group carefully manages the
use of resources and is committed to
ensuring that all resources are used in
an efficient and prudent manner. We
continually seek to identify and reduce
environmental impacts attributable
to our operational activities, strive to
increase our employees’ awareness
of resources conservation. Our
employees are encouraged to make
full and effective use of resources, and
to avoid wastage.

(a) FEnergy Conservation

The Group consumes electricity mainly in its offices. We have
implemented a number of measures to save electricity and to improve
the energy efficiency of electrical appliances, and to encourage
employees to cultivate good habits in using electrical appliances. For
example, promoting the use of energy-efficient lighting; encouraging
our employees to switch off air conditioners, computers, personal
electronic devices, light and common office equipment when not in
use; and keeping all electronic appliances well-maintained to ensure
electricity is used effectively. In addition, we upgraded our electrical
equipment with the support from China Light & Power.

BREREEEZERB T #w

A2 —EBRFEH

A 4E [ 5P A LG PR
o MBI R T S
AT 2 A 80 K & E WA
Fi o FRAM R 4 ek s D
A8 15 B B IR BT T 9
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OVERALL ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION MANAGEMENT APPROACH

(Continued)

A2 — Use of Resources (continued)

(a) Energy Conservation (Continued)

We also supported World Wildlife Fund’s “Earth Hour 2025 by
having all staff switched off all computers, printers, desk lights and
photocopiers before leaving the office on Saturday, 22 March 2025;
and encouraging them to reduce use of lighting, air conditioners,
heaters, TVs and electrical appliances at home between 8:30pm
and 9:30pm on Saturday, 22 March 2025. However, this is not just
a one-off event. All staff are required to switch off lights in the
conference and meeting rooms after use and lights in the office
during lunch hours.

During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed 132.5 megawatt
hours (“MWh”) as compared to 119.6 MWh last year. The increase
was a result of the increase in manpower, office space and business
activities.

Gasoline is only used in the Group’s vehicles. We carry out regular
repairs and maintenance on vehicles for better energy use efficiency.
During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed approximately
664.2 liters of gasoline as compared to 1,447.1 liters of gasoline last
year. The decrease was a result of replacing a fuel-powered car with
an electric vehicle this year to promote environmental sustainability.

(b) Water Conservation

As the Group’s business nature and operations are mainly based in
Hong Kong, the issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose is not
relevant to the Group. The Group uses water mainly in its pantries
and common restrooms. We have educated our employees to save
water in daily life so as to reduce wastage. During the Reporting
Period, the Group consumed approximately 364.5 tonnes of water
as compared to 226.8 tonnes of water last year. The rise in water
consumption was due to increased water consumption in an overseas
office. As some tenants on the same floor moved out, and our office
relocated a larger to space, the remaining tenants needed to share the
increased water usage.

(¢) Paper Conservation

The Group promotes the “green office” policy by encouraging our
staff to save paper and avoid wastage. We distribute information and
most documents in electronic format to minimize photocopying and
printing. We also encourage our staff to print on both sides of each
paper and to reuse single-sided used paper. We then collect double-
sided wastepaper by putting them into collection boxes for the further
handling by recycling companies. During the Reporting Period, the
Group consumed approximately 0.49 tonnes of paper as compared to
0.45 tonnes of paper last year. The increase as compared to that of
last year was mainly due to the business expansion which increased
sales and administrative work from carrying and other supportive
functions.
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OVERALL ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION MANAGEMENT APPROACH

(Continued)

A2 — Use of Resources (continued)

(¢) Paper Conservation (Conzinued)

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, there was no non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.

A3 — The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group has always been focusing on environmental protection
and envisions that everyone can work together to build a better
environment for living. In order to enhance our employees’
understanding of the adverse impact of our habit and business
activities on the environment, we continue to adopt various policies,
measures, and actions in reducing carbon footprint (refer to the
sections “Al — Emissions” and “A2 — Use of Resources” above for
details). We also encourage our employees to convey the importance
of protecting the environment to their families, friends and business
partners so as to build a stronger network in alleviating climate
change due to human factors.

BREREEEZERB T #w

A2 — BRE A

(c) BiZI &)

B M

TR WA 5 Sl M R 2 SRR UL AR R
R~ PECE K S B b - E I E Y
FE R B A A SR O ORI
REMEMS -

AB—BRERXARER

AEFNREHELE#ERAR  HEEAN
AR GFERREE - BT EAREED
& B 50 BE R A A8 B TR 8 s 2
T B B R T A R B R 2 RN R B
i A TR - fE MR ATE) o WDk 2
Wi (GEAME B RS 2 % SCTAL — PRy | B
[A2 — &R A 4) o A I8 & g &
HEEREREESTFEBNRAN Wk - 25
WAL BB EZ NN ELFAEE AL
IR 2 #E B SR 58 AL 1Y) 52 28 o

2005%H BHEEERAT m



OVERALL ENVIRONMENTAL

PROTECTION MANAGEMENT APPROACH
(Continued)
A4 — Climate Change

In recent years, climate change has become a widespread concern
around the world. Therefore, we recognise the need to identify,
understand and manage the physical and transition risks of climate
change on our operations. To enhance our sustainability disclosures
for the investor community and allow informed decision-making,
we are in the process of referencing the Task Force on Climate-
related Financial Disclosure (“TCFD”) framework to identify
climate-related risks and opportunities and develop appropriate risk
management approaches. We have analysed the following potential
impact of climate risks and measures adopted in response to these

BEREEECERB T #w

Ad — RIFEAL

risks and opportunities according to the framework set out by TCFD:

Risk
Categories

N b

Physical
-1

Risks/
Opportunities
Ak a8

Acute
YL

Chronic

Bt

Specific description

LY opd

Physical operating units of the Group

and customers may face property losses
or operation interruption due to extreme
weather events such as typhoons, floods
and storms.

S5 T R
JA K B T S KSR 1 T
MERKIEES -

The Group and the customers may see
their normal production and operation
interfered with due to such chronic
climate disasters such as temperature rise
and sea level rise.

AR REFHIEREE RS ETER
Rl E TR LR R
%2 T4 -

Potential
financial impact

BENHYE

Decreased operating
income

BERARD

Increased operating
cost

BERA M

Casualties and
property loss

B R %

AT o SR S A B A A BROBZ BRI 19 R
B o I FAMRMA T 2 B &
B SRAG B A SBr FRAM S 2 AR T R LB
Tt 08 JRL g o % Tim o A ) B0 A A I 1)
T AV 5 R NI A R PR SR FRAM IEAE
2 75 S A A B W 5 A B 9 8% ([TCFD)) AiE
B DA 5 SR A B B B v g o Sl
o i JE g 7 B o R AM 2 AR 8 TCFD il
TERYHEZE > 0 Ay LA SR Sl gt B T A
LA K2 I8 SEF 5% 45 Ja B B A% T R B £ it

i

Mitigating measures

RRER

+  Establish a climate change management
mechanism, which is supervised by the
Board of Directors and implemented by
relevant functional departments;

o BUMEFOEE - SMEREDM
3R AIA 8t TR

¢ Climate-related risks and opportunities
are taken into consideration when
refining the Group’s business strategy
and sustainability vision;

o SEEARGMM TR R B R
TR B ROR AR R B R

*  Identify climate-related risks and
opportunities associated with the Group’s
operations;

ol B A I A R R
[V 3-F

+ Continuously formulate contingency
plans to deal with typhoons, floods,
storms and other extreme weather
conditions.

o REIHE BB Bk B R
B KSR DB
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OVERALL ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION MANAGEMENT APPROACH

(Continued)

A4 — Climate Change (continued)

Risk
Categories

ARER

Transitional

ihie

Risks/
Opportunities
AR/#f

Physical and Legal
risks

H Rk e B

Reputational risks

BRAR

Market risks
il 57 L B

Specific description

ARfER

As climate-related policies come out
successively, the Group and customers
may face defaults, penalties, lawsuits

and other loss-caused events due to their
failure to meet policy and regulatory
requirements.
WEEREMBBORAR A AER R
% AT RE R R R 6 BOR B B KT
iﬁé%*ﬁ%‘%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ&@

Climate-related issues are drawing more
public attention. The Group and the
customers see their reputation at risk if
their climate change responses do not
meet the expectations of stakeholders.
R B o A 3 2 B KRR < M
Ov e B A M R 2 ) B R R
gﬂﬁﬁﬁ%é’%%ﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁ

As stakeholders pay more attention

to climate change issues, the Group

and customers may face market risks

due to their failure to meet consumer
expectations.
WERBEMEREQRZ A0 EH
T ARG R A R R
Y O R
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Potential
financial impact

BEMHEYE

* Decreased operating
income

« BEWABYD

¢ Increased customer
credit risk

o ERGERREREN

Mitigating measures

RRER

¢ Establish a climate change management
mechanism, which is supervised by the
Board of Directors and implemented by
relevant functional departments;

o BUmEHRGEHE K E B AT
RIQUENS dlAsil LR

*  Climate-related risks and opportunities
are taken into consideration when
refining the Group’s business strategy
and sustainability vision;

o TR BRI R AR
AN VEUT) VY 3 F

¢ Identify climate-related risks and
opportunities associated with the Group’s
operations;

o A B A R R R
REKE

¢ Continuously formulate contingency
plans to deal with typhoons, floods,
storms and other extreme weather
conditions.

o fREIE BRI K E R R
fl K S56  11 o

Although our business operations generate limited GHG, we
understand that the issue of climate change could only be sufficiently
addressed with wide participation from each entity and individual.
Thus, the Group will continue to implement environmental-friendly
policies and educate our employees to further lowering energy
consumption in order to minimise the effects of climate change.
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OVERALL APPROACH TO EMPLOYMENT
AND LABOUR PRACTICES

Employees are our most valuable assets and key driver for the
Group’s sustainable and long-term business development. We are
committed to create a discrimination-free, equal, harmonious
and safe workplace; to build relationships with mutual-respect; to
encourage our employees to be innovative, flexible and committed
when dealing with our customers and to provide high quality
products and services. We also offer promotion opportunities to
attract, develop, retain and reward our talented staff and provide
commensurate remuneration and benefits.

Total number and types of employees
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total of 181 employees, details
of which are as follows:

BREREIER BB L

AL —-HOUEB B RE RN EE > B0
AT R AR = 5 S 5 R R 3 B SRR
M BT IR B ~ -5~ MG R % A
M TAEBRSE S A LA E AT - B A T
RAFRBR 2 B AR > SoBh g SRR - i
ANE AR R G - 5 A %5 B 3B R A
5 B 08 i o FRAM IR A A R R AE IR )
ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ki;%ﬁﬁ%%%m
S48 A -

EEAEEEHR
202543 H31H > AREEAE B NH 181
AN EEFEEWF:

As at
31 March 2025
20255 3A831H
Workforce Total person 181
B& By
By Gender
BB 2 e
Female person 120
ik
Male person 61
T
By Agﬁ Group
< 25 person 15
26-30 person 35
31-40 person 83
41-50 person 32
> 50 person 16
By Geographical Region
B it E 2
Hong Kong person 96
i
Mainland China person 38
Hh B A i
Other Regions! person 47
At 1l
By Employment Type
ﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁ
Full time person 177
Part time person 4
ek

! Including Taiwan, Singapore, and Indonesia
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OVERALL APPROACH TO EMPLOYMENT

AND LABOUR PRACTICES (Continued)

Employee turnover rate

Details of the Group’s employee turnover rate as at 31 March 2025

are as follows:

BREERSIER 2BET & w

BERKHE
AL 20254331 H 1R B 2 H &5
THEWTF :

As at
31 March 2025
R202553H31H
Turnover Rate Total % 17
ME=E BEDH
By Gender
R B2 M
Female % 20
o
Male % 11
PR
By Age Group
RER DM
<25 % 20
26-30 % 26
31-40 % 17
41-50 % 13
> 50 % 6
By Geographical Region
RWE D
Hong Kong % 23
ERE
Mainland China % 18
rh ] A
Other Regions! % 4
At [ 1

' Including Taiwan, Singapore, and Indonesia
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OVERALL APPROACH TO EMPLOYMENT
AND LABOUR PRACTICES (Continued)

B1 — Employment and Labour Practices

(a) Compensation and Welfare

The Group reviews the salary levels of employees regularly and
benchmarks against up-to-date remuneration data in the industry,
so as to establish a fair, reasonable and competitive remuneration
scheme. Staff salary levels are decided based on one’s knowledge,
skills, scope of work, performance, experience and education
background. Our employee remuneration package includes fixed
salary, annual leave, paid sick leave, discretionary year-end bonus
and other benefits. We conduct periodic performance appraisal and
fairly assess the level of the discretionary bonus, salaries increment
and/or promotion recommendations based on a number of criteria.
All employees are entitled to rest days and holidays, for example,
annual leaves, sick leaves, maternity leaves, paternity leaves,
compassionate leaves and marriage leaves. We handle dismissal and
compensation in accordance with the local laws and regulations.
We pay attention to our employees’ health and encourage work-life
balance. Our employees’ working hours are based on the local labour
laws. We may require employees to report to work on weekends or
public holidays but they will be entitled to extra time allowances or
compensation time-off accordingly. The Group HR submits MPF
contributions on time, and the consistent good effort was recognised
by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority with the Good
MPF Employer Award, e-Contribution Award and MPF Support
Award in October 2023.

On 6 February 2020, the Board adopted the Share Award Scheme
which aims to reward our employees (and other eligible persons) for
their past, present or expected contribution and loyalty to the Group
and align their interests with those of the shareholders through the
grant of award.

(b) Talent Selection

The Group adopts a fair employment policy. The appropriate
candidates would be selected based on their experiences, knowledge
and abilities, and other job requirements, and regardless of their
race, gender, age, nationality, or religion. This employment policy
applies throughout all phases of the employment, including but
not limited to hiring, promotion, performance appraisal, training,
personal development and termination. We have a gender diversified
workforce with employee gender ratio of 1 male to 2 females and our
Board has a gender ratio of 3 males to 4 females as at 31 March 2025.
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OVERALL APPROACH TO EMPLOYMENT
AND LABOUR PRACTICES (Continued)
B2 — Health and Safety

We recognise the importance of our employees’ health and safety at
work, therefore we strictly implement office environment sanitation
and fire safety management to prevent occupational hazards which
might lead to staff injury. Smoking in the office areas is absolutely
prohibited. We have clear evacuation procedures in case of fire
outbreak in offices to ensure that our employees are able to take
sensible and immediate action. In the past five years including the
Reporting Period, there was no work-related fatalities occurrence.
During the Reporting Period, there was zero lost day due to work
injury.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group (i) was not aware of any
non-compliance incidents relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare that have significant impact on the Group; (ii) has not
identified any cases of non-compliance in relation to child labour or
forced labour; and (iii) was not aware of any non-compliance of laws

and regulations in relation to health and occupational safety.

B3 — Development and Training

The Group has always been paying attention to talent cultivation
and is committed to staff training and development, as well as staff
self- enhancement. Permanent employees with 12 months’ service
or more may apply for job-related training programme(s) approved
by the Group. Examples of training activities attended by our
employees during the Reporting Period include Director’s Training
on Compliance with the Listing Rules and Continuing obligations, IT
and Human resources related training etc.
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OVERALL APPROACH TO EMPLOYMENT
AND LABOUR PRACTICES (continuea)

B3 — Development and Training (continued)
Details of the Group’s employee trainings organised by the Group
during the Reporting Period are as follows:

Employee trainings

BREREIER BB L& @

B3 — R RIZENaw
7 B 3] i R A 00 TR AL A ) A 4B EE B 8 A
PR IR

Total number of employees trained

& 8153

S PN

Gender
Female M
Male B

Number of
employees

BEAH
129

Percentage of
total employees

LHEES
ABED
71%

Percentage of

Number of total employees
employees trained
HERZINIBEES

BEEAH ABBES
75 58%

54 42%

Percentage of

Number of total employees
employees trained
HEZIBRES
Employee Category EEER EE A AZBEDHK
Junior staff LI g=ln 81 63%
Middle-level employees g A T 41 28%
Directors and management SR 7 9%
Training hours 3 S| B B
Total hours (hours) HIRE B (/N R 155
Average training hours completed V- B 58 R B B RE 1.20
Average training hours completed ¥ T 5 & 3% 5l b5 &
(by gender) (& 1 51)
Female (hours) M (/N IRF) 1.19
Male (hours) FE N 1.22
Average training hours completed  F39 B 5 & 3% 5| 5 &
(by employee category) (REEEH)
Junior employees (hours) W B T (/NEF) 1.22
Middle-level employees (hours) g 8 T (/N ) 1.20
Directors and management (hours) = HME Mg (/N 1.00
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OVERALL APPROACH TO EMPLOYMENT
AND LABOUR PRACTICES (Continued)
B4 — Labour Standards

The Group respects human rights and prohibits any unethical hiring
practices, including child and forced labour. Background checks with
the review of identity documents of job applicants are conducted in
our hiring process. During the Reporting Period, we did not hire any
applicant under the legal working age and complied with the local
laws and regulations against child and forced labour. The Group also
complied with relevant immigration laws in respect of foreign staff.

OVERALL APPROACH TO MANAGING
OPERATING PRACTICES
B5 — Supply Chain Management

The Group strives to maintain long-term, stable and strategic
cooperative relationships with leading media content and brand
licensors, and to co-develop with them on the basis of equality to
achieve a win-win situation. We select and work with reputable
licensors with strong commitments to their contents and brands.
Many of them are also listed companies with commitment to social
responsibility.

Each media content provider has different media content and we
enter into distribution agreements and/or licence agreements for each
media content for the relevant rights, territories, distribution channels
and licence period. Similarly, we also enter into agency and/or
licence agreements with each brand owner for the relevant categories,
territories and agreement period.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group has 162 core suppliers,
which are located in Japan, United States, Europe, Hong Kong and
Mainland China as well as other South-east Asia regions.

B6 — Product and Service Responsibility

Product and Service Quality

We have been dedicated in providing high product quality and
professional services with the highest degree of integrity and pursuit
of excellence to our customers. The distribution of the licensed media
content by our customers is subject to applicable laws and regulations
at the relevant countries and territories. We make sure that the media
content to be broadcasted will comply with the relevant regulation.
Any updates in such laws and regulations or their interpretation may
impose more onerous compliance requirement on our customers and
we work with our customers and support them to obtain additional
licenses, permits, approvals, registration or certificates for the
broadcast.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not sell or ship any
products subject to recalls for safety and health reasons, and the
Group received no products or services related complaints.
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OVERALL APPROACH TO MANAGING
OPERATING PRACTICES (Continued)

B6 — Product and Service Responsibility (continuea)

As the way of media content consumption continues to evolve, the
channels our customers used may be replaced by newer distribution
channels. We help our customers identify sufficient or suitable
distribution channels based on our knowledge and experience in the
media content distribution trend.

Management of Intellectual Property

The Group has standard operating instructions for all departments
and employees to follow so that the registration and on-going
protection procedures of intellectual property rights and trademarks
are conformed. By well-defined registration procedures such as pre-
registration preparation, internal application examination and renewal
of trademark, we ensure transparency in the decision making process.

In order to protect our trademarks and intellectual property rights,
designated staff periodically check the Hong Kong Intellectual
Property Journal and other international webpages to see if there
is any new application for trademark registration which is likely
to cause confusion with the Group’s trademarks and we will raise
objection as appropriate. In case of any suspected infringement of
the Group’s trademarks, we will take action under the Trade Marks
Ordinance in Hong Kong and other applicable rules and regulations
in other countries or territories.

Sustainability

In terms of sustainability, customers’ satisfaction is vital to our
constant and continuous business growth. Our products and services
are well recognised in the media content and brand licensing
industry. The viewership and subscribers increase in our proprietary
Ani-One® channel indicates that we meet our customers’ content
needs.

Confidentiality

Confidentiality is one of the Group’s core values. We have
established policies and procedures to protect suppliers’ and
customers’ information confidential through our employees’
handbook, employment agreements and trainings. We also adhere
to the requirements under the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(Cap. 486) in Hong Kong. We handle suppliers’ and customers’
information with integrity and diligence. The details are maintained
by assigned staff and they have to comply with the requirements of
confidentiality.
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OVERALL APPROACH TO MANAGING
OPERATING PRACTICES (Continued)

B6 — Product and Service Responsibility (continuea)
COIIﬁd(:‘IItiaIity (Continued)

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any issues
relating to violations nor receive any complaints concerning breaches
of suppliers’ and customers’ privacy and loss of data.

B7 — Anti-corruption

Maintaining an ethical working environment is one of the Group’s
core values. The Group prohibits all forms of bribery and corruption
and strictly abides by the applicable anti-corruption laws and
regulations including the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap.
201 of the Laws of Hong Kong). We have adopted a zero-tolerance
approach for all kinds of corruption, bribery and extortion situation.
Offenders who request and/or accept bribes, obtain other illegal
interests are to be heavily penalized. We require all employees to
strictly comply with our anti-corruption policies and procedures, and
to prevent any case of bribery. All directors and staff are required to
follow our Code of Conduct on acceptance of advantage and handling
of conflicting interest when dealing with the Group’s business.
Disclosure forms are provided to directors and staff for reporting on
gifts or advantages received and declaring any conflict of interest.
We are determined in combating corruption and building a clean
society.

Whistleblowing policies are in place for employees of the Group and
those who deal with the Group (e.g. customers and suppliers, etc.)
who have concerns about any suspected misconduct or malpractice
within the Group to come forward and voice those concerns through
a confidential reporting channel. The management will review
and take follow-up actions to investigate for every single possible
misconduct case. It is the Group’s core values for its employees to
uphold their integrity and professionalism as aforementioned.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of (i) any non-
compliance with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201) in
Hong Kong, or (ii) any litigation cases related to corruption in which
the Group was involved. During the Reporting Period, directors of
the Company received anti-corruption training.

In the future, the Group will consider offering anti-corruption
trainings to employees if necessary, for further extending the
importance of anti-corruption to reinforce the importance of
integrity within the company. The Group will continue to stay alert
to potential illegal acts, so that it can address the issues accordingly
with the adoption of zero-tolerance approach.
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OVERALL APPROACH TO COMMUNITY
INVESTMENT

B8 — Community Investment

Our Group is based in Hong Kong and continues to invest in Hong
Kong and locations we operate by hiring local staff. We hire local
professionals and pay tax according to the local laws. We have
also enrolled on retirement fund and medical and travel insurance
schemes for our executive directors and staff. We conduct our
businesses according to good business practices, actively promote
green and environmentally friendly concepts, and strive for good
business development; contribute to social stability and building a
harmonious community.

During the Reporting Period, the Group donated HK$163,810 to
charitable and other organisations.

We encourage our employees to help people in need by participating
in voluntary services or making charitable donations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE DATA

SUMMARY

BRRRABERE

2024/25 2023/24

2024/25F

202324 F [E

Air emissions:
I
Nitro%lgn oxides Tonnes 0.08 0.71
ARALY L]
Sulfur oxides Tonnes 0.04 0.02
i AL L
Particulate matters Tonnes 0.01 0.05
TR 0y
Greenhouse Gas (“GHG’’) Emissions:
mERE E:
Scope 1':
—1
Total Tonnes 1.53 3.86
e
Intensity? Tonnes 0.01 0.02
B
Scope 22
2
Total Tonnes 60.73 54.39
e
Intensity? Tonnes 0.34 0.33
mE
Resources Consumption:
ERERE
Electricity:
g5
Total MWh 132.5 119.6
e JK B I
Intensity? MWh 0.73 0.73
B JK BL IRF
Gasoline:
;R
Total Liters 664.2 1,447.1
e /N
Intensity? Liters 3.67 8.82
mEs /N
Water Resources:
KER :
Total Tonnes 364.5 226.8
e
Intensity? Tonnes 2.01 1.38
B
Notes: M it -
1 Scope 1 refers to the Group’s business direct GHG emissions, including 1 [ — R A R BT R R R R S
combustion of gasoline. BERC > G SR BE VR o
2 Scope 2 refers to the Group’s business indirect GHG emissions, including 2 i R AR 5 T T R I [ A Y
consumption of purchased electricity. 310 5| B T I 22 5 R 1 3 SRR HE
3 Intensity is based on the number of employees. 3 7R LUR B OH FTH
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“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY =35
HKEX
Mandatory Disclosure Requirements MH I EER

Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs Description

BH - —REERK
B RENIER

18

B ATy (IR

- HERERE

Relevant Chapter or
Remarks

B B S

() WEESSHRE HERELAHRENEE

(i) ESENRE HERERATENENER  SFAR
A BEREREEEARR HEREREHEHE
(BRBOAXBREBIORRE R

(i) ESEFEERN HEREREBENREREFTHEHMR
WMEERNAE UYBBREABITAELNER -

Governance A statement from the board containing the following elements: | BOARD
Structure STATEMENT
(i) a disclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues;
ESG
(ii) the board’s ESG management approach and strategy, GOVERNANCE
including the process used to evaluate, prioritize and STRUCTURE
manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to
the issuer’s businesses); and ESG
MANAGEMENT
(iii) how the board reviews progress made against ESG- APPROACH
related goals and targets with an explanation of how they
relate to the issuer’s businesses.
REEE ESgEHEsUTRE: Exggy

RE HEREAR
RERE

RE HEREAR
B %
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“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY

HKEX (Continued)

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements (consinued)

Aspects, General

Bk 32 P |9 IR
H1E S|

Disclosures and KPIs Description

BE  —REER
Eﬁﬁnﬁ)‘&;ﬁ*%

Reporting Principles

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the
following Reporting Principles in the preparation of the ESG
Report:

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the process
to identify and the criteria for the selection of material
ESG factors; (ii) if a stakeholder engagement is conducted,
a description of significant stakeholders identified, and the
process and results of the issuer’s stakeholder engagement.

Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used, and source of
conversion factors used, for the reporting of emissions/energy
consumption (where applicable) should be disclosed.

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any
changes to the methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant
factors affecting a meaningful comparison.

RiE  HERE

BB EER @

A

Relevant Chapter or
Remarks

MHEE

REPORTING
PRINCIPLES

B =% e =

STAKEHOLDERS’
ENGAGEMENT

MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT
AND MATRIX

HERA

HISEERERRBE HEREAREHEAUTHRER
=

EE'&' CHEREABESEHNE ORBAIEAARSE -

Emliﬂﬁiﬂﬁ&&%ﬁﬁ (i) e 2 1T ﬁﬁ%%ﬂ ]
LE%EUH@Ek%ﬁ% URBITAFODESENBRENEG
R o

Bl ARBEHR SRREEMBRNEE 5% BR
R/BHEIAURFABRAFRENENETURE -

— B BTAEETRE HERELABRESTHREMALE
FEREYNEENENE2E IXEFERLBNEMEAM
HEREE -

HBERA
FtrES R
EEMAERERE

Reporting Boundary

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG
report and describing the process used to identify which
entities or operations are included in the ESG report. If
there is a change in the scope, the issuer should explain the
difference and reason for the change.

REPORTING
SCOPE

BEER

BEBRE HEREABRESNBESERARELARERR
&%&s/niﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%:ﬁﬁﬁﬂwﬂﬁﬂ@ﬁﬁ°ﬁ‘]ﬁlﬂjﬁ
BE BOTANEBRESFNEZERER -

HREEE
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“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND BTN (RE g

GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY 1851 D)

HKEX (Continued)

“Comply or explain” Provisions [ ¥ <F 7 #7811 X

General Disclosure/
Key Performance
Indicators (“KPIs”)

—RIRE
HAREENER

Reporting Guideline

&5l

A. Environmental

ABRBEFHE
Aspect Al Emissions
Al 358
General Disclosure Information on: 52
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to air emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
— i B #R A B R SRR~ 1K B E M PR A RO T B S A A AR 52
(@ BOK R
(b)  BESFHFEEAT A K5 B 00 A B U5 R R Y R -
KPI Al.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 67
B S IR AR ALY | BR W R R B B B o 67
KPI A1.2 Greenhouse has emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 67
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility)
BB AUSCIR AL | S SRR AR PR (DAME RT3 & (A8 ) % B2 (an DL A i B LA - A9 TH 67
it w5
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity N/A!
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BSEBURCIE R AL | BT A A B S W A i (DA 530) B (78 FY) %6 B2 (I DA 7 i B A
i TH M w5
KPI Al1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, N/A?
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BB SR AAR PR ALA | T EE A M R SE W AR R (DLW TG B (i ) %5 8 (40 LA A 2 i B0 - NNk
B TH Rt 75 o
KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 52
B ARURCIE AR ALS | Rl T RT S B PR R FRE R By B 0S8 B BT SR IR A B o 52
KPI Al1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a N/A!
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
B BUCIE BEALG | B BT RT S PR R B OBE K R B 7E 6 E R AT AR IR AP B - YNtk
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“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND BIFFNCGRE - £ ERERIK

GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY RV
HKEX (Continued)
“Comply or explain” Provisions (continued) [ <F i #FR Sa)

General Disclosure/
Key Performance
Indicators (“KPIs”)

Reporting Guideline

—REE
HRENER ] &85l
A. Environmental
ABRBEFHE

Aspect A2 Use of Resources

fEmEA2 ERER

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other 53-55
raw materials.

— K A E G IR (L 55 RE R - 7K B At JE b RL) 1 BUSR - 53-55

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) 67
in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility)

B A B ALY | 4 A B T AU (A~ AR ) AR R (LT T 67
W 59 ) B BE (A0 LU B B - 5 TG i )

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, 67
per facility).

BB AR E A2, | R OK B RO (W L g A B LA - g TH RO R o 67

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 53-55
them.

B S A SCHE BE A2 | A BT R L Y RE DR 284l HBR % 2 B AE L H AR BT SR U AP BR - 53-55

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for 54
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

B BUBCIE AR A2.4 |l SR IO T K b m A AT o] B LA R I AT Sz B K R AR EEE K A 54
2 2 5 28 H AR T PR Ry 25 3R

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if N/A!
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

B B R AR R A2.S | R P D R R Y AR (LA 53 K (A0 78 1) 45 2E 7 B AL A & o itk

Aspect A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

EEA3 BRERARER

General Disclosure Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment 55
and natural resources.

— 4K AR B AT N B BRI K K AR R e A K B R UK o 55

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and 55
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

A B 555 A AR FE A3 ?ﬁg%%iﬁﬁ%%ﬁ&%?ﬁ%%%Ek%%&aﬁéﬁl%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%% 55
T8 -
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“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND BIAMW(RE  HE2RERRK

GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY

HKEX (Continued)

“Comply or explain” Provisions (Continued)

General Disclosure/
Key Performance
Indicators (“KPIs”)

EE 5D

Reporting Guideline

[ 138 <7 h 4% 38 R 3L o)

—REE
BRENIER ] &85l
Aspect A4 Climate Change
[E [ A4 RIzE 1M
General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues 56-57
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
— i B #R ik Pl e JEE S A K RTRE B S EEAT O A AR 5 R B0 T K SRUIE A B SR B 56-57
o
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, 56-57
and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage
them.
B S SMCIE AR A4 | R RS R nT B o R AT AN B AR Y B ORI B R R 56-57
EHARFENTE -
B. Social
Bt &
Aspect B1 Employment and Labour Practices
fE EB1 BRERSETIER
General Disclosure Information on: 58-60
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.
— i B #R A B L AR - RIS R T AR B - SR E - Zonil 58-60
S AR DA B A 15 28 A R Y
(@ KR
(b)  BESFHFEEAT A K5 B 00 A B I R R Y R -
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or parttime), 58
age group, and geographical region.
B A BT | P R SR 0 A s ) 4 B AL S T 5 1 i S 58
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 59
B SE GUMCIE B2 | SRR - AR AR I R H ) 2> B MR B R LR o 59
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“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY

HKEX (Continued)

“Comply or explain” Provisions (continued)

General Disclosure/

Key Performance

Indicators (“KPIs”)

—RIRE
HEEVER

CRCEINEY

[ 38 <7 h 4% 8 1R 3L o)

Reporting Guideline

iR & 15 5l
B. Social
B g

BRXH(RE - HERERK

Aspect B2 Health and Safety

fE T B2 RERZZ2

General Disclosure Information on: 61
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.

— 4K A B R 22 2 T B TR B IR B AR S0 SE T Y 61
@ EUR K
(b)  AESF 3 EEAT A TR R B M B I BB Y R .

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three 61
years including the reporting year.

A B A5 AR A B2l | 2 L AE (ELHE NE AR ) AR TR DT i N B B R o 61

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 61

B Gk Gt e iEB2.2 | B LAk TAEH - 61

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how 61
they are implemented and monitored.

B S ASCHE BE 2.3 | T PR A ) I S R B A2 A 1 o DA RN B BUAT B B T ik e 61

Aspect B3 Development and Training

B E B3 R R IE A

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging 61
duties at work. Description of training activities.

— K A B R T B BB AT T AR T A0 Rk M 1 RE Y BLOSR o d 2l 8E BE ) 61

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. 62
senior management, middle management).

BB AR BEB3.L | R R B AR BRI (A AR B - AR IR B e i Z AR B A 2> 62
t o

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee 62
category.

B BUBCIE BEB3.2 | RV I Ko AR B B 03 o 44 (R B 5T A2l B ST 2 I B e 62
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“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY

HKEX (Continued)

“Comply or explain” Provisions (Continued)

General Disclosure/
Key Performance
Indicators (“KPIs”)

BRXH(RE - £EREAR

EE 5D

[ 138 <7 h 4% 38 R 3L o)

Reporting Guideline

—REE
AREBENER ¥k & 45 o
B. Social
B.i g
Aspect B4 Labour Standards
fE EB4 & T XA
General Disclosure Information on: 63

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

— 4 B A BB IE B T a5 A5 T 63
(@ KR
(b)  HESFBEEAT AN K R B M BV A B BB ) R
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and 63
forced labour.
R R 2GR AR BEBALL | A A e A ) Y e DA R B T R o ) 45 L o 63
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. 63
B BUSCIE BEBA.2 | il e E B B DU IR 0 R A B 0 BT BR A 2D B o 63
Aspect B5 Supply Chain Management
[E HE B5 5t 8 8 = 12
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 63
— Ji B #R A g ) TR A A & A B O - 63
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 63
B SEARACHR BEBS.L | e I B S B E R S o 63
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers 63

where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

BH G AR BEBS.2 | AT R T 3L A A o e AT A R A R PR R O - DA R 63
B BT S B TT 3 -

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along 63
the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

B AURCIR A BS.3 |l A B k3 R G A BR T Y BR T Bk Ja B AR B > LA KO B 63
11 R B 5807 % -

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products 63
and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

BH S SSCHE BEBS.4 |t A S8 IR T IR A 2 T BR AR A K MBS O T > LA RO B LA T 63

L B 507 % e
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“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND BIFFNCGRE - £ ERERIK

GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY RV
HKEX (Continued)
“Comply or explain” Provisions (continued) [ <F i #FR Sa)

General Disclosure/
Key Performance
Indicators (“KPIs’) Reporting Guideline

—RE
EREARIER &1 5l
B. Social
B.i &
Aspect B6 Product Responsibility
[E EB6 EmEE
General Disclosure Information on: 63-65
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.
— 4 B AT i B A R R B Y e R B g2 A - B - BB KOFA B o E LA K 63-65
ROTEW
@ BEUR K
(b)  BESFEFEEAT AA H K5 B 00 A B I R R 1 R
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and 63-65
health reasons.
B SACIE B BO. | O A A S A e R 2 4 DL B ol T 2 [0 AR T B 63-65
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they 63-65
are dealt with.
BB BURCIE T B6.2 | HE B EE i B R B B0 % A B0 A R RE B U ik e 63-65
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual 63-65
property rights.
BH S ARACIE B B6.3 | il B AfE G L DR B Rk E A R A o 63-65
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 63-65
B S ACIE BEBO.4 |t B R A E R R R L L CRE TR o 63-65
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are 63-65
implemented and monitored.
BR S BRCAE BEBO.S | I T B OB IR B R AL B K o DL SR BR BUAT I B AR T R - 63-65
Aspect B7 Anti-corruption
[E EB7 R&ES
General Disclosure Information on: 65
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
— ik 4 B AEBT IR IS - B R - TR R B 65
(@) Bk &
(b)  EF B EEAT A K 5 B 00 A B TR R R R Y R -
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“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY

HKEX (Continued)

“Comply or explain” Provisions (Continued)

General Disclosure/
Key Performance
Indicators (“KPIs”)

BTN C(RE - HERERR

EE 5D

[ 138 <7 h 4% 38 R 3L o)

Reporting Guideline

—REE
ERERIER &1 5l
B. Social
B.i &
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against 65
the issuer or its employees during the Reporting Period and the outcomes of
the cases.
B S SURCIE BE BT | T O PR B R AT N B B4R O O A B TS AR s R AR BOE & 65
HF s &R
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how 65
they are implemented and monitored.
BB ABURCIE HEBT.2 |l By B i S B ERORR T o DA SR B LT S B T ik - 65
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. 65
TR B AR AR AEBT.3 | i i) o S e B TR BERY R B IS B - 65
Aspect B§ Community Investment
& EI B8 HERE
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 66
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
— 4K B A B LA e 2 B AR R M v 8 i A A R R0 e DR SE RS 5 B & 5 e AL 66
[ ) 28 /Y B
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour 66
needs, health, culture, sport).
BB AR AARHEBS.l | BRI (B - Wi E - S LHEK - @k ek - #F) - 66
KPI BS.2 Resources contributed (e.g., money or time) to the focus area. 66
R AR A AR HEBR.2 | 7 ST o WG P B T A U (< B8 R ) o 66
Notes: Bt At -
1 The Group’s businesses are media content distribution and brand licensing. We 1 A% AR 0 2T Ry IR N 2R EE AT RO R
did not generate any hazardous wastes. HE > FRAM A AR A EREY -
2 The Group’s businesses are media content distribution and brand licensing. 2 A A5 [ Y SE S T IO A 2 AT D AR E o I

FEY EE R ARG AR R AL - R B VR E
AR b I AT B e JBE AR AH B B L R
WA - PR R B EE R A

The non-hazardous wastes are mainly domestic garbage and waste paper. The
employees generate little domestic garbage and waste paper and the related
data is difficult to be collected. So there is no statistics for the amount of
non-hazardous wastes generated.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
EEREREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HITES

Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia ML

Position and Experience BRER

Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia (B /) # Z T), aged 60, is the founder 8/ # &+ > 605% > /5 A 2\ 7 2 5 A BF
of our business, the chairman of our Board and the chief executive A~ BEFHF & L EIFHTHAR - ITEFEN
officer of our Company, an executive Director, and chairman of the #ZEZEGIH - W/ ML T EA K
Nomination Committee. Ms. Lovinia Chiu is primarily responsible for il & 7 5 8] 1) 5 8 %% J2 5% g [ S 5131 »
formulating the overall development strategies and business plans of 3 B B 7% 4 [ 19 = 8 2% | Joe 7 o (0
our Group and overseeing the overall development and operations of 2018 F10H20H ¥ Z L B E = » M oh > &
our Group. She was appointed as a Director on 29 October 2018. In /N2 |- H Hij & 4T 48 24 &) B[ 2 & M g A
addition, Ms. Lovinia Chiu currently holds the position of director in  # (AP FF 4% - MFE ~ ¥ B8 3 (B %) »
MEL, MFE, MAIL, Medialink (Asia) Limited, Medialink Holdings Medialink (Asia) Limited ~ # 2 A R
Limited, Medialink Entertainment Holdings Limited, Medialink Z2v#] ~ B IR A R AR - BB/ E

&l

Investment Holdings Limited, Medialink Licensing Holdings Limited, #BHRAR] ~ HIRZELE R A RAF
Medialink Pacific Limited, Whateversmiles Limited, Whateversmiles = Medialink Pacific Limited * Whateversmiles
¥k X 2 %1 and CON-CON (HK) Limited which are wholly-owned Limited * Whateversmiles #k z{ 2 41 CON-
subsidiaries of our Company. She has over 30 years of experience in ~ CON (HK) Limited) ) # # o 5% % % 30 4
the content distribution industry. MR AT AT R B -

Prior to founding our Group in 2000, Ms. Lovinia Chiu started her A 20004F 8] 37 4 4 [ =~ fij > # /N e & 1 ik
career in August 1988 in media content distribution as a marketing  19884F8 H B it 1L 15 #8 (4

assistant at a private Hong Kong company engaged in content [ {¢ 3
distribution. She later took on the role of marketing executive and  Hj 3 1

subsequently director of the marketing and acquisitions department  [H]4& T % & £4T > 1M 7219904F1 H 21993
from November 1988 to January 1990 and January 1990 to June  #F6J7 HH ¥ 4T %5 £8 S e s &0 P 40 B - i

Ennz

e
B

eyt o
L TIR
-
b

Nt

104 Metro Finance. In addition, Ms. Lovinia Chiu was awarded
in the “Business Leader” category at the Women Leading Change
Awards 2022 organised by Campaign Asia-Pacific in May 2022 and

/

BE
Exe

%

=

BER
S5
4 4k
&
!_—‘_>
Yiid
MR

W m
St
TR 2
P
&

1993 respectively. Ms. Lovinia Chiu later joined Media Assets /) Zr 1= H 4% il A %7 25 5 B A R A ) (F
Limited, a company under Star TV Group which primarily focuses /&% FE B N AR » & ZEH TR ERE
on broadcasting services, as a sales manager from June 1993 to %) > *19934F6 A £ 199441 A #5 M ¥ 1%
January 1994. Subsequently and up till the founding of our Group, E#EH o H & K& H & A7 A L E W H -
Ms. Lovinia Chiu started to conduct media content distribution and /)M #E £c 4 iR 1994 4F DA A< 4 3] () i B B J&
its related licensing business in 1994 through a predecessor of our  #8 (K 2% %% 41 & #H BH 4%l 3£ 7% - i /) e
Group. Ms. Lovinia Chiu was also featured as one of the dynamic 7R it % 7k 8% B (192015 4F i % 7K 55 K
women entrepreneurs under the 2015 EY Entrepreneurial Winning ) &M E R H B #8850 &
Women Asia Pacific programme organised by Ernst & Young. In K Z— o i /NHE L L IR 22020411
November 2020, Ms. Lovinia Chiu was presented with The Greater & #5 /N U £ SE W & & B8 W B &8
Bay Area Outstanding Women Entrepreneur Award 2020 by the  #F K i [ % ) 2 4> 2% K 482020 - i
Hong Kong Small and Medium Enterprises Association and FM % +: 2202245 #£ Campaign AF K 5%
20224 ‘ ‘
O A%
i &
LA 3
IC
#2

o
Bm ) e R ES D mE
SR REENNEREH - | WD EEES S SRR

5 1Y e 4

the 4th Golden Bauhinia Women Entrepreneur Awards — Business 202346 A M
Excellence Award by the Golden Bauhinia Women Entrepreneur JESSICA) &F #£ /3 (Jil 4 JESSIC AN i,
Association in November 2022. In June 2023, she was selected as £ K #2023/ 15 88 & 2 — » i /N He L
one of the “JESSICA Most Successful Women 2023” by Jessica ZEiflEHRETAENFRLBTEEZ
Magazine. Ms. Lovinia Chiu is one of the judges and investors for the — #% V-5 28 7 HE T & > BiF 7B A
Pan-Asia Venture Development Platform, an independent and self- P& # i & K& T p% 4 BAE - 2 4L DL K
funded platform which engages EMBA and MBA students as well as £ %5 & 55 1 (8 B = 1 = A 2% - 1% H2020
graduates for the purpose of developing quality high-growth ventures 12 &I (F B 45 ~ & - D EE R MHE
in Asia. She has been a council member of Institute of ESG & 2 ®&ZE &M H > &K H20214F1H AR 2
Benchmark since December 2020. Ms. Lovinia Chiu has been a co- & 22 # A J1 & I 45 B 5 17 26 15 9 5k &0
opted member of the Promotion and Consultation Sub-committee of B € #f i X ek s BB/ NH YRR 5 -
the Cross-industry Training Advisory Committee in HRM Sector of NE L H202 1R L H AR LA B E R e
the Qualification Framework since January 2021. Ms. Lovinia Chiu  H,JA20224F0A & F i 15 & K&K 4
has been a member of the Entrepreneurs’ Organization since January 2 # o /N M8 20 150 2 CRa A Wb )
2021 and honoured as the Honorary Director of the Hong Kong  £3[20234F K i & ESG 1> 3 %230 i /)\
Baptist University Foundation since September 2022. Ms. Lovinia & £jit2024%F6 260 % ZAT & Fis LT
Chiu has been granted the “2023 Greater Bay Area Best 30 ESG  ® P& % 5 Z B & M &8 - 1% H20254F3H1
Entrepreneurs” by Forbes China. Ms. Lovinia Chiu was appointed as HE¥EZTAFHBILZEGHKE -

a General Committee Member of the Chamber of Hong Kong Listed
Companies on 26 June 2024. She has been appointed a member of the
Culture Commission since 1 March 2025.
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Ms. Lovinia Chiu received her diploma in business administration
from Hong Kong Shue Yan College (currently known as Hong Kong
Shue Yan University) in July 1987. In August 2012, Ms. Lovinia
Chiu also completed the CUHK EMBA-UC Berkeley Business
Negotiations Programme. She received her master’s degree in
business administration (Executive MBA programme) from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in November 2013.

Length of service

Ms. Lovinia Chiu was appointed as executive Director on 29 October
2018. Ms. Lovinia Chiu has entered into a service contract with our
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from 29
April 2019. The service contract has been renewed twice, each for
a successive term of three years upon expiry. Ms. Lovinia Chiu is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meetings of our Company pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Relationships

Ms. Lovinia Chiu is the sister of Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta
(executive Director) and Ms. Chiu Siu Ling Barbara (Senior Director
— Human Resources & Administration), and the sole shareholder
of RLA (Controlling Shareholders). Save as disclosed, Ms. Lovinia
Chiu does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders of
our Company.
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Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta

Position and Experience

Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta (HE/PB L), aged 56, is an executive
Director. She joined our Group on 27 September 2000 as the
executive vice president for sales and acquisition strategies and was
appointed as our Director on 29 October 2018. Ms. Noletta Chiu
was appointed as the managing director — brand acquisition and
licensing of our Group in May 2019. In addition, Ms. Noletta Chiu is
a director of MEL, MFE, MAIL, Medialink (Shanghai) Co., Limited,
Medialink Brand Management Pte Limited, Medialink Licensing
Holdings Limited, Whateversmiles Limited, Whateversmiles B2
#t, Medialink Brand Management (Malaysia) SDN, BHD., Medialink
Cultural & Creative (Beijing) Limited and Medialink Cultural &
Creative Investment (Guangzhou) Limited, which are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of our Company. She is responsible for supervising and
providing strategic advice on the Brand Licensing Business of our
Group.

Ms. Noletta Chiu began her career as a production assistant. She
subsequently focused on film distribution and video shooting.
Subsequently and prior to joining our Group, Ms. Noletta Chiu
worked for the predecessor of our Group, namely Medialink
International Limited which was engaged in media content
distribution.

Ms. Noletta Chiu graduated with a bachelor of arts degree (major
in cinema and photography) from Southern Illinois University in
March 1992 for which she was entered onto the Dean’s list. Ms.
Noletta Chiu has been a member of the Oxfam Hong Kong’s Advisor
of Resources Development on Fundraising and Communications, a
board member of PVW Brain Tumor Foundation since 2022 and a
director of Little Prince Foundation Limited since 2023. Ms. Noletta
Chiu was a member of HKTDC Design, Marketing and Licensing
Services Advisory Committee. Ms. Noletta Chiu has been a director
and shareholder of Mind’s I Limited since 6 November 2024.

Ms. Noletta Chiu was presented with The Greater Bay Area
Outstanding Women Entrepreneur Award 2022 — GBA Outstanding
Caring Women Entrepreneur Award by the Hong Kong Small and
Medium Enterprises Association and FM 104 Metro Finance,
honouring her for her commitment to charity and, with love and
action, encouraging others to do good.

HOAR&ZE
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] 2 T A JB8 2% | (HP e R 15 4% - MFE ~ 2%
oy (B R - 3R B i (Bilg)
H IR 2 A~ Medialink Brand Management
Pte Limited ~ ¥ FB 52 RE ¥ e A7 IR 2 A ~
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4 HE S 05 3 0 LR R R MR A L -
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Length of service

Ms. Noletta Chiu was appointed as executive Director on 29 October
2018. Ms. Noletta Chiu has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from 29
April 2019. The service contract has been renewed twice, each for
a successive term of three years upon expiry. Ms. Noletta Chiu is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meetings of our Company pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Relationships

Ms. Noletta Chiu is the sister of Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia (Chairman
of the Board, executive Director and Chief Executive Officer) and
Ms. Chiu Siu Ling Barbara (Senior Director — Human Resources &
Administration). Save as disclosed, Ms. Noletta Chiu does not have
any relationship with any Directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders of our Company.

Mr. Ma Ching Fung

Position and Experience

Mr. Ma Ching Fung (5 IE $ 5 %), aged 49, is an executive
Director, the chief financial officer and company secretary of our
Company. Mr. Ma joined our Group on 30 September 2017 and is
primarily responsible for overseeing the financial management of
our Group. He was appointed as our Director on 29 October 2018.
In addition, Mr. Ma is a director of Medialink Cultural & Creative
(Beijing) Limited and Medialink Cultural & Creative Investment
(Guangzhou) Limited, which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of our
Company set up in May and December 2020 respectively. He was
appointed as a director of Sunrise eMarketing Limited on 27 March
2023, which is a joint venture of our Company.

Mr. Ma has over 20 years of working experience in auditing,
accounting and finance in numerous positions across multiple
corporations. He began his career in auditing at Price Waterhouse
(presently known as PricewaterhouseCoopers), an accountancy firm,
in September 1998 and served as an audit manager before he left
the firm in May 2004. He served as a finance manager of Pantene
Industrial Co., Limited, a private company and a finance manager
of Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited, currently known as China
Oceanwide Holdings Limited (stock code: 0715), the shares of which
are listed on the Stock Exchange, from May 2004 to March 2005 and
from March 2005 to April 2006 respectively. Mr. Ma was the group
financial controller at IPE Group Limited (stock code: 0929), the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, from May 2006
to September 2007 and he then served as a corporate controller and
head of controlling at a private company involved in the production
of primary and processed aluminium products from November 2007
to October 2012 and November 2012 to September 2017 respectively
before joining our Group.
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Mr. Ma graduated with a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 1998. He
subsequently obtained a master’s degree in business administration
(Executive MBA programme) at The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in November 2013 for which he was entered onto the Dean’s
list. He has been a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since March 2008, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since September 2014 and The Taxation Institute
of Hong Kong since September 2014. He has been an associate of
The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and an associate,
a chartered secretary and a chartered governance professional of the
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators) since December 2016.

Length of service

Mr. Ma was appointed as executive Director on 29 October 2018.
Mr. Ma has entered into a service contract with the Company for
an initial term of three years commencing from 29 April 2019. The
service contract has been renewed twice, each for a successive term
of three years upon expiry. Mr. Ma is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at annual general meetings of the Company pursuant
to the Articles of Association.

Relationships

Mr. Ma does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders of
the Company.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP

Position and Experience

Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP (E %18 Z 1), aged 53, joined our Group
on 1 July 2016 and was appointed as a non-executive Director on 29
October 2018. She is primarily responsible for providing strategic
advice to our Board. In addition, Ms. Wong holds the position of
supervisor in Medialink Cultural & Creative (Beijing) Limited and
Medialink Cultural & Creative Investment (Guangzhou) Limited
which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of our Company. She has been
a director of Sunrise eMarketing Limited, which is a joint venture of
our Company since 27 March 2023.

Ms. Wong has been a consultant for MEL since 1 July 2016. Prior to
joining our Group, Ms. Wong worked at Maxim’s Caterers Limited,
a food and beverage catering company in Hong Kong, from February
2007 to August 2015 where her last position was head of legal. She
then served as a consultant for Maxim’s Caterers Limited from
September 2015 to August 2016. Ms. Wong was a consultant at Liau,
Ho & Chan, a Hong Kong law firm, from September 2017 until 17
May 2022, and has been a consultant at So, Lung & Associates since
17 May 2022.

Ms. Wong has been a member of HKSAR Town Planning Board
since April 2016 and the vice-chairperson of its Metro Planning
Committee since April 2024, a member of HKSAR Chinese
Medicine Practitioners Board since September 2017 until September
2023, Audit Committee of West Kowloon District Authority since
January 2017 until 31 December 2024, Hong Kong Council on
Smoking and Health since October 2017 until October 2023, the
Competition Commission since May 2018 until May 2024, Hong
Kong Advisory Council on AIDS since August 2020 and Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Appeal Board since 25 October 2021. She
was a council and court member of Hong Kong Baptist University
since February 2017 to 1 January 2023 and was appointed as an
honorary court member from 28 February 2023. She was the vice
chairman of the HKSAR Human Organ Transplant Board from
February 2013 to February 2019 and has been the chairman of the
HKSAR Human Organ Transplant Board since February 2019 and
was re-appointed as chairman for a three-year term with effect
from 15 February 2025. She was the chairman of the Enforcement
Committee of the Competition Commission since January 2021 until
May 2024. She is a member of the HKSAR Election Committee since
September 2021, and a member of the Election Committee for the
Election of Deputies to the 14th National People’s Congress from
HKSAR since September 2022, a co-opted member of the Broadcast
Codes of Practice Committee since April 2023, and an independent
non-executive director of MTR Corporation Limited (stock code:
0066) since 24 May 2023.
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Ms. Wong graduated with a bachelor’s degree in law from the City
Polytechnic of Hong Kong (currently known as the City University
of Hong Kong) in December 1994. She obtained a master’s degree
in law from the University of London in November 1995 and was
awarded the postgraduate certificate in laws from the University of
Hong Kong in September 1996. She has been admitted as a solicitor
in Hong Kong since September 1998 and a solicitor in England and
Wales since December 1998.

Length of service

Ms. Wong was appointed as non-executive Director on 29 October
2018. Ms. Wong has entered into a service contract with our
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from 29
April 2019. The service contract has been renewed twice, each for a
successive term of three years upon expiry. Ms. Wong is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meetings of
our Company pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Relationships

Ms. Wong does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders of
our Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson, MH

Position and Experience

Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson, MH (J E{E K& &), aged 71, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 22 April 2019 and is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to our Board. He is also appointed
as the chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr. Fung was the financial
controller for Jardine Pacific Limited from June 1993 to March 2010.
He then served at Jardine Matheson Limited, a private company
principally engaged in providing management services to its parent
company, namely Jardine Matheson Holdings Limited (LSE: JAR,
BSX: JIMHBD.BH, SGX: J36), the shares of which are listed on the
London Stock Exchange, Bermuda Stock Exchange and Singapore
Exchange respectively, as group financial controller from April 2010
to September 2014.

Mr. Fung has been a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since July 1987 and served as the president of the
same from December 2009 to December 2010. He has also been a fellow
member of each of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales since July 2017 and the Chartered Association of Certified
Accountants (currently known as the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants) since May 1985. He is the founding president of the Hong
Kong Business Accountants Association which was established in June
2014. He was conferred an Honorary Fellowship by the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology (HKUST) in September 2023.
Mr. Fung passed his Advanced Level General Certificate of Education
Examinations in Hong Kong in or around 1973.
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Mr. Fung has taken up responsibilities with certain Hong Kong
governmental bodies. He has been a member of Advisory Committee
on Arts Development since 1 January 2023. He served as a member
of the Financial Reporting Council from December 2014 to October
2020, a member of Hong Kong Productivity Council from January
2016 to December 2021, a board member of the West Kowloon
Cultural District Authority from October 2016 to October 2022, a
council member of HKUST from April 2017 to March 2023, and a
member of Hong Kong Town Planning Board from April 2016 to
March 2024. He became a court member of the HKUST since April
2023, and a board member of the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology (Guangzhou) Education Foundation since May 2024.

Mr. Fung was the chairman of the Board of Hong Kong Dance
Company Limited from November 2015 to November 2021. He
has been an independent non-executive director of Hongkong
International Theme Parks Limited, a private company which owns
the Hong Kong Disneyland Resort, from September 2018 to August
2024.

Length of service

Mr. Fung was appointed as independent non-executive Director on 22
April 2019. Our Company has issued a letter of appointment to Mr.
Fung for an initial term of three years commencing from 22 April
2019. The letter of appointment has been renewed twice, each for a
successive term of three years upon expiry. Mr. Fung is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meetings of
our Company pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Relationships

Mr. Fung does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders of
our Company.

Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda

Position and Experience

Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda (R R & & T), aged 72,
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 22 April 2019 and is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Leung started her career with MTR
Corporation Limited (stock code: 0066), a public transport service
company, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, as
a public relations manager from August 1985 to January 1994. She
then served as a corporate relations manager from February 1994
to December 2003 and as a general manager for corporate relations
from January 2004 to January 2013. In January 2009, Ms. Leung was
also appointed as a member of the executive committee for MTR
Corporation Limited and remained in such position until her retirement
in January 2013. Ms. Leung served as the Project Coordinator of PLA
Agencies Ltd from September 2020 to February 2021. Ms. Leung has
been a presenter in Radio Television HK since June 2013.
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Ms. Leung graduated with a Certificate for Private Secretaries
from Hong Kong Technical College (currently known as Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) in July 1972. She has been a fellow
of The Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in Hong Kong
since June 1997, a member of The Chartered Institute of Transport
(currently known as The Chartered Institute of Logistics and
Transport) in the United Kingdom since October 1985 as well as a
member of The Institute of Public Relations in the United Kingdom
since January 1988.

Ms. Leung was a member of the Council for Sustainable Development
from March 2009 to March 2015, the Women’s Commission
from January 2012 to January 2018, the Community Involvement
Committee on Greening since March 2015 to March 2021 and has
been a member of the Executive Committee of the Hong Kong
Society for the Protection of Children since December 2011, a
member of the Executive Committee of the Hong Kong Equestrian
Federation (now known as The Equestrian Federation of Hong Kong,
China) since May 2013 and currently a board director, a member
of the Hong Kong Housing Society since July 2014 as well as the
Advisory Committee on Built Heritage Conservation from May
2016 to January 2023. She was also appointed by The Hong Kong
Equestrian Federation and The Equestrian Events (Hong Kong)
of the Games of the XXIX Olympiad Company Limited as the
National Technical Official for the Equestrian Events of the Beijing
2008 Olympic Games from 8 August 2008 to 24 August 2008 as
well as the National Technical Official for the Equestrian Events of
the Beijing 2008 Paralympic Games from 1 September 2008 to 12
September 2008.

Length of service

Ms. Leung was appointed as independent non-executive Director on
22 April 2019. Our Company has issued a letter of appointment to
Ms. Leung for an initial term of three years commencing from 22
April 2019. The letter of appointment has been renewed twice, each
for a successive term of three years upon expiry. Ms. Leung is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meetings
of our Company pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Relationships

Ms. Leung does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders of
our Company.

Mr. Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP

Position and Experience

Mr. Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP (Z 8% %), aged 70, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 22 April
2019 and is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to our Board. He is also appointed as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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Mr. Wong has extensive experience in human resources management
and administration with local and international organisations of
renown. He has been a council member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Human Resources Management since June 2000 and later served as
its president from July 2008 to June 2010.

He has also been the founder and director of RESOLUTIONS HR
& Business Consultancy Company Limited, a private company
principally engaged in the provision of business and human resources
solutions as well as consultancy services, since March 2015. From
October 2020 to February 2024, he served as an independent non-
executive director of Pine Care Group Limited (previous stock
code: 1989), the shares of which have been delisted on the Stock
Exchange in February 2024. From September 2014 to June 2018,
Mr. Wong served as a non-executive director of Bamboos Health
Care Holdings Limited (stock code: 2293), the shares of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange. In addition, Mr. Wong had/has taken
up responsibilities with a number of Hong Kong governmental
bodies and had served/has been serving as an advisor for various
matters concerning the local community, including human resources,
education, labour, welfare, commerce and economic development
matters. Also, he has been appointed as a Supervisory Board
Member of Hong Kong Housing Society (2023/2024) in September
2023, and re-appointed as a director of Hong Kong Applied Science
and Technology Research Institute Company Limited in October
2023. Mr. Wong was appointed as a member of the Remuneration
Committee under the Board of the West Kowloon Cultural District
Authority in January 2024. He has been appointed as a director of
HKDay Charity Limited since July 2024. Mr Wong has been newly
appointed as a member of the Council of The University of Hong
Kong for a term of three years with effect from 1 January 2025.

Mr. Wong graduated with a bachelor’s degree in business
administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 1996. He subsequently obtained a master’s degree in
business administration (Executive MBA programme) from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in November 2013.

Length of service

Mr. Wong was appointed as independent non-executive Director on
22 April 2019. Our Company has issued a letter of appointment to
Mr. Wong for an initial term of three years commencing from 22
April 2019. The letter of appointment has been renewed twice, each
for a successive term of three years upon expiry. Mr. Wong is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meetings
of our Company pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Relationships

Mr. Wong does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders of
our Company.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of our Group for the year ended 31
March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Our Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are media content distribution,
investments in media content production, and brand licensing, in
Hong Kong, Taiwan, Mainland China and other Southeast Asian
regions.

The activities of our Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of our Group’s business and performance during the
Year and a discussion on our Group’s future development are
provided in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion
and Analysis (pages 9 to 24). A description of possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing can be found under
“Risks and uncertainties relating to our Group’s business” (pages
107 to 109). Discussions on the Group’s key relationships with its
employees, customers and suppliers are contained under the section
“Key relationship with employees, customers, suppliers and other
parties” (page 107). Discussions on our Group’s policies and
compliance with laws and regulations in respect of environmental
and social aspects which have a significant impact on our Group
are contained in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(pages 41 to 76). Our Group’s principal corporate governance
practices adopted which have a significant impact on our Group are
contained in the Corporate Governance Report (pages 25 to 40).

RESULTS

The results of our Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 120.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors declared an interim dividend of HK1.09 cent per
share for the six months ended 30 September 2024, amounting to
approximately HK$21,713,000 which was paid on Wednesday, 15
January 2025.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HKO0.28 cent per share for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: a
final dividend of HK$0.32 cent per share and a special dividend of
HK$0.02 cent per share), amounting to HK$5,578,000 (2024: final
dividend and special dividend amounting to HK$6,374,000 and
HK$398,000 respectively), to the Shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of our Company on Friday, 26 September
2025. The proposed final dividends will be paid on Monday, 3
November 2025, subject to approval by the Shareholders at the
annual general meeting (AGM).
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Further details of the dividends of our Company are set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements.

AGM

The AGM of the Company is scheduled to be held on Wednesday, 17
September 2025. The notice will be published on the website of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the Company
(www.medialink.com.hk) in due course.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members will be closed from Friday, 12
September 2025 to Wednesday, 17 September 2025, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. The record date will be on Wednesday, 17 September
2025. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the annual
general meeting, all completed transfer forms, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, must be lodged for registration with our
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong by no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday,
11 September 2025.

To ascertain entitlement to the proposed final dividend, the register
of members will be closed from Tuesday, 23 September 2025 to
Friday, 26 September 2025, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered. The record date will be on
Friday, 26 September 2025. In order to qualify for the proposed final
dividend, which is subject to approval of the Shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM, all completed transfer forms, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, must be lodged for registration with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong by no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 22
September 2025.
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CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

Charitable and other donations made by our Group during the Year
amounted to HK$163,810.

ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the issued share capital information of our Company are
set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME
On 6 February 2020, the Company adopted the Share Award Scheme.

The Scheme was amended by ordinary resolution of the shareholders
of the Company on 25 September 2024 such that the Scheme has
become a share scheme that is funded only by the existing Shares.
20,876,000 award shares have been granted under this Scheme during
the Reporting Period.

The purpose and the principal terms of the Share Award Scheme are
summarised below.

1. Purpose of the Scheme
The purpose of the Scheme is to reward the Eligible Persons for
their past, present or expected contribution and loyalty to the
Group and align their interests with those of the Shareholders
through the grant of Award.

2. Duration

Subject to any early termination by the Board, the Scheme
shall be valid and effective for the Award Period (i.e. the period
commencing from the Adoption Date (6 February 2020) and
ending on the day immediately prior to the tenth anniversary
of the Adoption Date), after which no further Awards will be
granted, but the provision of the Scheme shall remain in full
force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the
vesting of such Awards granted prior to the expiration of the
Scheme or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the
provisions of the Scheme Rules.
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Administration

The Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the Board
in accordance with the Scheme Rules and, where applicable,
the Trust Deed. A decision of the Board shall be final and
binding on all persons affected thereby. Without prejudice
to the Board’s general power of administration, to the extent
not prohibited by applicable laws and regulations, the Board
may also from time to time appoint the Trustee to implement
granting, administration or vesting of any Award Shares.

Operation of the Scheme

The Board may, from time to time at its absolute discretion,
select any Eligible Person to be a Selected Participant and
grant an Award to such Selected Participant during the Award
Period. In determining the Selected Participants, the Board
may take into consideration matters including the past, present
or expected contribution of the relevant Selected Participants
to the Group. According to the Scheme Rules, the Selected
Participants are not required to bear any cost or pay for any
purchase price for the acceptance of the grant or vesting of any
Award.

Each grant of an Award to any director (excluding independent
non-executive Directors), senior management, consultant or
advisor of the Group shall be subject to the prior approval of
the independent non-executive Directors. Where any grant of
Award Shares is proposed to be made to any person who is a
Connected Person of the Company, the Company shall comply
with such provisions of the Listing Rules as may be applicable.

The Board shall not grant any Award Shares to any Selected
Participant in any of the following circumstances: (a) where the
requisite approval from any applicable regulatory authorities
has not been granted; (b) where the Group will be required
under applicable securities laws, rules or regulations to issue a
prospectus or other offer documents in respect of such Award
or the Scheme; (c) where such Award would result in a breach
by the Group or its directors of any applicable securities laws,
rules or regulations in any jurisdiction; (d) where such grant of
Award would result in a breach of the Scheme Limit, and any
such grant so made shall be null and void to the extent that it
falls within the circumstances above.
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Timing of Awards

No Award shall be made to Selected Participants and no
directions or recommendation shall be given to the Trustee with
respect to a grant of an Award and/or to acquire Shares for the
purpose of granting an Award under the Scheme: (a) where any
Director is in possession of unpublished inside information in
relation to the Company or where dealings by Directors are
prohibited under any code or requirement of the Listing Rules
or any applicable laws, rules or regulations; (b) during the
period of 60 days immediately preceding the publication date of
the annual results or, if shorter, the period from the end of the
relevant financial year up to the publication date of the results;
and (c) during the period of 30 days immediately preceding
the publication date of the half-year results or, if shorter, the
period from the end of the relevant half-year period up to the
publication date of the results.

Acquisition of Shares by the Trustee

The Company shall, for the purposes of satisfying the grant of
Awards:

(a) pay to the Trustee such monies and instruct the Trustee
to acquire Shares through on-market transactions at the
prevailing market price;

(b) direct and procure the Trustee to receive existing Shares
from any Shareholder; and/or

(¢c) instruct the Trustee to apply any Returned Shares held in
the Trust.
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Where the Trustee has received instructions from the Company
to acquire Shares through on-market transactions, the Trustee
shall acquire such number of Shares as instructed by the
Company on-market at the prevailing market price as soon
as reasonably practicable after receiving the necessary funds
from the Company. Any excess amount of the funds provided
shall be returned by the Trustee to the Company forthwith
after completion of the purchase of the Shares. Where the
amount paid or caused to be paid by the Company or where
the amount that the Trustee is directed by the Company to use
is not sufficient to purchase all of the Shares it is instructed to
purchase, the Trustee shall acquire the maximum number of
board lots of Shares that it is able to acquire with the net cash
available in the fund of the Trust and the Company undertakes
to provide further funds to the Trustee to purchase all of the
Shares required to satisfy the Award. The purchase of Shares is
subject to the maintenance of an orderly market and the Shares
so purchased shall form part of the capital of the trust fund of
the Trust.

The Company shall not instruct the Trustee to acquire Shares
through on-market transactions at the prevailing market price,
where such action (as applicable) is prohibited under the Listing
Rules, the SFO or other applicable laws from time to time.
Where such a prohibition causes the prescribed timing imposed
by the Scheme Rules or the Trust Deed to be missed, such
prescribed timing shall be treated as extended until as soon as
reasonably practicable after the first Business Day on which the
prohibition no longer prevents the relevant action.

m MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2025 Annual Report

32 FE AR QAR ISR > BRI
N 32 o B Ry > B 32 5 AN ZHR 1l AR
N FCBAA 5 1 B AR A A FE DL T
R A I B AE B 0 58 5 I EA
A FHE R BE NS o BT P E S
AT {7 ) B <5 I 52 I BB A 4%
BERD M 32 FE IR 38 FART o WA
BB S A B SO 1 s B R A R 4
R UNCIENE £ Y 3
R Ay o A2 EE AR E
AT LA L B el B B v
B B e ST B B A > AR A FDK
i [0 % 5E T 4R 3t B DA R A
A% JBh By 75 09 A WA o W R 2R
MEFF TS RE T o T T e A B0 K e
AR FERfERE R S EA -

i b TR R R 2R e B A ) ER
AN B R B ) A AR UL AR A LR
15 45 7% 52 58 N % 5 B 1T A AE 35 A 52
oy B LBy (R BRI T 72 ) = il B2l
A 1k BE R A R R AE RE A
JIr 5 R B BT > B BT A E B B R 2
W& BN AE R M B AT B AR
BEHZEGHRLOHE AL -



Vesting of Award, settlement/payment of Award

The Board may from time to time while the Scheme is in force
and subject to all applicable laws, determine such vesting
criteria and conditions or periods for the Award to be vested.

Upon the satisfaction of the vesting criteria and conditions, the
Board may either: (a) direct and procure the Trustee to release
from the Trust the Award Shares to the Selected Participants
by transferring the number of Award Shares to the Selected
Participants in such manner as determined by the Board from
time to time; or (b) to the extent that, in the reasonable opinion
of the Board, it is not practicable for the Selected Participant to
receive the Award in Shares due to potential legal or regulatory
restrictions with respect to the Selected Participant’s ability
to receive the Award in Shares or the Trustee’s ability to give
effect to any such transfer to the Selected Participant, the Board
will direct and procure the Trustee to sell, on-market at the
prevailing market price, the number of Award Shares so vested
in respect of the Selected Participant and pay the Selected
Participant the proceeds in cash arising from such sale based on
the Actual Selling Price of such Award Shares as set out in the
Vesting Notice.

Subject to the Scheme Rules and applicable rules under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules, within a reasonable time period as
agreed between the Trustee and the Board from time to time
prior to any Vesting Date, the Board or its delegate(s) shall
send to the relevant Selected Participant a vesting notice. The
Board or its delegate(s) shall forward a copy of the vesting
notice to the Trustee and instruct the Trustee the extent to
which the Award Shares held in the Trust shall be transferred
and released from the Trust to the Selected Participant in the
manner as determined by the Board or its delegate(s), or be sold
as soon as practicable from the Vesting Date and the payment
of the Actual Selling Price in cash to the Selected Participant in
satisfaction of the Award.
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Cessation of employment and other events

Subject to the Scheme Rules, if a Selected Participant
ceases to be an Eligible Person by reason of: (a) resignation
of the Selected Participant’s employment; (b) termination
of the Selected Participant’s employment or contractual
engagement with the Group by reason of redundancy; (c)
retirement of the Selected Participant; (d) end of the term of
the Selected Participant’s contract for provision of services or
otherwise with the Group; (e) end of the term of the contract
of the Selected Participant’s engagement with the Group
as contractual staff; (f) winding-up of any member of the
Group in which the Selected Participant is employed or is
contractually engaged; (g) death of the Selected Participant;
(h) the employer terminating the contract of employment of
the Selected Participants without notice or payment in lieu of
notice; (i) the Selected Participant having been convicted of
any criminal offence involving his or her integrity or honesty;
or (j) termination of the Selected Participant’s employment or
contractual engagement with the Group by reason of his/her
permanent physical or mental disablement; any outstanding
Award Shares not yet vested shall be immediately forfeited,
unless the Board determines otherwise at its absolute
discretion.

All such Award Shares which are not vested and/or are forfeited
pursuant to the Scheme Rules shall immediately become
Returned Shares, which shall be held by the Trustee and applied
in accordance with the instructions from the Board and the
Scheme Rules for the purpose of the Scheme.

Transferability and other rights to Award Shares
Any Award granted under the Scheme but not yet vested shall
not be assignable or transferable and no Selected Participant
shall in any way sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber
or create any interest in favour of any other person over or in
relation to any Award, or enter into any agreement to do so.
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10.

11.

Interest in the assets of the Trust

For the avoidance of doubt: (a) a Selected Participant shall have
only a contingent interest in the Award subject to the vesting
of such Award; (b) no instructions may be given by a Selected
Participant to the Trustee in respect of the Award or any other
property of the Trust; (c) neither the Selected Participant nor
the Trustee may exercise any voting rights in respect of any
Award Shares that have not yet vested; (d) a Selected Participant
shall have no right to any dividend that has accrued prior to
the vesting of such Award Shares, any Returned Shares or any
dividend of the Returned Shares, all of which shall be retained
by the Trustee for the benefit of the Scheme; (e) a Selected
Participant shall have no rights in the balance of the fractional
shares arising out of consolidation of Shares (if any) and such
Shares shall be deemed Returned Shares for the purposes of the
Scheme; and (f) in the event a Selected Participant ceases to be
an Eligible Person on or prior to the relevant Vesting Date and
the Award in respect of the relevant Vesting Date shall lapse or
be forfeited pursuant to the Scheme, such Award shall not vest
on the relevant Vesting Date and the Selected Participant shall
have no claims against the Company or the Trustee, unless the
Board determines otherwise at its absolute discretion.

Equity issues
If there is an open offer of new securities, the Trustee shall not
subscribe for any new Shares.

If there is a bonus warrant issue, the Trustee shall not subscribe
for any new Shares by exercising any of the subscription rights
attached to the bonus warrants and shall sell the bonus warrants
created and granted to it, the net proceeds of sale of such bonus
warrants shall be held as funds of the Trust.

In the event the Company undertakes a scrip dividend scheme,
the Trustee shall elect to receive the scrip Shares and such
Shares will be held as Returned Shares.

In the event of an issue of Shares by the Company credited as
fully paid to the holders of the Shares by way of capitalisation
of profits or reserves (including share premium account), the
Shares attributable to any Award Shares held by the Trustee
shall be deemed to be an accretion to such Award Shares and
shall be held by the Trustee as if they were Award Shares
purchased by the Trustee hereunder and all the provisions
hereof in relation to the original Award Shares shall apply to
such additional Shares.

In the event of a rights issue, the Trustee shall seek instruction
from the Company on the steps or actions to be taken in relation
to the nil-paid rights allotted to it.
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12.

13.

In the event of any non-cash distribution by reason of which the
Board considers an adjustment to an outstanding Award to be
fair and reasonable, an adjustment shall be made to the number
of outstanding Award Shares of each Selected Participant as
the Board shall consider to be fair and reasonable in order to
prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential
benefits intended to be made available under the Scheme for
the Selected Participants. The Company shall provide such
funds, or such directions on application of the Returned Shares
or other funds in the Trust, as may be required to enable the
Trustee to purchase Shares on-market at the prevailing market
price to satisfy the additional Award.

In the event of other non-cash and non-scrip distributions made
by the Company not otherwise referred to in the Scheme Rules
in respect of the Shares held upon Trust, the Trustee shall sell
such distribution and the net sale proceeds thereof shall be
deemed as cash income of a Share held upon the Trust.

Scheme Limit

The Company shall not make any further grant of Award
which will result in the aggregate number of Shares underlying
all grants made pursuant to the Scheme (excluding Award
Shares that have been forfeited in accordance with the
Scheme) to exceed 10% (i.e. 199,200,000 Shares, representing
approximately 10% of the issued shares of the Company as at
the date of this report) of the total number of issued Shares as at
the Adoption Date without Shareholders’ approval.

Except as otherwise approved by the Board, the total number of
Award Shares which may be granted to a Selected Participant
under the Scheme shall not exceed 5% (i.e. 9,960,000 Shares)
of the total number of issued Shares as at the Adoption Date,
subject to the compliance of the Listing Rules (including the
requirement concerning the maintenance of the public float).

Alteration of the Scheme

The Scheme may be altered in any respect by a resolution of the
Board provided that no such alteration shall operate to affect
adversely any subsisting rights of any Selected Participant
unless otherwise provided for in the Scheme Rules, except: (a)
with the consent in writing of Selected Participants amounting
to three-fourths in nominal value of all Award Shares held
by the Trustee on that date; or (b) with the sanction of a
special resolution that is passed at a meeting of the Selected
Participants amounting to three-fourths in nominal value of all
Award Shares held by the Trustee on that date.
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14.

15.

Termination

The Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of: (a) the end of the
Award Period except in respect of any non-vested Award Shares
granted prior to the expiration of the Scheme, for the purpose of
giving effect to the vesting of such Award Shares or otherwise
as may be required in accordance with the provisions of the
Scheme; and (b) such date of early termination as determined
by the Board.

Listing Rules implications

Given that the Scheme is funded only by the existing Shares,
it does not constitute a share option scheme or an arrangement
analogous to a share option scheme for the purpose of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules.

Since the adoption date of the Share Award Scheme and as at
the date of this annual report, a total of 62,561,000 Shares had
been awarded, representing approximately 3.14% of the total
number of issued Shares of the Company as at the adoption
date. As at the date of this annual report, the Trustee held
a total of 74,779,000 Shares, and the total number of shares
available for grant with regard to Awards under the Scheme
was 74,779,000 Shares, representing approximately 3.8% of the
issued Shares of the Company as at such date.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of Awards
granted under the Scheme during the Reporting Period divided
by the weighted average number of shares in issue for the year
is nil.

As at 31 March 2025, the remaining life of the Share Award
Scheme is approximately 5 years.
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Particulars and movements of the awarded shares (all funded by
existing shares) under the Share Award Scheme during the year
ended 31 March 2025 were as follows:

HE20254F3H31H IH4FEE > O35 8
w1 0T 5 ) A% 0y (R ok B4 %0 42
4 W REE K B R

Closing price
of the shares  Outstanding Granted ~ Fair value of Lapsed/ Outstanding
immediately asat during  awards at the Consideration/ Vested forfeited Cancelled asat
before the 31 March the Year  date of grant  Performance  purchase price during during during 31 March
Category of grantees Date of grant ~ date of grant 2024 (Note 1) (Note 2) target of awards the Year the Year the Year 2025
BERL  RuuE REHAS s
BHAH B3R FARE ERNAYE £BRE EREH 3R31A
REAEH RHiA RithnE  HAGE (Bra1) (WiE2)  BHEE REE £hB R ERdH 1 ]
Directors
g2
Ms. Noletta Chiu 2 April 204 HKS$0.186 - 4980000 HKS926,280 - - 4,980,000 - - -
(Note 3)
#ARKE WAESNE 0186k 926,808 ¢ (W3t
31 March 2025 HK$0.221 - 6,550,000 HKS1,447.550 - - 6,550,000 - - -
(Note 4)
WsERIA 02k 1475501 ¢ (2
Directors’ respective associate - - - - - - - - - - -
EREANREA
Substantial shareholder's associate - - - - - - - - - - -
TERRNEZA
Employees
ks
23 employees 2 April 204 HKS$0.186 - 4346000 HKS808,356 - - 4.346,000 - - -
DR WA 0.186% 2 808,356 72 (Note 3)
(Hrts)
33 employees 31 March 2025 HK$0.221 - 5000000 HKSI,105,000 - - 5,000,000 - - -
BEER WIEAIE 0220 1,105,000 1T (Note 6)
(H3t6)
Total - 20876000 HKS4,287,186 - - 20876000 - - -
it 487,186 1L

81,550,000 shares were available for grant under the scheme
mandate at the beginning of the Reporting Period.

74,084,000 shares were available for grant under the scheme
mandate at the end of the Reporting Period.

Notes:

1. During the year ended 31 March 2025, except Ms. Noletta Chiu who was
granted 11,530,000 shares under the Share Award Scheme, none of the
five highest paid individuals were granted any shares.

2. The fair value of the Awarded Shares awarded was based on the quoted
market prices of the Company’s shares at the grant dates. The equity-
settled share-based payment expense of the Group is HK$3,752,000 for
the year (2024: HK$3,752,000).
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3. The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before the
dates on which the awarded shares were vested was HK$0.186.

4. The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before the
dates on which the awarded shares were vested was HK$0.221.

5. The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before the
dates on which the awarded shares were vested was HK$0.186.

6. The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before the
dates on which the awarded shares were vested was HK$0.221.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of our Group and our Company during the
Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 124 and in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

FIVE-YEAR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of our
Group for the last 5 financial years is set out on pages 218 to 219
of this report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia
(chairman of the Board and chief executive officer)
Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta
Mr. Ma Ching Fung

Non-executive Director
Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson, MH

Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda

Mr. Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP
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Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association provides that at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall
be eligible for re-election. Our Company at the general meeting
at which a Director retires may fill the vacated office. According
to Article 108(b), the Directors to retire by rotation shall include
(so far as necessary to obtain the number required) any Director
who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any
Director who has not been subject to retirement by rotation in the
three years preceding the AGM shall retire by rotation at such
AGM. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those who have
been longest in office since their last re-election or appointment
and so that as between persons who became or were last re-elected
Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise
agree among themselves) be determined by lot. Accordingly, Ms.
Chiu Siu Fung Noletta, Ms. Wong Hang Yee, Jp and Ms. Leung
Chan Che Ming Miranda shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming
AGM in accordance with the Articles of Association. All of the
above Directors will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the AGM.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
our Group are set out on pages 77 to 86 of this report.
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DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION OF
DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1)
OF THE LISTING RULES

Set out below are the changes in the information of the Directors
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing

Rules:

M

@

3

Ms. Lovinia Chiu was appointed as a member of the Culture
Commission since 1 March 2025 and a director of CON-CON
(HK) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
since 15 May 2025.

Ms. Noletta Chiu has been a director and shareholder of
Mind’s I Limited since 6 November 2024.

Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP ceased to be a member of the Audit
Committee of West Kowloon District Authority since 31
December 2024. She was re-appointed as chairman of the
HKSAR Human Organ Transplant Board for a three-year term
with effect from 15 February 2025.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other changes to the Directors’
information as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules since the date of 2025 interim report and up to the
date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS/
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors and the non-executive Director
has entered into a service agreement with our Company, pursuant
to which each of them agreed to act as an executive Director and
non-executive Director respectively for an initial term of three
years commencing from the Listing Date. The term of the service
agreement has been renewed upon the expiry of the then current
term. The service agreement can be terminated by not less than six
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with our Company, pursuant to which each of
them agreed to act as an independent non-executive Director of our
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date. The term of the letter of appointment has been renewed
upon the expiry of the then current term until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other.

None of the Directors (including those proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM) has or is proposed to enter into a service contract
or letter of appointment with our Company or any of its subsidiaries,
which is not determinable by our Company within one year without
the payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates has any
interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete with the
business of our Group during the Year.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The Controlling Shareholders provided a Deed of Non-Competition
in favour of our Company, pursuant to which the Controlling
Shareholders undertook not to, and to procure her/its respective close
associate(s) (as appropriate) (other than our Group) not to, during the
term of the Deed of Non-Competition, either directly or indirectly,
alone or with a third party, engage in, participate in, support to
engage in or participate in any business that competes, or is likely to
compete with any business of our Group.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has reviewed her/its business
and businesses of its respective subsidiaries and has provided a
written confirmation (“Confirmation”) to the Company that she/it
had fully complied with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition
during the Reporting Period. The independent non-executive
Directors had reviewed the Confirmation and are not aware of
any matter concerning the non-compliance of the Deed of Non-
Competition for the year ended 31 March 2025.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements,
no transaction, arrangement or contracts of significance to which our
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which any Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the financial year or at any time
during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF OUR COMPANY OR ANY
OF ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of our Company or any of its associated corporations
(as defined in Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by our Company under Section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code are as follows:

Interests in the shares of the Company
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Approximate
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Class and of the issued

Name of Nature of number of issued Long/ Shares as at

Director interest shares held short position 31 March 2025

) R2025%3A31H

ERITROH EEBTROMN

EEnA EEMtE HRR&ER BKR BMOB DL

Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Interest of controlled 1,434,240,000 Long position 72.00%
Lovinia® corporations ordinary shares

/N 2o 3 PE i 5 P HE i 1,434,240,000 % LISt 72.00%
2

Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Beneficial owner 46,390,000 Long position 2.33%
Noletta ordinary shares

(R B A A 46,390,000 LIt 2.33%
2

Note: Vi

(@)) Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia, the founder, chairman of our Board, an executive
Director and chief executive officer of our Company, holds the entire
share capital of RLA, which in turn directly holds 1,434,240,000 Shares.
Accordingly, Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia is deemed to be interested in the
1,434,240,000 Shares held by RLA.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors
or chief executives of our Company had or was deemed to have
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of our Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which had been recorded in
the register maintained by our Company pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO or which had been notified to our Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, so far as the Directors are aware, the following
persons or corporations (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had interests or short positions of 5% or more in the shares
or underlying shares of our Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:
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Approximate

percentage of

Class and the issued

Name of Nature of number of issued Long/ shares as at

Shareholder interest shares held® short position 31 March 2025

20253 A31H

=] HE#T

ERTROMN IR 43 B9

HRRBBEO "R/ %R BRI

RLA Beneficial owner 1,434,240,000 Long position 72%
ordinary shares

RLA o #E A A 1,434,240,000% L32) 72%

Note: Vi

(€)) All interests stated are long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors are not
aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or short
position in the Shares or the underlying Shares of our Company or its
associated corporation(s) which would require to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336
of the SFO.
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CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Our Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on such
confirmation, our Company considers that all of its independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Group had not entered into any connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which are required
to be disclosed in this annual report pursuant to the Listing Rules.

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, the related party transactions
disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements do
not constitute non-exempt connected transactions or non-exempt
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which our Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which any Controlling Shareholder
of our Company or any of its subsidiaries had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the financial
year or at any time during the Year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2025 was our Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, our Company or any
other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of our Company were
entered into or in existence during the year.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and top five highest
paid individuals of our Group are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2025, our Group had a total of 180 full-time and part-
time employees in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Taiwan, Singapore,
Malaysia and Indonesia.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of our Company is reviewed regularly,
making reference primarily to the market conditions and
performance of our Company and individual staff (including the
Directors). Remuneration package includes, as the case may be, basic
salary, allowances, contribution to pension schemes, discretionary
bonus relating to financial performance of our Group and individual
performance. The remuneration policy and remuneration packages
of the Directors and senior management are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee and the Board, having regard to Director’s
and senior management’s experience, duties and responsibilities,
performance and achievement.

PENSION SCHEME ARRANGEMENT

Our Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) in Hong
Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of our Group
in an independently administered fund. Our Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of our Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a defined contribution
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentages of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of
revenue attributable to our Group’s five largest customers accounted
for 27.7% of our Group’s revenue and the revenue attributable to our
Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 11.2% of our
Group’s revenue.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of
purchases attributable to our Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 73.8% of our Group’s purchases and the
purchases attributable to our Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 23.6% of our Group’s purchases.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates nor any
shareholder (who or which to the best knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the issued share capital of our Company) has
any interest in the top five customers and top five suppliers of our
Group during the financial year.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHER
PARTIES

Our Group recognises the employees as the most important and
valuable assets of our Group. The objective of our Group’s human
resource management is to reward and recognise performing staff by
providing a competitive remuneration package and implementing a
sound performance appraisal system with appropriate incentives, and
to promote career development and progression by appropriate on-
the-job training and providing opportunities within our Group for
career advancement.

The Directors are of view that employees, customers, suppliers and
bankers are the keys to the sustainable development of our Group and
the Company has been maintaining a good relationship with the key
stakeholders.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES RELATING
TO OUR GROUP’S BUSINESS

Our Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
directly or indirectly pertaining to our Group’s businesses. The
following are the key risks and uncertainties identified by our Group.
There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on our Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern. There may be other risks and uncertainties in
addition to those shown below which are not known to our Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in
the future.
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Business Risk

Business risk is the risk related to our business and industry
that deteriorates profitability or affects ability to meet business
objectives. The management of our Group manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

The business performance, results of operations and financial
condition may be materially and adversely affected if:

(i) our Group fails to source high-quality, popular media content/
brands from media content/brand licensors upon terms
acceptable to us or if there is any loss or deterioration of
relationship with our media content/brand licensors;

(ii)) our Group fails to identify sufficient or suitable customers for
our licensed media content;

(iii) our Group fails to identify the market trend and our licensed

media content/brands fail to compete successfully with other

media content/brands;

(iv) acts of piracy and copyright infringement or any type of
infringement, due to technological advances and upgrades, are
prevalent in many parts of the world;

(v) there is any imposition of additional or more stringent laws,
regulations or policies on the distribution of media content by
the PRC government or governments of other regions;

(vi) our Group faces risks related to natural disasters, health
epidemics and other outbreaks of contagious diseases;

(vii) there are changes in the PRC market or economic conditions
resulting from the macroeconomic challenges by the
uncontrollable events, including but not limited to Sino-US
trade war, as our Group partly derives revenue in China.

Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed
internal processes, people and systems or from external events.

Responsibility for managing operational risks basically rests with
every function at divisional and departmental levels. Key functions in
the Group are guided by their standard operating procedures, limits
of authority and reporting framework. The management will identify
and assess key operational exposures regularly so that appropriate
risk response can be taken.
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Investment Risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of occurrence of
losses relative to the expected return on any particular investment.
Key concern of investment framework will be balancing risk and
return across different investments, and thus risk assessment is a
core aspect of the investment decision process. Proper authorisation
system has been set up and detailed analysis will be made before
approving investments. Regular updates on the progress of the
investments of our Group would be submitted to the Board.

Manpower and Retention Risk

Our Group may face the risk of not being able to attract and retain
key personnel and talents with appropriate and required skills,
experience and competence which would meet the business objectives
of the Group. The Group will provide competitive remuneration
package to suitable candidates and personnel.

Financial Risk

Our Group also faces financial risks including foreign currency risk
and credit risk. Details of these financial risks are set out in note 40
to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, if our Group
fails to recoup its minimum guarantee paid to the media content/
brand licensors, the licensed assets may be subject to further write-
down.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company maintained
the public float of its issued shares as required under the Listing
Rules during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY

PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this
annual report, our Company has in force indemnity provisions for
the benefit of the Directors. The permitted indemnity provisions are
provided according to the Articles of Association and our Company
has maintained the directors and officers liability insurance in
respect of potential liability and costs associated with any legal
proceedings which may be brought against the Directors of our
Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Our Group is committed to supporting environmental protection
to ensure business development and sustainability. Our Group
implements green office practices to reduce the consumption of
energy and natural resources. These practices include the use
of energy saving lightings and recycled paper, reduce energy
consumption by switching off idle lightings, computers and electrical
appliances and the use of environmentally friendly products
whenever possible. Details of the environmental policies and
performance are set out in the section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 41 to 76 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, our Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operations of our Company
and its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to
the date of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by our Group or
existed during the financial year.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The details of the use of proceeds for the year ended 31 March
2025 are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 11 to 24 in this annual report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

The Group did not hold any significant investment (representing any
investment in an investee company with a value of 5% or more of the
total assets of the Company as of 31 March 2025) during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

UPDATES REGARDING CYBERSECURITY
EVENT

As disclosed in the interim results announcement of the Company
dated 28 November 2024, in September 2024, the Group identified a
cybersecurity incident which resulted in payments made to falsified
bank accounts. The Group promptly reported to the police, engaged
an independent professional advisory firm for an IT investigation,
and sought legal advice.
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In April 2025, the Board appointed the independent professional
advisory firm to conduct a thorough forensic investigation. It
confirmed the IT investigation that an impersonation scam occurred
at an employee’s email account. Consequently, fraudulent email
payment requests appeared to come from a legitimate vendor,
resulting in payments to falsified bank accounts controlled by
fraudsters. It was further found that (i) there was no evidence
indicating that there was collusion between any Company personnel
and the fraudsters, (ii) no other instances of impersonated
transactions or falsified payments were identified after reviewing
purchase payments for the review period and the account payable
balances as of 31 March 2025, and (iii) there was no indication that
the Company’s financial data integrity is affected aside from this
incident. After the incident, the Group has enhanced its payment
policy and procedures to improve security and verification, including
but not limited to unified payment procedures, heightened approval
steps for payments, multi-level personnel involvement in payment
scheduling and execution, and additional procedures for handling
changes to payment details from vendors.

Based on the investigations’ findings and the information currently
available, the Board considered that (i) there is an estimated loss of
HK$21,333,000 which was charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2025, (ii) this is an isolated
incident with no material impact on the Group’s daily operations,
and (iii) the Group’s financial position remains solid. Following
the investigations’ recommendations, the Group has promptly
implemented most of the enhanced internal controls focusing on
network information security, payment procedures, and cybersecurity
risk awareness.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SHARES

During the Year, neither our Company nor any of our subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of our Company’s listed shares
(including sale of treasury shares), except that the Trustee of the
Share Award Scheme of the Company acquired a total of 13,410,000
shares of the Company on the market for the purpose of the Share
Award Scheme and the grant of the Award Shares. As at 31 March
2025, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 March 2025, our Group did not have any interest-bearing or
external borrowings.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 March 2025, our Group was not involved in any material
litigation or arbitration, and no material litigation or arbitration was
pending or threatened or made against our Group so far our Group is
aware.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

Our Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of our Company’s
securities.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event of the Group which requires disclosure
since the end of the Reporting Period.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2025 have been audited by Ernst & Young, who will retire at the
conclusion of the AGM. Ernst & Young, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment
of Ernst & Young as the independent auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia
Chairman
26 June 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report

e
EY::

To the shareholders of Medialink Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Medialink
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 120 to 217, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZEEHRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNETEEBARETBTENGE

Net realisable value of licensed rights

RENEEFE

As at 31 March 2025, the Group recorded licensed rights
of HK$334,252,000, representing approximately 34.4%
of the total assets of the Group. Significant management
judgements and estimations are required in assessing the
net realisable value of the licensed rights, with reference
to the ageing analysis, historical sales pattern, expectation
of future saleability of the licensed rights based on current
market conditions and other specific attributes that might
have an impact on the sales projections.
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The relevant accounting policy, significant accounting
judgements and estimates and disclosures are included
in notes 3.2, 4 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.
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In evaluating management’s assessment, our procedures
included: (i) obtaining an understanding of the net
realisable value assessments made by management;
(ii) reviewing the licensed rights ageing report; (iii)
obtaining evidence of subsequent sales of the licensed
rights, on a sample basis; and (iv) assessing the
reasonableness of the sales projections prepared by
management, on a sample basis.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BMREEITER

Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZEETHRE

ERETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNETEERRFTSENGT E

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B 5 WK EN R E G

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had trade receivables
of HK$214,236,000, representing approximately 22.1%
of the total assets of the Group. Significant management
judgements and estimations are required in assessing the
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for the trade receivables,
with reference to the ageing profile of the trade
receivables, historical credit loss experience and both the
current and forecast general economic conditions at the
reporting date.

R20254E3H31H >, B EBEWHE 5 B R KHL
214,236,000 7T - ft  BAEEEE B A122.1% © #F
HoRUCREMNENGEER(RABEEBR) A2
% 5 RENCGRIE I IR B 40 &~ @ 1 M5 B e 1E A B S ik
e H 3 TSR TR A R B A IR A KA A
BRLAf FE o

The relevant accounting policy, significant accounting
judgements and estimates and disclosures are included
in notes 3.2, 4 and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

AH R B TR  E K8 R ) R Al s DA R 38R 4
T R A RS RR B RE3.2 ~ 422 -

With the assistance of our internal specialists, we
evaluated management’s impairment assessment of
trade receivables and our procedures included: (i)
obtaining evidence of subsequent settlements for trade
receivable balances, on a sample basis; (ii) evaluating
management’s assumptions used to determine the
ECLs through testing of the underlying information
in the ageing reports and assessing the historical
credit loss experience of the debtors as well as the
forward-looking factors with reference to the related
publicly available information; and (iii) assessing the
adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in relation to
trade receivables included in the consolidated financial
statements.

TEBRA A Z BT - FA R AL S B E S 5
R WS T B R A - FRAM B AR T RS ¢ ) DA AR
77 SIRAG B T E WSCR JE 45 B L AR &5 SRR 4 5 (i) RF
fili & R A R E TR Bl R RS - ik A T
il MR % % 15 R B AR B B A B N R SRS B R
28 B DA B %8 2 2% A B 2 BA AT A9 S Y IR RS R
Fe(iii)af Al 5 56 T B 58 Ak 5 B 5 oK T U ) e
WORIER A B SRR B RER -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZEEHRE

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
SO.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

m MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2025 Annual Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

O Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 B RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chung Chi Ming (practising certificate number:
P06758).

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

26 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
GEBREER

Year ended 31 March 2025
BHZE2025F3A31HILLFE

2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$’000
FExT T o
Revenue g = 6 647,806 488,809
Cost of sales 5 AR (337,825) (252,941)
Gross profit E A 309,981 235,868
Other income and gains, net HAb e A Rkt 4 7 10,016 8,783
Selling and distribution expenses B B B Ay 8 BR SZ (113,388) (75,828)
General and administrative expenses — % I AT BUBH % (66,332) (64,280)
Other expenses, net HoAth B S 4R (88,627) (46,391)
Finance costs Pl % AR (241) (293)
Fair value gain/(loss) on investment in B Al e B 5 0
a convertible bond NFEW
(&5 18) 431 (428)
Share of results of a joint venture and an  MEAG—H] & &% & —
associate ] B 8 > SE AR 2,523 318
Profit Before Tax R B A A 8 54,363 57,749
Income tax expense JT 45 Bt B 52 11 (2,052) (8,786)
Profit For The Year Attributable to RKATRREEER
Shareholders of the Company s 52,311 48,963
Earnings Per Share Attributable to PN R R
Shareholders of the Company BRER 13
Basic and diluted BTN HK 2.7 cents HK 2.6 cents
278 Al 2.6 %Al
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SEEHEWNER

Year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025%3A31HLEE

2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHT Tt
Profit For The Year FRER 52,311 48,963
Other Comprehensive Income/(Losses) Htt2mEmkE (EiE)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss it £ A ] W] 5 #r 7 851
in subsequent periods: BESMWIEH
Exchange differences on translation of AN ET E AR
foreign operations e 58, 7= %R 28 (1,094)
Share of other comprehensive losses of a JEAG — P & 8 A 26 o & T
joint venture i 15 (6) (18)
22 (1,112)
Total Comprehensive Income For ARAERRREMGFRAZEHK S
The Year Attributable to Shareholders of wa
the Company 52,333 47,851

202558 BAEEARAT m



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRIR R

31 March 2025
A2025%3H31H

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT Tt
Non-Current Assets kERBEE
Goodwill 7 14 29,709 29,709
Property, plant and equipment W3~ W m K 15 10,124 14,119
Intangible assets A T 16 6,455 8,700
Investments in media contents WA ERE 17 3,335 15,355
Investments in a joint venture and an BER—HMEBERER
associate — [H B 45 A 2 18 10,180 4,543
Investment in a convertible bond Al e AR R R E 19 — 5,369
Deferred tax assets % SiE Bl JA & 31 327 81
Deposits % 4 23 126 1,409
60,256 79,285
Current Assets REBEE
Licensed assets PG 20 334,252 359,929
Inventories HE 21 6,713 6,511
Trade receivables B 5y JE W K IH 22 214,236 223,803
Prepayments, deposits and AT E - HE K
other receivables A JE i R TH 23 13,706 15,764
Due from a joint venture JE Wi — ] & & A 36 3 24 — 556
Investment in a media content HEANERE 17 11,399 —
Tax recoverable Al i [B] B IH 4,571 =
Cash and cash equivalents B MBS EY 25 326,393 235,727
911,270 842,290
Current Liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B 5 M AT IR 26 166,087 165,865
Accruals and other payables JRE it 2 ) e At R AF 3K IH 27 103,781 73,848
Contract liabilities HH AR 28 76,522 81,067
Lease liabilities HE AR 29 4,174 5,394
Tax payable JRE A+ 6 IH 4,277 2,236
354,841 328,410
Net Current Assets REBEERE 556,429 513,880
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities EERERRBAEE 616,685 593,165
Non-Current Liabilities ERBERE
Lease liabilities GRS 29 549 4,134
Provision 55 30 1,311 1,311
1,860 5,445
Net Assets EEFHE 614,825 587,720
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A BRI R

31 March 2025
20253 H31H

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$°000
FTERT Tt
Equity R &
Share capital i A 32 19,920 19,920
Reserves it i 33 594,905 567,800
Total Equity EREE 614,825 587,720
Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia Ma Ching Fung
/N BIE#
Director Director
#HH Ea
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREER

Year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31HLEE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

ARARFESE
Shares held
under the Share
Share share award Exchange
Issued  premium award scheme Capital Other fluctuation  Retained
capital account scheme reserve reserve reserve reserve profits
RERR Rk
Rt REH8  R@iE AE
BRfTRE  REER HENRG i EARE HURE RIBE REEN ait
Notes ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000
Wi TEx  TEx  TEx  TEx  TEx  TEx T T T#x
(note 34)  (note 34) (note 33)  (note 33)
(H7E34) (H7E33) (W)
At 1 April 2023 120234 471R 19,920 190,054 (11.874) 584 41501 (85) (624) 319871 565,437
Profit for the year A - - - - = = — 48963 43963
Other comprehensive loss for the year: ERihamER:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign ~ #t 5 ¥ Sh S T 25 A O D 2 6
operations — - — — — — (1,094) — (1,094)
Share of other comprehensive losses of a joint El-HeatERATER
venture — — — — — — (13) — (13)
Total comprehensive income for the year A G A — — — - - - (L,112) 48,963 47851
Purchases of shares for the share award scheme 5 ¢ 3 3% B 71 81 B8 B 3 — — (4.175) — — — — — (4,175)
Vested shares under the share award scheme RERBEBFHNCFERE 4 - - 2510 1,42 - - = = 3,752
Dividends & 12 - - — — — - - (25,145)  (25,145)
At31 March 2024 and 2045331
at 1 April 2024 202444 A1H 19920 190054 (13,539)* 1,826 47,591 85 (L736)* 343,689 587,720
Profit for the year R - - - - - - - 5311 5311
Other comprehensive income for the year: ERIEBARIA:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BRIEREENEL 2R
operations - - - - - - 23 - 2
Share of other comprehensive losses of a joint El-HeatERtATER
venture - - - - - - (6) - (6)
Total comprehensive income for the year ERAT S S H - - - - - - n 5231 5,33
Purchases of shares for the share award scheme 4 ¢ 5 &1 BB 5t 34 - - 2,197 - - - - - 2,197
Vested shares under the share award scheme RERGEBHNCRERE 4 - - 2,649 1,638 - - - - 4,287
Dividends S 12 - - - - - - - (27318)  (27,318)
At 31 March 2025 20253 A31H 19920 190,054% (13,087 3Ae4*  47,591% (85 (71 368,682F 614,825

& The consolidated reserves of HK$594,905,000 (2024: HK$567,800,000) in the #
consolidated statement of financial position comprise these reserve accounts.

TE &5 A B R DL 28 R 19 %5 A it #5594,905,000
#E 7T (20244F © 567,800,000 75 ) 61 & 5% 25 f%
ﬁE °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

RETHFBRERE

Notes

B A

=AN ==
Ta Iﬁﬁ)}lbi%
Year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025%3A31HLEE

2025
HK$’000
FRET

2024
HK$°000
T

Profit before tax B i 117 Y6 ) 54,363 57,749
Adjustments for: DA £5 A A R
Interest income FIE e A 7 (8,066) (8,430)
Finance costs Fil A R A 8 241 293
Share of results of a joint venture and an JE AL — A & & A 2 K
associate — [H] B 5 A 26 2L 4 (2,523) (318)
Share-based payment expenses DAty B Bt 2 AT B 8 4,287 3,752
Depreciation of right-of-use assets HAREENE 8 5,392 5,590
Depreciation of items of property, W ME KA EE W
plant and equipment 185 8 1,322 2,098
Amortisation of intangible assets I Y E 8 1,939 3,674
Impairment of intangible assets TV 8 1,034 643
Impairment of trade receivables & ) M 31 TE I AE 8 2,884 1,117
Reversal of impairment of trade B 5 1 U K T (L 43 [
receivables 8 49) (1,382)
Write-off of trade receivables B 5 JE WA K TE B 8 8 17 —
Write-down of licensed rights to net 5 HE sk 2RI 5 B (E
realisable value, net iR 8 64,324 40,009
Fair value losses on investments in media A AERE N AT E
contents, net &5 48 1 #H 6 621 2,452
Fair value (gains)/losses on investment in Al R S RE
a convertible bond B G 18 431) 428
Write-off of property, plant and W - 55 B s A
equipment 8 — 44
Write-back of trade payables 2 5y e A 1 43 [ 8 (1,622) —
Gain on termination of a lease AR FH B A Uk 25 8 — ®)
123,733 107,711
Increase in licensed assets 5% WE & 7E 38 in (38,671) (69,827)
Increase in inventories 17 & 1 (386) (4,622)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables B 5 I i R TE B 7 (i 6,175 (31,840)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TS FH T’” i 4 S A Fﬁ% llﬁ
deposits and other receivables HIE W D (B ) 6,532 (4,743)
Decrease in an amount due from a joint JRE i — ] & A 2 R T W D
venture 556 48
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 5 AT T3S I (D) 4,641 (19,223)
Increase in accruals and other payables J&E =t & ,ﬂ\:ﬁﬁ JRE AT 2k TH
4 m 30,289 1,151
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities AR A () 4,411) 11,988
Hong Kong profits tax paid, net LA & ok A A5 B (7 5 2,273) (3,049)
Overseas taxes paid B A 5 4B IE (2,241) (946)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) RETEHRE(FTARE
operating activities REFH 123,944 (13,352)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n‘/—_r\ IE@UH:E%E

Year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31HLEE

2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTERT T TT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REFHFMEBHERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received EAEiIPE 8,066 8,430
Purchases of items of property, plant and 3= 7] % T 5 Bt
equipment X A T H (1,946) (894)
Purchases of intangible assets I B Y (740) (4,598)
Additions to investments in media contents 3% fifl i 8 A 75 % & — (1,894)
Return of investments in media contents Js: DNEAES < g Q| — 7,975
Investment in an associate P& — [B W A 2 (3,120) =
Investment in a convertible bond 5 AT R 1R — (5,797)
Withdrawal of/(placement) of time deposits 2t/ (I [5]) A 17 il IF JR A7
with original maturity over three months O =08 A A E AR
X 7,502 9,732)
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing BREEFHRE (FFA)RE
activities REFHE 9,762 (6,510)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METDREBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of shares for the share award iR 0y 5% 8 w1 E B
scheme Ji& 1 34 2,197) 4,175)
Lease payments GEN=ER 35(b) (5,855) (6,082)
Dividends paid 2t & B 35(b) (27,318) (25,145)
Cash flows used in financing activities METHAARERE
g (35,370) (35,402)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN RERBREZEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS D FE 98,336 (55,264)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  4F ¥] Bl & & Bl & %5 H Y
of the year 225,995 281,742
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ 2 5 &) 5 % (75 %) (168) (483)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRAESRAEEEY
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 324,163 225,995
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRBRSZBYULEHBR I
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances B4 T SR AT &5 B8R 25 207,541 209,341
Time deposits E WA 3K 25 118,852 26,386
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the B 7 i B 5 IR 0 2% 1 B R
consolidated statement of financial position i 4 % & ¥) 326,393 235,727
Less: Time deposits with original maturity J8 : i 77 il IF¢ )f \ﬁ,)\ﬁﬂ i
over three months =R A 2 B A 3K (2,230) 9,732)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the  F1| 75 A B 4 Ui & 35 19 B & &
consolidated statement of cash flows e S EY 324,163 225,995
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Medialink Group Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands.

The principal place of business of the Company is located at
Suites 1801-6, 18/F., Tower 2, The Gateway, Harbour City, 25
Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

On 31 December 2024, the address of the registered office of
the Company was changed from Third Floor, Century Yard,
Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902, Grand Cayman, KY1-1103,
Cayman Islands to P.O. Box 31119 Grand Pavilion Hibiscus
Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman KY1-1205 Cayman
Island.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), the immediate holding company and the ultimate
holding company of the Company is RLA Company Limited,
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the Company’s subsidiaries were involved in the following
principal activities:

U media content distribution and investments in media
content production (“Media Content Distribution
Business™)

. brand licensing (“Brand Licensing Business”)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of incorporation/
registration and business

AR/

AfMRERLE

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital
BREE/
ARRE

1. REAIREEER »

i B AR &
Ay w) WY Ja 2N ) RE AR s AR

Principal activities

Medialink Entertainment Holdings
Limited
RAREERARAF
Medialink Licensing Holdings
Limited
RAREERARAA
Medialink Investment Holdings
Limited
ARREERARAT
Medialink Animation International

Limited
AEE (AR HRAA

Medialink Entertainment Limited

RAREARAT

Medialink Holdings Limited

RABBRARAR

Medialink (Far East) Limited

Medialink (Far East) Limited

Medialink Brand Management Pte
Limited

Medialink Brand Management Pte
Limited

Medialink Brand Management
(Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

Medialink Brand Management
(Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

m MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED

The British Virgin Islands
ERETHE

The British Virgin Islands
EREGHE

The British Virgin Islands
HHE QR

Hong Kong

&k

Hong Kong

&k

Hong Kong
&k
Hong Kong
&k

Singapore

s

Malaysia
R

2025 Annual Report

uss
1£7
Ussl
E
uss!
E
HKS2

2T

HK$10

103 7T

HKS1,000
1,000 7t
HK$2

2T

SGD10

1057 3%

Ringgit Malaysia |
IEREEA &

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company
ARAEEER
Bal
Direct Indirect
A&
100 —
100 —
100 —
100 —
100 —
100 —
— 100
— 100
— 100
— 100
— 100
— 100
— 100
— 100
— 100
— 100
— 100
— 100

[nvestment holding
REER

Investment holding
[nvestment holding

BREER

Sub-licensing of brands; sales of merchandises;
and provision of licensing agency services

u%ﬁ%f%é% SRS kAR R R
#

Distribution of licensed media content; sub-
licensing of brands; theatrical release; sales
of merchandises; provision of licensing
agency service and investments in media
content production

BRERRRRRET BTSN B
B i | SR 0O AR R
WA RIS

Investment holding and investments in media
contents

AR L RRAA A

Sub-licensing of brands; sales of merchandises;
and provision of licensing agency services
u”nﬁ%ﬁ&"fé S R R R

Provision of licensing agency services;
sub-licensing of brands; and sales of
merchandises

%%ﬁ%ﬁiﬂﬂﬁ%; f B 5 B o B

Provision of licensing agency services; and
sales of merchandises

RO R



1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place of incorporation/
registration and business

AL/

SMREEHY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital
BRTEE/
ARRA

Direct

R

AR B RARRTRE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

1. PEAIREEER W

M B~ EE R )

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

ADARE RS

Btk
Indirect

A&

Principal activities

EX:33

#

Medialink (Shanghai)
Co., Limited*

AAEE (B (L)
BRAR

Medialink Cultural & Creative
(Beijing) Limited*

AR AR (L 7)
ARARE:

Medialink Cultural & Creative
(Guangzhou) Limited*

AR AIERE (BN
FRAH:

Medialink Pacific Limited
Medialink Pacific Limited

Medialink (Asia) Limited*
P (T A TR W

Whateversmiles Limited

Whateversmiles Limited

Whateversmiles L2 4
Whateversmiles 2 22 4t
PT Medialink Brand Management

PT Medialink Brand Management

People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”)/Mainland
China

GEINE
(TehE ) /B st

PRC/Mainland China

/B

PRC/Mainland China
B/
The British Virgin Islands

LREAHE

Samoa

T

Hong Kong

B

Japan
A&
Indonesia

o

US$850,000
850,000 ¢
RMB10,000,000
ARE
10,000,007

RMB10,000,000

N
10,000.0007C

Uss1
1%

Uss1
%7

HK$100

100 7¢

JPY5,000,000
5,000,000 H

10,000,000,000
Indonesian rupiah
10,000,000,000
e &
44

These companies are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises established

under PRC law

— 100
— 100

— 100
— 100

Provision of sales, marketing and
administrative support services to group

companies
ﬁ%@/\?%ﬁféﬁ‘* il 8 AT B

’IRH

Media content distribution; theatrical release;
sub-licensing of brands; and investments in
media content production

AR A BEAT 5 SR e B R S R
BENARERY

Sub-licensing of brands; and provision of
licensing agency services

R RE 5 f (0 1R

Inactive

iR

Investment holding

Investment holding; sub-licensing of brands;
provision of licensing agency service sales
of merchandise and investments in media

content production
SR MR £ B R R
BommHE R RN RS

Investments in media content production; and
sub-licensing of brand

BRAARERE: RMARHE

Sub-licensing of brands; retail trading; and
events and exhibitions

HHW‘E?‘%’ = DEE’ &{aﬁ&%ﬁ

8 7% 2 Al AR A e R ik A A S 2 — [T A0 7
T A 2

202558 BAEEARAT m



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 21 R EE

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Companies Ordinance, Cap 622, laws of Hong Kong
(“Companies Ordinance”).

The financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis and under the historical cost convention,
except for investments in media contents and investment in a
convertible bond which have been measured at fair value. They
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all amounts
are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$’000) except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to owners of the parent of the Group and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and
recognises the fair value of any investment retained and any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards for the first time for the current year’s
financial statements.

Lease Liability and a Sale and
Leaseback

Classitication of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to
HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

2.1

2.2

AR B RARRTRE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards are described below:

(@)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group
has no sale and leaseback transactions with variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
occurring from the date of initial application of HKFRS
16, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that
a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022
Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying
with future covenants within 12 months after the reporting
period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of
its liabilities as at 1 April 2024 and 2025 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-
current remained unchanged upon initial application of
the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(c) Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended
to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. As
the Group does not have supplier finance arrangements,
the amendments did not have any impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

3.1 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRS Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are
not yet effective, in these financial statements. The Group
intends to apply these new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?
HKEFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures?
Amendments to HKFRS  Amendments to the Classification
9 and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS  Contracts Referencing Nature-
9 and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity®

Amendments to HKFRS Sale or Contribution of Assets between

10 and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability'
HKAS 21

Annual Improvements to  Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS Accounting HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72
Standards — Volume
11

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

5
o

3.1
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

3 EEMERMARERNEE
MR E ST ER W

3.1 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

Further information, about those HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been brought
forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18
introduces new requirements for presentation within the
statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and
subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income and
expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of the
five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes
and discontinued operations and to present two new defined
subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-
defined performance measures in a single note and introduces
enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) and the location of information in both the
primary financial statements and the notes. Some requirements
previously included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation
of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance
of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments
are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33
Earnings per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.
In addition, there are minor consequential amendments to
other HKFRS Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and the
consequential amendments to other HKFRS Accounting
Standards are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2027 with earlier application permitted.
Retrospective application is required. The Group is currently
analysing the new requirements and assessing the impact of
HKFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s
financial statements.

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other HKFRS
Accounting Standards. To be eligible, at the end of the reporting
period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS
10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public
accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate)
that prepares consolidated financial statements available for
public use which comply with HKFRS Accounting Standards.
Earlier application is permitted. As the Company is a listed
company, it is not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19. Some of
the Company’s subsidiaries are considering the application of
HKFRS 19 in their specified financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.1 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to
the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
clarify the date on which a financial asset or financial liability
is derecognised and introduce an accounting policy option
to derecognise a financial liability that is settled through
an electronic payment system before the settlement date if
specified criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to
assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial
assets with environmental, social and governance and other
similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments
clarify the requirements for classifying financial assets with
non-recourse features and contractually linked instruments.
The amendments also include additional disclosures for
investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial instruments
with contingent features. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with an adjustment to opening retained profits
(or other component of equity) at the initial application date.
Prior periods are not required to be restated and can only
be restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier application
of either all the amendments at the same time or only the
amendments related to the classification of financial assets
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity clarify the application of the
“own-use” requirements for in-scope contracts and amend the
designation requirements for a hedged item in a cash flow
hedging relationship for in-scope contracts. The amendments
also include additional disclosures that enable users of financial
statements to understand the effect these contracts have on
an entity’s financial performance and future cash flows.
The amendments relating to the own-use exception shall be
applied retrospectively. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use of hindsight.
The amendments relating to the hedge accounting shall be
applied prospectively to new hedging relationships designated
on or after the date of initial application. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
shall be applied at the same time. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact to the Group’s financial
statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

3 CEMEERERNER
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3.1 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss
resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective
date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed
by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.1 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the
accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS
9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

. HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph
B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs IG1, 1G14 and IG20B
of the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for the
purpose of simplification or achieving consistency
with other paragraphs in the standard and/or with the
concepts and terminology used in other standards. In
addition, the amendments clarify that the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate
all the requirements in the referenced paragraphs of
HKFRS 7 nor does it create additional requirements.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

J HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify
that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability
has been extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the
lessee is required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS
9 and recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or
loss. In addition, the amendments have updated certain
wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix
A of HKFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

. HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of
various relationships that might exist between the investor
and other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor,
which removes the inconsistency with the requirement
in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

3.1 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

. HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments
replace the term ‘“cost method” with “at cost” in
paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the prior deletion
of the definition of “cost method”. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in a joint venture and an associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in a joint venture and an associate
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of a joint venture and an associate is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, respectively.
In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the joint venture or associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its joint venture or associate are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investment in the joint venture or associate, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of
the assets transferred.

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of a joint venture or an
associate is included as part of the Group’s investment in a joint
venture or an associate.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or
joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or the
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over
the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EEGHHEME

(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continuea)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investments in media contents and
investment in a convertible bond at fair value through profit or
loss at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than licensed
rights, deferred tax assets and financial assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in
use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EEGHHEME

(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(1)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i1) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;
or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Related parties (continued)

(b)

(Continued)

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EEGHHEME

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

5% to 10%
Over the shorter of the lease
terms and 3 years

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% to 33'/3%
Computer equipment 30% to 33'/3%
Motor vehicles 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the assets may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Media content commercial rights, computer software and brand
licensing contracts are stated at cost less amortisation and any
impairment losses. Media content commercial rights under
production include production costs, costs of services, direct
labour costs, facilities and raw materials consumed in the
creation of media contents. Upon completion and available for
commercial exploitation, these media content commercial rights
under production are reclassified as media content commercial
rights.

Media content commercial rights and brand licensing contracts
are amortised based on the proportion of actual income
earned during the year to the total estimated income. Media
content commercial rights under production are accounted for
on a project-by-project basis and are stated at cost less any
impairment losses. The computer software is amortised on a
straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 5 years.

The Enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) system under
development is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is
not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate category of
intangible assets when completed and ready for use.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

RE BRI

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the

right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated

useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leased properties

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the

estimated useful life of the asset.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b

©

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as
an expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are presented separately in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

r e B AR RE

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value through
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial assets’ contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group has certain investments in media contents, each of
which entitles the Group to receive a fixed rate of return or
minimum amount of return based on the Group’s investment
amount as specified in the respective investment agreements.
All investments in media contents which give rise to cash flows
that are not solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding are stated at fair value through
profit or loss.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows. Financial assets which are not held
within the aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (consinued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Consinued)

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host;
a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is
required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (consinuea)

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of any
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms. The amount of ECLs is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since the initial
recognition of the respective financial instruments.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

The Group always recognises lifetime ECLs for trade
receivables and measures the lifetime ECLs on a specific basis
according to management’s assessment of the recoverability of
an individual receivable. Management considers the number
of days that an individual receivable is outstanding, historical
experience and forward-looking information to determine the
recoverability of the trade receivable.

Financial assets, other than trade receivables, at amortised cost
are subject to impairment under the general approach and they
are classified within the following stages for the measurement
of ECLs.

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 1 —

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 —

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal

to lifetime ECLs
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EEGHHEME

(Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information, that
is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking
information considered includes the future prospects of the
industries in which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from
financial analysts, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligation;

J an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

J an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligation.

Despite the aforementioned, the Group assumes that the credit
risk of a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:
(i) it has a low risk of default (i.e., no default history); (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term; and (iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (consinued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

Based on historical experience, the Group considers that default
has occurred and additional credit risk mitigating measures will
be taken when the instrument is more than one year past due.
In certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual

reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

. it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g., when the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedure, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made
are recognised directly in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EEGHHEME

(Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings and payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Licensed assets

Licensed assets relate to media content distribution rights and
brand sub-licensing rights (collectively “licensed rights”)
granted by licensors to the Group over a definitive licence
period.

Licensed rights are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices
less any estimated costs to be incurred to disposal.

When the Group has signed the licensing agreements and when
the licence period has yet to begin, these acquisition costs are
recorded as prepayments included in “Licensed assets”.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on the estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EEGHHEME

(Continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

J in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, a joint venture and
an associate, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

J when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

U in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, a joint venture and an
associate, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of each reporting period.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

r e B R AR R

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same tax authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grants will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised when the Group has fulfilled the
obligations stated in the contracts, and when the Group has
transferred control over relative goods or services to the
customer, on the following bases:

Media Content Distribution Business

The Group distributes media contents including animation
series, variety shows, drama series, animated and live-action
feature films and other video content, which are licensed from
third party media content licensors, to customers. Content
licensing agreements entered into with the media content
licensors for definitive licence periods give the Group the
rights to sub-license the right of use of the media content to
other third parties. The Group then enters into contents sub-
licensing agreements with customers for periods that fall
within the licence periods covered by the agreements between
the licensors and the Group. Pursuant to the sub-licensing
agreements, the Group grants exclusive or non-exclusive rights
for the customers to use the media contents (sub-licensed from
the media content licensors) in certain territories.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 32 XESHBRBME W

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (conrinued) REEFEHZW A @

Media Content Distribution Business (Continued) REABEZRITERE (1)

As the Group takes the primary responsibilities for content H A A 2 R I TR 7S PR IR R R BE Y &2

sub-licensing arrangements, including selecting the customers, BEAL > HIEPEEES - AR RN

providing the media content, and controlling specifications of 25 T AL T TN 2 T R RE 48 BE R RS (6

the content sub-licensing arrangements, including the pricing Tﬁ BEATMEAS N HE) » R B 55

and territories of distribution, it considers itself as a principal s A NS N | L

in such arrangements. Accordingly, revenue is recognised on a %Efﬁ PR o R 4 R R B AR TE T

gross basis, which is the amount that reflects the consideration ME AN EENETESFMA

to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for RE S B B ACAE o 19 25 552 BE o s 5T B

transferring the promised media content to customers. The JE ASH 15 B 7R 5 A% 4 O Y A B 4 AE DU

relevant amounts to be paid to the media content licensors as PHE A AN -

stated in the content licensing agreements are recorded in cost

of sales.

(a)  Distribution of licensed media content (a) TR
The Group recognises revenue from the distribution of ARAEBPRST A LR BT A R
media content at the point in time when all the following I FH) 2 e 0 465 B O 25 AT T A5
criteria are met: (i) there is persuasive evidence of a Wtk O)AFETER B B R %
sub-licensing arrangement with a customer exists; (ii) PRI B3 70 3 88 5 i) 2 R it
the media content has been delivered or has been made HRANASCHEEF ARG -
available for the customer’s right to use and there is no oA S [ 3 40 3 28R A B A
requirement for significant continued performance by the L 5 (i) & PR R E B
Group; (iii) the sub-licensing period of the arrangement Us > & 7 AT B bR 5 A RN
has begun and the customer can begin its exploitation of g &(iv)ﬁ& E 2 A0 AT i (e
the media content; and (iv) the collectability of the sub- P E A R o

licensing fee is reasonably assured.

(b) Distribution of feature films (b) FITREEAZ

Income from the distribution of feature films represents BT R A E XTSI A R
the Group’s share of box office sales from films exhibited B A B B B ﬁﬁ H K
in cinemas, after the deduction of direct taxes and charges ﬁ 7 S [ R AL R B e L )
in relation to the exhibition. The Group’s share of income ERERWA - A 4 H RE AL
is determined in accordance with the sharing ratio A TR 5 A 4 1 B R e 2 ] At
mutually agreed between the Group and the cinemas. [ 1 o 1) 48 2o HC A1) 17 7 G o
Income from the distribution of feature films is BITREEXLTBIARNTS
recognised at the point in time when all the following UT{P‘#FF B R THT ZE FE R (D) 7R
criteria are met: (i) the films are exhibited in cinemas; (ii) B 5 BE L 5 Q) IR A 4 B
the amount of income can be measured reliably; and (iii) HbT;E FH & M Gin) EZ 5 %
the collectability of the entitled proceeds is reasonably TE 2 ] g ] % BE A BT 2 o
assured.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Brand Licensing Business

The Group obtains various rights to use third-party owned
brands, which may include certain merchandising rights,
location-based entertainment rights and promotion rights,
and generates revenue by either sub-licensing the use of
these brands to customers or acting as an agent for the brand
licensors.

(@

Sub-licensing of brands

Brand licensing agreements entered into with the
brand licensors for definitive licensing periods give the
Group the rights to sub-license the brands to other third
parties. The Group then enters into brand sub-licensing
agreements with customers for periods that fall within
the licensing periods covered by the agreements between
the licensors and the Group. Pursuant to the sub-licensing
agreements, the Group grants non-exclusive rights for
the customers to access the brands for the categories of
stipulated products or consumer promotions and activities.
The Group receives fixed and non-refundable amounts or
minimum guarantees in advance from the sub-licensees
and recognises the amounts over the sub-licensing periods
as stipulated in the relevant agreements with the sub-
licensees. In addition, the Group also earns additional
sales-based royalties when cumulative royalties are in
excess of the minimum guarantees and these additional
royalties are recognised as revenue when the minimum
guarantees are exceeded on a cumulative basis.

As the Group takes the primary responsibilities for the
brand sub-licensing arrangement, including selecting the
customers and controlling the specifications of the brand
sub-licensing arrangements, including the pricing and
territories of distribution, it considers itself as a principal
in such arrangements. Accordingly, revenue is recognised
on a gross basis, which is the amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring the promised right of use to
a customer. The relevant royalties to be paid to the brand
licensors as stated in the brand licensing agreements are
recorded in cost of sales.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Brand Licensing Business (Conzinued)

(b) Provision of licensing agency services
The Group also provides integrated licensing agency
services to licensors in return for agency service fees
which are based on a certain percentage of the total
royalties received or receivable by the licensors. The
integrated licensing agency services mainly include (i)
identifying potential licensees; (ii) negotiating terms of
contracts with licensees on behalf of the licensors; (iii)
assisting in promoting brands on behalf of licensors; and
(iv) collecting royalties’ fees on behalf of the licensors.
These services are rendered by the Group over the
licensing periods of the relevant licensing agreements and
the agency service fees are recognised as revenue over
time.

The Group has evaluated and determined that it is not the
primary obligor in the services rendered and is therefore,
acting as an agent in the arrangements. Accordingly, the
Group recognises its revenue on a net basis, which is the
Group’s share of the total royalties earned by licensors.

Included in the sub-licensing of brands and the provision
of licensing agency services, the Group delivers materials
for the events organised by the Group’s customers and
provides holographic approval stickers/labels to sub-
licensees as approval of their products. The Group
recognises revenue at the point in time when control of the
assets is transferred to the customers, which is on delivery
of the materials or holographic approval stickers/labels.

(c) Sales of merchandise
Income from the sales of licensed merchandise is
recognised at a point in time when the control of the
assets is transferred to the customers, i.e., delivery of the
merchandise to the customers.

Revenue from other sources

Investments in media contents are measured at fair value
through profit or loss with gains or losses arising from net
changes in fair value of such financial instruments recognised
as revenue from other sources in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EEGHHEME

(Continued)

Other income

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis, using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Shares held under the Share Award Scheme

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by
the Company or the Group are recognised directly in equity
at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity
instruments.

Share-based payments

The Group operates a Share Award Scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group may receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payment, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-
settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees and non-
employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
the share awards are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expenses, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing
of an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

Employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EEGHHEME

(Continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Pension schemes (Conrinued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentages
of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as
a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries outside Hong
Kong are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates that approximate to those
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of these
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

Principal versus agent considerations

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to its customer, the Group determines whether it is a principal
or an agent in these transactions by evaluating the nature of its
promise to the customer. The Group is a principal and records
revenue on a gross basis if it controls the promised goods or
services before transferring them to the customer. However, if
the Group’s role is only to arrange for another entity to provide
the goods or services, then the Group is an agent and will need
to record revenue at the net amount that it retains for its agency
services. The Group controls the goods or services when it has
the ability to direct the use of, and obtain substantially all the
remaining benefits from, the goods or services. This includes
the ability to prevent others from directing the use or obtaining
the benefits of the goods or services.

Current tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in multiple jurisdictions.
The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of its
transactions in accordance with prevailing tax regulations
and makes tax provision accordingly. However, judgement
is required in determining the Group’s provision for income
taxes as there are many transactions and calculations of
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, the differences will impact on the current tax and
deferred tax provision in the periods in which the determination
is made.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continuea

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Further
details are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Non-financial assets with finite useful lives
are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction
of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows. Further details are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Net realisable value of licensed rights

The Group performs regular review of the carrying amounts
of licensed rights with reference to ageing analysis and other
specific assessments including projections of expected future
sales based on historical sales patterns and other specific
attributes, and management experience and judgement. Based
on such review, write-down of the licensed rights will be made
when the estimated net realisable value of the licensed rights
decline below their carrying amounts.

Due to changes in market and economic environment and
customers’ preference, actual saleability of licensed rights and
actual selling prices that could be realised might be different
from the original estimation and profit or loss could be affected
by differences in this estimation.

Impairment of trade receivables

The provision rate of receivables is made based on assessment
of the recoverability and ageing analysis of the receivables
as well as other quantitative and qualitative information and
on management’s judgement and assessment of the forward-
looking information. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customers’ actual default in the future. Information about the
ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 22 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has two
reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the media content distribution segment which comprises
distributions and investments in media contents including
animation series, variety shows, drama series, animated
and live-action feature films and other video contents; and

(b) the brand licensing segment which comprises (i) obtaining
various rights to use third-party owned brands, which
include certain merchandising rights, location-based
entertainment rights and promotion rights, and sub-
licensing the use of these brands to customers; and (ii)
acting as an agent for the brand licensors.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax.
The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit before tax except that interest income
and unallocated gains, depreciation, share of results of a joint
venture and an associate and other corporate and unallocated
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deterred tax assets, property, plant and
equipment, an investment in a convertible bond, investments in
a joint venture and an associate, cash and cash equivalents, tax
recoverable and corporate and other unallocated assets as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities, tax payable,
lease liabilities and corporate and other unallocated liabilities
as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

5.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MIEE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. &= 5 &R w

(Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2025 B ZE202553H31BLLFE

Brand
licensing

m 1 R #gr
HK$°000 HK$’000

Media content
distribution

R

Total

RERT
HK$000
TER TR TER

Segment revenue: il 106
Sales to external customers (note 5(a)) [ S0 5 0 8 4 (I 2t S(a) 355,026 293,401 648,427
Fair value losses on investments in media BE ﬁi&ﬁq A A H

contents, net 18 5 A (621) — (621)
Total 5 354,405 293,401 647,806
Segment results DHEE 22,334 61,014 83,348
Reconciliation: Eol
Share of results of a joint venture and B A — ] % b 3 R

an associate —[MgEtEER 2,523
Interest income and unallocated gains FLE A T & 4 B iR 4 9,873
Depreciation & (6,714)
Other corporate and unallocated expenses L fth 4 38 T K 43 i B 3¢ (34,667)
Profit before tax B B Al e A 54,363
Segment assets PHEE 485,874 122,862 608,736
Reconciliation: E2) 55 .
Investments in a joint venture and an BRER—HaEEEL—H

associate Wi A \ 10,180
Corporate and other unallocated assets 1 3 T H A o 4y i 352,610
Total assets A E 971,526
Segment liabilities AHEE 188,936 132,090 321,026
Reconciliation: B
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 43 & E Al 4 73 fd & fi& 35,675
Total liabilities ARRE 356,701
Other segment information: Hih 2 WEH
Amortisation of intangible assets T G 3 1,820 - 1,820
Impairment of intangible assets W G (i 1,034 — 1,034
Impairment of trade receivables 2 5 WE Wi 3 I U8 195 2,689 2,884
Write-off of trade receivables 52 5 JE M 3k T A — 17 17
Write-back of trade payables 2 5 e A TE 4[] — (1,622) (1,622)
Reversal of impairment of trade receivables & 5 M it 5 JA i L 8¢ [ (30) 19 49)
Write-down of licensed rights to net FAE O 2 T B

realisable value, net N B8 53,838 10,486 64,324

Capital expenditure* A B 5 486 — 486
* The capital expenditure relates to the purchase of intangible assets and & A B S B R R B IR N

investments in media contents.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. && 2 & & w

(Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2024

B ZE2024F3831HLLEE

Media content Brand
distribution licensing Total
i o \
K247 riln 4% HE At
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T# T T ¥ 7T Tt
Segment revenue: 72U A
Sales to external customers ] S0 &8 & 5 ) 8
(note 5(a)) (Fff 5% 5(a)) 324,947 166,314 491,261
Fair value losses on investments in % %fﬁ%%ﬁq P /NS
media contents, net i 18 1 BE (2,452) — (2,452)
Total HE 322,495 166,314 488,809
Segment results o EBEE 41,527 33,766 75,293
Reconciliation: HR
Share of results of a joint venture A — ] & 78 A 2 3 A 318
Interest income and unallocated gains S U A K & 7 BL UK %5 8,451
Depreciation e (7,6838)
Other corporate and unallocated HoAth A 2 Je R 43 i B 52
expenses (18,625)
Profit before tax I o AT ¥ 57,749
Segment assets DEEE 528,780 127,701 656,481
Reconciliation: HR
Investment in a joint venture HE-HEEMRE A3
Corporate and other unallocated assets 4> 28 T HoAth 7R 43 Wie = 260,551
Total assets % A 921,575
Segment liabilities oMEE 188,121 117,340 305,461
Reconciliation: B -
Corporate and other unallocated i 3 T H At 3R 43 i A AR
liabilities 28,394
Total liabilities =R 333,855
Other segment information: Hitr 7 3B &E # -
Amortisation of intangible assets M & /& fif & 3,585 — 3,585
Impairment of intangible assets Y WU 643 — 643
Impairment of trade receivables B 5y JRE S R TE 410 707 1,117
Reversal of impairment of trade B2 5 IR Wi K T Y {43 [
receivables 4 . (1,167) (215) (1,382)
Write-down of licensed rights to net 3 HE i ¥ == 7] 5 51
realisable value, net TR (A 38,160 1,849 40,009
Capital expenditure* A BH 3+ 5,676 — 5,676
& The capital expenditure relates to the purchase of intangible assets and & A B S BB R A B RN

investments in media contents.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MIEE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

S8

REDTHER @

i 13 & ¥
@ XKEINIBEFHK

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$°000

FHET Tt

Hong Kong s 113,449 121,822
Asia (except Hong Kong) a2 (B 7 W5 41 400,077 197,934
Americas and Europe 3 Y A R 134,901 171,505
648,427" 491,261"

Excludes fair value changes in investments in media contents, net

The revenue information above is based on the locations

of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

PR S AR e g INPAR IR

CREE

b7 i AR B R %S BT TE

A

(b)) #¥REBEE

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$°000

THERT T TT

Hong Kong s 50,594 49,389
Asia (except Hong Kong) a2 9 (B 75 W5 41 5,874 7,682
56,468 57,071

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes financial assets and

deterred tax assets.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)
Information about major customers

Revenue from external customers contributing over 10% to the
total revenue of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2025

and 2024 is as follows:

Customer A

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

KEFIER w

EBREXEEFHNESR

i A 4 [ % 2 20254F M 20244F3 H31H
1B B A £ 48R R R 10% B 2 B A1 ER
&5 i a5 8 A

2025

2024
HK$°000
Tt

HK$’000
FiE T
EFA

72,863 51,929

REVENUE 6. Wz
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$°000
T T 7
Major product or service lines FEERERBER
Media Content Distribution Business TR 75 BT T
Distribution of licensed media contents BEAT I ME A 242,969 292,683
Distribution of feature films BORREY 112,057 32,264
355,026 324,947
Fair value losses on investments in media BEHEEAEN N TH
contents, net 5 48 T B (621) (2,452)
354,405 322,495
Brand Licensing Business i W 1 T S T
Sub-licensing of brands ol L 193,517 92,763
Provision of licensing agency services fi AL 52 M A P R 5 31,087 34,088
Sales of merchandise £ 8 7 68,797 39,463
293,401 166,314
647,806 488,809

202553 HHEEERAT RN




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MIEE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

6. REVENUE (Continued) 6- LI& E (%)
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT T# T
Geographical locations i3y B
Media Content Distribution Business 18 A B AT
Hong Kong 7 s 73,282 90,811
Asia (except Hong Kong) a9 (BR & s 41 169,174 87,620
Americas and Europe & Y AN IR 112,570 146,516
355,026 324,947
Brand Licensing Business i W 18 HE 6 T
Hong Kong 7 Uk 40,167 31,011
Asia (except Hong Kong) a9 (BR s A1) 230,903 110,314
Americas and Europe 2 Y A0 R 22,331 24,989
293,401 166,314
648,427" 491,261"
Excludes fair value changes in investments in media contents, net. A AL PG N 2 N T {H 5 BT

HH o
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

6. REVENUE (Continued) 6. LI& E& (#F)
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$°000
F#& T T T
Timing of revenue recognition e 58 UK 2R 1Y B
At a point in time A Iy i B e 3R
Media content distribution TR 1A 25 FEAT
Distribution of licensed media contents BEATIZHE IR A 242,969 292,683
Distribution of feature films BITR A EY 112,057 32,264
Brand licensing i W1
Sub-licensing of brands i L T 2 97,254 24,194
Provision of licensing agency services P 4t 4 4 A 2R AR 9,303 8,003
Sales of merchandise 5 & 7 i 68,797 39,463
530,380 396,607
Over time 7 1R [H] B e 52
Brand licensing 17 W1 T
Sub-licensing of brands i L P 2 96,263 68,569
Provision of licensing agency services P At 52 HE A 2R IR 5 21,784 26,085
118,047 94,654
648,427* 491,261*
S Excludes fair value changes in investments in media contents, net. * NELEE 15 I TN A N P (B AR TR A o
7. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 7. HtARK=RFRE
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$°000
FE T T ¥ oo
Bank interest income SRAT A E e A 8,066 8,430
Government subsidies (note) R 6 B (B 5E) 413 —
Interest from a convertible bond & nl 46 K 55 R B 926 256
Other interest income HoAth A B i A 404 —
Others HoAth 207 97
10,016 8,783
Note:  There were no unfulfilled conditions relating to these subsidies. Bt - A B A R NI AS A7 AE AT AT A JB AT I R A

i B oA o

202553 HHBEEERAT IRNL]




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MIEE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. BR B Al E Al
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ 7 4 8 bR B AT W A TS 0ER(GEA) T
(crediting): -SRI
2025 2024
HKS$’000 HK$°000
T T L
Auditor’s remuneration 1% S il 357 2,993 2,205
Cost of goods sold and services rendered JT B B B o Ak TR B Y
A 336,005 249,356
Depreciation: e
Right-of-use assets i FRE & 5,392 5,590
Property, plant and equipment S/ E N P
B 1,322 2,098
6,714 7,688
Amortisation of intangible assets* 9 T E e 1,939 3,674
Lease payments not included in the Kt A EAETEN
measurement of lease liabilities B AT 3K 925 423
Employee benefit expenses (including = EER S ACORAE &
directors’ remuneration (note 9)): 3 (Bt 5E9)) -
Salaries, wages, allowances and bonuses e LE - BN
fE 4T 86,098 79,121
Pension scheme contributions (defined HRRFTHI AL 3K (AL E k3K
contribution schemes)** ah ) 5,747 5,225
Share-based payment expenses DAy o B Bl 2
A5F 3K B 32 4,287 3,752
96,132 88,098
Foreign exchange differences, net A HE 2 4H {5 41 292 5,960
Write-off of property, plant and equipment* ERN NG € — 44
Write-off of trade receivables® B Ty R WA K T L 17 —
Gain on termination of a lease AR FH B AUk 25 — 8)
Impairment of intangible assets* SIS R 1,034 643
Impairment of trade receivables* & 5y M Wi 2% VB A * 2,884 1,117
Reversal of impairment of trade receivables* & 5 € Wi #IH 2 {E 3 [ * 49) (1,382)
Write-down of licensed rights to net realisable 4% ’f? it {iﬁ ESCIE 5]
value, net* T (E 64,324 40,009
Finance costs — interest on lease liabilities Rl A — FHE B E A S 241 293
Write-back of trade payables* B 5 IRE AT TE 3% ] + (1,622) =
Other operating loss*" A 55 5 g 48 21,333 —
# Includes HK$1,820,000 (2024: HK$3,585,000) in respect of amortisation # R B I B R 2 T 2L ME ORI OBE B
of media content commercial rights which is included in “Cost of sales” 1,820,000 7T (20244F : 3,585,000 71 >
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. AL ARG R ERA] -
* These amounts are included in “Other expenses, net” in the consolidated * WL HN IR EEATH AL &
statement of profit or loss. (7F%E)] -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

AR B RARRTRE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (consinued) 8. BR®LATE M 4
*ok There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the e HE 8 B 152 A 1) AL 3 mT e AR 4 LR R O R
employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. JH LA e A B8 A AR R OK HE o
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group identified a BE 20253 H31H IE4FFE > AL M35 B
cybersecurity incident which resulted in payments made to falsified — IR A R A R A R
bank accounts. The Group promptly reported to the police, engaged T 2 MRS A SRATHR P o A% 42 18 2 R ¥R
independent cybersecurity and forensics experts to conduct investigation, o THB LML TR R A E R
and sought legal advice. Based on the investigation, the board of the WS ORIE RS - RIBWHAE - AL
Company considers there is an estimated loss of HK$21,333,000 and it A #E H e 5 121,333,000 00 - W E
was charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year FEA R 2 20254F3 H31H 1E4F B #Y o ) il
ended 31 March 2025. Hlfr iR R -
9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. EEHM
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to 48 A W B 5 28 5 T A BR A ) /8 55 |
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock AR 2 A 9 55 383(1)(a) N
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and () K (F) M LA B 2N 7] (4 57 5 FH F 32
(f) of the Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies i“{r) H RIS 2R B 2 BT 4 i 2 AR N R
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Fman T
Regulation, is as follows:
2025 2024
HK$’00_0 HK$’OO£)
THER T T
Fees I 4 825 795
Other emoluments: HAth T 5 o
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e > RN CE WY AR A 13,493 14,146
Performance related bonuses* B 3% B AT B 2 AL AL+ 5,915 4,130
Share-based payment expenses DA 053 27 2 B 2 AF 3K
B EIZ 2,374 2,980
Pension scheme contributions AR PR 3 (R
(defined contribution schemes) ) 102 102
22,709 22,153
* Performance related bonuses were endorsed by the Group’s remuneration & B R BLA B Z AL AL T3 58 3 I %= 5 & vl )
committee and approved by the Board with reference to the Group’s N K8 o S 2 R AR ] AN AR Vi R B A
current year profit and the individual performance of the directors. £ R (PN
(a) Independent non-executive directors @ BIXHTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors S S F BUAT S AR A
during the year were as follows: B
2025 2024
HK$’0(!) HK$’O@
THER T T
Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda R+ 275 265
Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson, MH WS IARSE A (BB ) 275 265
Mr. Wong Kam Pui, BBS, JP B Y G AR (B 4R ] AL
E N =) 275 265
825 795

There were no other emoluments payable to the

AR > 7R AR R A T 48 57 JF

independent non-executive directors for the year (2024: AT 2 A 5 (20244 -
Nil). %) »
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MIEE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

9. DIRECTORS, REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and a non-executive
director

The remuneration of each of these directors set out below
includes those recorded in the financial statements of the

9. EEHM
(b) HITEERIHITES

RS R POk Ay
ACIEUEE SN

subsidiaries.
Salaries, Share-hased
allowances, and Performance payment  Pension scheme Total
Fees  benefits in kind  related bonuses expenses  contributions  remuneration
fie BHRE H%%  URAARER
fie WEN  BBZEA ZHEEY BAHELR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T i i i T T
2025 2025
Executive directors: aEs:
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin, Lovinia @/ - 6,152 5,446 - I 11,640
Ms. Chiu Siu Fung, Noletta ~~ #/VEL & £ - 3957 469 2374 ) 0,842
Mr. Ma Ching Fung RE&#LE - 1,683 - - 18 1,703
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Ms. Wong Hang Yee, IP wERT L (ATHL) - 1,699 - - - 1,699
- 13493 5915 2374 102 21,884
2024 2024
Executive directors: AnEs:
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin, Lovinia ~ #/MfE& & - 6,766 3,05 = ) 10,063
Ms. Chiu Siu Fung, Noletta ~ #/VBL & £: — 4127 469 2,980 4 7618
Mr. Ma Ching Fung RE&#LEE = 1,620 2 = 18 1,908
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Ms. Wong Hang Yee, IP wERL L (ATHL) = 1,633 136 = = 1,769
- 14,146 4130 2,980 102 21,358

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year
(2024: Nil).

During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group
to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2024:
Nil).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group included 3 (2024:
4) directors of the Company, whose remuneration are set out in
note 9. Details of the remuneration of the remaining 2 (2024: 1)
highest paid employees who are not a director of the Company
are as follows:

AR B RARRTRE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

10. EEBRESHFHNES
AEFBRZEESFMESBSE =4
AN ) (20244 0 U 45) - %
I R SO R o AN FIE
RN T R (Q0244F  — &) =
R B A IR T

2025 2024

HK$°000 HK$°000

T& T DR TH

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind A EEN KE Y AE A 2,936 1,620

Discretionary bonus 915 1 AL 1,402 270
Pension scheme contributions FER NG I RE LT

(defined contribution schemes) (Bt 3K st #) 197 18

4,535 1,908

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

1,500,001%5 7T % 2,000,000 % 7©
2,000,001#5 7T %.2,500,000 % 7G 2

ot P A DL 6 1 ) JF S e e
LRSS PNE U

Number of employees

BEAH

2025 2024

11. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2024: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary of
the Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime effective from the year of assessment
2020/2021. The first HK$2,000,000 (2024: HK$2,000,000) of
assessable profits of that subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2024
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%
(2024: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in
which the Group operates.

11. FrE#H

T s A 15 Bl O 4% A 4F B R B W E
AR 4G R RE B B T A 1916.5% (2024
A1 16.5%) 7T A o M A 4R — [
[y /N 0 A BN K el =
2020720215 B 47 BE 8 A 250/ W 51 il
FI A5 Bl B - 5% E A A
JE F5 B % A 19 12,000,000 TT (2024
AF 12,000,000 7C) $%8.25% (2024 4F :
8.25%) Bl R AL - Mifik T ME LB s
1:16.5% (20244F : 16.5%) #f Bt o H At
i 55 ) JRE S B s ) 4% AN 4 [ 488
TEB R /R I ) BLAT B R G BB
1:3 o

2025 RAKEERAF
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31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

11. FT BB

11. INCOME TAX (Continued)

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$°000
TER T# T
Current — Hong Kong RUHE — 7 s
Charge for the year N X 479 6,577
Underprovision/(overprovision) in prior MEFEBEMEAL
years (68 B 43 ) (1,733) 1,292
Current — Elsewhere B3 — A Hh [
Charge for the year EN X 4,091 998
Overprovision in prior years i AT R R R (712) —
Deferred (note 31) 8 FE (B 5E31) (73) 81)
Total tax charge for the year AE N BT 3 HE R 2,052 8,786

DA 7% B 0 A 6 A1) 3fe LA 2 A B 3R B
$e A 45 T A B PR B S B0 B 2
H A B R

A reconciliation between profit before tax multiplied by the
applicable tax rate to the tax charge at the Group’s effective tax
rate is as follows:

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$°000
F#& T T TT
Profit before tax B L Al 6 A1) 54,363 57,749
Tax at the domestic rates applicable to i 0 A 4 ] 58 % B 7E BB K
profits in the jurisdictions where the /) RE R G R 2 7 A
Group operates Rat B W BLIH 10,548 9,821
Tax effect of: Tl TEL 5 28
Income not subject to tax 78 SR e A (1,401) (2,170)
Profits and losses attributable to a joint —[H A& A S — W E
venture and an associate 4 2 1 A5 i A K 18 (416) (52)
Tax credit for PRC withholding tax HH (] TE 0B Y Bl TE K e (5,304) (3,852)
Expenses not deductible for tax A ] 0B B B 1,431 4,251

AL A A 39 TH] B o I T AR

Adjustments in respect of current tax of

previous periods i B (2,445) 1,292
Unrecognised temporary differences I T R Y IR R R 123) (488)
Others HoAt (238) (16)

Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax rate & 7% 5 B B B Bl R 51 B 1
Bl TH 37 i 2,052 8,786

The share of tax attributable to a joint venture and an associate
amounting to HK$272,000 (2024: HK$11,000) and Nil (2024:
Nil), respectively, is included in “Share of results of a joint
venture and an associate” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.
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12. DIVIDENDS

The dividends paid by the Company
are as follows:
Dividends declared and recognised as
distribution during the year:
Interim dividend for the year —
HK1.09 cents (2024: HK0.89 cent)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

12. RE
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET DR TH
AROEE AT BB -
AN E R MR RR By A Uk
i E
AE RS — A
B 1.09% 11l

per ordinary share (20244F : 0.89 35 Ail1) 21,713 17,729
Less: Dividend for shares held under the 3 : R 4% A% {5 28 J& 51 & £F
Share Award Scheme A0y 2 BB (895) (659)
20,818 17,070
Final dividend for the year ended 31 B 20243 A31H 1- 4 FE
March 2024 — HKO.32 cent (2023: AR e E— T R A
HKO0.42 cent) per ordinary share 0.32#5 Il (20234F : 0.42
Al 6,374 8,366
Special dividend for the year ended 31 # E 202443 H31H L4 &
March 2024 — HKO0.02 cent (2023: RIS — 5 13 i
Nil) per ordinary share 0.02#5 il (20234 = 4%) 398 —
Less: Dividend for shares held under the 3 : R 4% % {3 28 J& 51 & £F
Share Award Scheme H By 2 BB 272) (291)
6,500 8,075
27,318 25,145
Dividends proposed after the end of the A AR AR R E IR RS
reporting period:
Final dividend — HKO0.28 cent (2024: KB — 5 B 2 i
HKO0.32 cent) per ordinary share 0.28¥%5 1l (20244F : 0.32
Al 5,578 6,374
Special dividend — Nil (2024: HK0.02 TR S — 48 (2024 4F :
cent) per ordinary share 0.02%5 il — 398
5,578 6,772

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025
is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders (the
“Shareholders”) at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

HEE IR E 20254331 H IF4EE
) AR B R B ZE R AR A R ISR (AR BR )
A E i B PR A K & ik o o
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2025%3H31H

13.

14.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended
31 March 2025 is based on the consolidated profit for the year
attributable to sharecholders of the Company of HK$52,311,000
(2024: HK$48,963,000), and the weighted average number of the
Company’s ordinary shares of 1,913,063,474 (2024: 1,916,926,290)
outstanding during the year as adjusted to exclude the shares held
under the Share Award Scheme of the Company.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024 as the Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares
outstanding during those periods.

GOODWILL

Goodwill g

13.

14.

RRARRRELEERER

B E 20253 H31H 1 4F B A AL 3
A B R T B A AR A R R A AR A
&% A s A52,311,000% JT (20244F -
48,963,000 7T ) Il A 4F BE N A 2\ 2
BEAT A B RE T35 %01,913,063,474
B (20244 : 1,916,926,290 %) (55 3 4%
DA HE Bk AR B A N w0y 5% B 51 B R
HH B 5THE -

H A8 £ 20254F % 202443 H31H 1E4F
A 2 [ 4 B VE A U B
BEAT MW A o BN 4 BT 2 B
5% 5 WA T A g R AR R o

[k

2025 2024
HK$’000

T 7T

HK$°000
FET

29,709 29,709

Goodwill arose from the acquisition of Medialink Animation
International Limited (“MAIL”) in August 2018 and is
allocated to the brand licensing cash-generating unit.

Impairment testing of goodwill

The recoverable amount of the brand licensing cash-generating
unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on a 5-year financial forecast
of MAIL approved by senior management. The discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is 13.0% (2024: 13.0%).
The long term annual growth rate used to extrapolate the cash
flows of the brand licensing cash-generating unit beyond the
five-year period is assumed to be 2.5% (2024: 2.5%).

The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

m MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2025 Annual Report
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14.

15.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

GOODWILL (Continued)

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average
gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year, increased for expected efficiency improvements,
and expected market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the brand licensing unit.

In the opinion of the directors, any reasonably possible changes
in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is
based would not cause the brand licensing cash-generating
unit’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14.

15.

AR B RARRTRE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

BE w

THE E R R — F DA E TH B E A R
{8 {1 L e 5 254 7H BLAF R BT — 4R
Br 22 B -3 B A R s IR ER0R
P2 TF K T w1 5 BE 8 M g om o

B A — B G B R T BR BLAT > 3
J W B ity R 5% M R A B Y o L

FXAEO

RS o R AT W E R A B
YA AT & B AT AE S B I OR & 2
i A B 4 7 AR R Y R T (L B
FLAT i [E] R

Furniture,
Right-of-use Leasehold fixtures and Computer
assets Buildings  improvements equipment equipment  Motor vehicles Total
Bl %E
EREXE B BENZEE k3% SHRE RE L
HK$000 HK§'000 HK$000 HEK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tién Tin TiEn Tin Tin TéEn Tin
31 March 2025 2025%3A31H
At 1 April 2024: RU4EAIR:
Cost Wk 30,736 10317 295 1,549 4438 1397 51,389
Accumulated depreciation BHIE (20,667) (7,860) (2452 (1,306) (3,588) (1,397) (37,270)
Net carrying amount i A 10,069 2437 500 bl 850 - 14,119
Additions KE 809 - - 50 916 980 2,755
Depreciation for the year ERfrk (5,392) (233) (267) (204) (543) (73) (6,714)
Exchange realignment EiA% - (16) (1) - () - (36)
At31 March 2025 K205 E3A3H 5486 2,206 m 8 1214 0 10,124
At31 March 2025: RSEIRIIA:
Cost Hik QK 10,281 2938 1,59 5330 23m 54,007
Accumulated depreciation BAHE (26,059) (8,075) (2,716) (L,507) (4,116) (1470) (43943
Net carrying amount IR 5486 2,06 m 89 L4 907 10,124

202558 BAEEARAT m



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MIEE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ¥ - BERKEw

(Continued)

Furniture,
Right-of-use Leaschold ~fixtures and Computer
assets Buildings  improvements equipment equipment  Motor vehicles Jell

R KR

ERERE g7 MREE Rt f it it
HKSO0  HKSO00  HKSON  HKS00  HKSO00  HKSO0  HKS000
T T T i T T T

31 March 204 224E3431A
At 1 April 2023: RA0E4RIR
Cost i 28,800 10832 2803 1507 3938 1397 4919
Accumulated depreciation ZitihE (15,077) (7420) (1962) (1,067) (3,139) (1,397) (30,062)
Net carrying amount TR i (A 1373 3412 843 440 799 = 19217
Additions HE 1882 — 30 52 54 — 276
Lease modification figBN 449 — — — — - 449
Depreciation for the year FRiTE (5,590) (78) (591) (253) (467) - (7,088)
Termination of a lease RIEE (399) — — — — — (395)
Write-off filsh - - () — — — )
Exchange realignment Eim% = (168) @) 4 24 = (19)
At31 March 2024 043 31H 10,069 2457 500 W 850 = 14,119
At 31 March 2024: 200443 A31H
Cost IS 30,7136 10317 2950 1,549 443 1397 51,389
Accumulated depreciation it (20,667) (7,360) 245 (1,300) (3,588) (1,397) (37,270)
Net carrying amount TR A 10,069 2451 500 W 850 - 14,119
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31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. B EE

Media content
commercial Computer Brand licensing
rights (note) software contracts ERP system Total

RERAHE e B tRER
R (&) EhEtt GL THRER it
HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HK$'000
T T Fibn T T

31 March 2025 2025€3A31R
Cost at 1 April 2024, net of accumulated  §20244F 41 H B A -

amortisation and impairment Bk 25t 8 B 7,644 260 - 796 8,700
Additions WNE 486 88 — 166 740
Amortisation during the year LANEINS 3 (1,820) 92) - 27 (1,939)
Impairment during the year* A Ry (1,034) — — — (1,034)
Exchange realignment e 3t % (12) - — - (12)
At 31 March 2025 2025434310 5,204 256 - 935 6,455
At 31 March 2025: 12025530318 -

Cost A 55,679 817 8,037 962 65,495

Accumulated amortisation and ZatE R

impairment (50,415) (561) (8,037) 27) (59,040)

Net carrying amount B A 5,264 256 - 935 6,455
31 March 2024 WA4F3A3A
Cost at 1 April 2023, net of accumulated 5202344 1H M % »

amortisation and impairment M 2o 5 R 8,253 329 — — 8,582
Additions NE 3,782 20 — 796 4598
Amortisation during the year AR {4 (3,585) (89) - - (3,674)
Impairment during the year* BE R (643) — — — (643)
Exchange realignment I 5 1 % (163) = = = (163)
At 31 March 2024 202443 H31H 7,644 260 — 796 8,700
At 31 March 2024: 12024531311 :

Cost F A 55,244 729 8,037 796 64,806

Accumulated amortisation and 2t R

impairment (47,600 (469) (8,037) — (56,106)
Net carrying amount W i (8 7,644 260 — 796 8,700

202558 BAEEARAT m
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RE SRR MIEE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (coninuea 16. ML EE w0

Note:  The Group has invested in certain media content production projects, Htat: AEBECRERS THENERNEEE -

where the Group is entitled to certain distribution rights and/or other
commercial rights (including copyrights) of related media contents
and/or share of profit in accordance with the terms stipulated in the
respective agreements. The Group intends to exploit the distribution
rights or other commercial rights through its own distribution channels
rather than through sales of the rights.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, an impairment loss of
HK$1,034,000 (2024: HK$643,000) was recognised in respect of the
media content commercial rights as no future economic benefit was
expected from a programme right of a certain title of the Group, which
reduced the recoverable amount of the media content commercial
rights. As at 31 March 2025, the recoverable amount of the media
content commercial rights was determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections approved by management.

The impairment loss was recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and included in the “Media Content Distribution”

T8 A A% AR T AT R AR 8 2% B ok P B E 1Y
0k I Ak A Bl B R R0 2 1) 3 T AT HE
Be /5 H: Al 1 3 A (6L 4 R RE) DL J%
B A e AS 4E B AR A B gk
AT R R T 425 A B R 2R B 85 AT
PHE = Al e 2 HEF o

#E20254F3A31H 1L 4E > Bk TE
A A5 ) 5 — BT A RE A £ OB A 6 Al
2 A AR A R o A M N 2 P
HE I f9 T i e 5 A U o R A A TR
75 T 36 R R W BT 5 951,034,000 7
JG (2024 4F : 643,000 7)) © 4202543
H31H - 158 79 25 v 26 0 R B m] ol [m] 4
R R R A R o Y B & O R T
7 (85 AR (L T O 7l o

BE M T A E AR R A SR R TR
HE R AT O

segment.

17. INVESTMENTS IN MEDIA CONTENTS 17. EBABRKRE
A [ 1L B 1 2 HE R B B LA

Movements in investments in media contents during the year
are as follows:

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$°000
FTERT T 7
At the beginning of the year, net i AE W) E 15,355 23,888
Additions B4 — 1,894
Return of investments & g ml — (7,975)
Net losses from fair value adjustments o V- B W RS 0 e 1R 5 AE
(note 6) (Bt 5k 6) (621) (2,452)
At the end of the year, net A K 14,734 15,355
Analyses into: Gy HT B
Current portion R 3R 356 7o 11,399 —
Non-current portion FE RP 1A 43 3,335 15,355
14,734 15,355
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AR B RARRTRE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

17. INVESTMENTS IN MEDIA CONTENTS  17. BB ABZTRE «w
(Continued)
The Group has invested in certain media content production AEBCHRES TERBRNERIEE
projects of which the Group is guaranteed by the respective H > 7547 5 B4 & I8 N 2 AR
media content producers for a fixed rate of return or minimum PR 78 AT A AE K 8 I T B AT I EE
amount of return after the release of the media contents within FoX 3 ZEAT VAEE & SR IR & i
the specified periods. In addition, the Group is also entitled WAk > A 4R F TR A RE AR BB 45 1 R Y
to certain distribution rights of related media contents as Fi € JE 15 A BRI N A 0 T 8 AT
stipulated in the respective agreements. o
The Group’s investments in media content production projects AEBHHEBANAERIEHEANRE
are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or Bl 53 B ¥ N 7B 7 iR 4E 4 51 HR Y
loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of SREE > THRZEREEEN S
principal and interest. # B 4 & N I AR 5 ST AR B I

FE -
18. INVESTMENTS IN A JOINT VENTURE 18. RER—BE&E ¥R —

AND AN ASSOCIATE

e B b 3¢

Joint venture Associate Total

AL E B st
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
THx THx THEx THc THExT T
Share of net assets JE A & 2 T E 5,278 2,587 1,811 — 7,089 2,587
Goodwill on acquisition WX MEEE A M 1,956 1,956 1,135 — 3,091 1,956
Total Mt 7,234 4,543 2,946 — 10,180 4,543

On 14 February 2023, the Group acquired a 49% equity interest
in Sunrise eMarketing Limited (“Sunrise”) at a consideration
of HK$4,000,000. Sunrise is primarily engaged in trading,
wholesales and ecommerce of licensed products. It acts as the
Group’s business partner in developing and distributing licensed
products to Greater China and Southeast Asia. In the opinion of
the directors, the acquisition of Sunrise was made as part of the
Group’s strategy to expand its market share of anime products.
Sunrise is accounted for as a joint venture using the equity
method as the decisions about the relevant activities of Sunrise
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

202342 H14H > 7 48 [ i i 18 1 R
F B A RA A (T 49% B HE >
fRAE £54,000,000% 7T o KR = EAE S
BHrEmmE s - B REFELE -
o7 A 4R H A K b % R g AR BH 8E
Koy sHfsarE MM ER B - HE
VI T8 PR N AR NN
BERTSHEREN—2 - |
A BEEA B IS B R TR
HEERREN ST —HEE > BSOS R
AEEAREREEMNE-

2025 RAKEERAF

187




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MIEE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

18. INVESTMENTS IN A JOINT VENTURE
AND AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

On 31 May 2024, the Group acquired 10% equity interest in S11
Partners Limited (“S11”) at a cash consideration of US$400,000
(equivalent to HK$3,120,000). S11 is primarily engaged in
the production, development, management, licensing, and
distribution of entertainment contents, as well as related
activities such as script development and talent management.
Based on the proportion of voting rights held by the Group,
the Group considers it is in a position to exercise significant
influence over S11 and, accordingly, S11 is accounted for as an

investment in an associate using equity method.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s joint venture and associate that is

not individually material:

Joint venture

R
2025 2024
HK$'000 HKS$'000
TE T
Share of profit/(loss) MM 4 A1 A~
for the year (f548) 2,697 318
Share of other JRE A L Ath, 4> T
comprehensive loss 5 18 (6)
Share of total JEEAG 2 T 75
comprehensive (5 18) A 8H
income/(loss) 2,691 300

Carrying amount of the 7% £ [ % &

Group’s investments

T T

W 1] {H 7,234 4,543

18. RER-BEgOER—
B 2 )
R20245H31H > A £ H U B S11
Partners Limited ([S11])) 10% % 4 >
B 4 1t {8 £400,0003 JC (M & ®
3,120,000 70) o S11E L H i 44 "
ARRAE - BREE - B B K%
170 DA R B A BR B8 & N\ A4 3 4 A
B B o HL AN SRR A 0 B
Lo > A 55 [ 58 A LA A B S114T (8
BRI > FHIL > SIIH HAE 3% %
AR BRI S AR HRE -

R IR A A [ RIS R A
B A 26 T BB N F I OF BB R

Associate Total

B & N 7] ot
2025 2024 2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHExX THxL FTER To
174) — 2,523 318

— — (6) (18)

a74) — 2,517 300
2,946 — 10,180 4,543
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19. INVESTMENT IN A CONVERTIBLE
BOND

Investment in convertible bonds, at fair value

{3t 5

BOE AT R R

AR B RARRTRE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

19 RETRRES

2025
HK$’000

2024
HK$°000
T

FHT

— 5,369

The above unlisted investment represented SGD1,000,000 6%
convertible bond due 2026 (the “Convertible Bond”) issued
by an independent third party (the “CB Issuer”). According
to the subscription agreement, the Group had the rights (i) to
convert the entire principal amount of the Convertible Bond
together with accrued but unpaid interest into such number of
conversion shares at an issue price with a discount to the price
at which the CB Issuer’s shares are offered in the initial public
offering (“IPQO”), prior to or on the date of launch of the IPO;
and (ii) to subscribe for further convertible bonds of a principal
amount of up to SGD1,000,000 (the “Call Option”). The Group
did not exercise the Call Option within the exercisable period
(i.e. within six months from 30 June 2023). The Convertible
Bond was unsecured and would mature on 6 July 2026, bearing
interest at 6.0% per annum.

On 28 January 2025, the Convertible Bond was early redeemed
due to the CB Issuer’s failure to fulfil the conditions specified
in the subscription agreement between the CB Issuer and
the Group. The Convertible Bond was early redeemed at
SGD1,000,000 (approximately HK$5,780,000), resulting in a
fair value gain of HK$431,000 credited to profit or loss for the
year ended 31 March 2025.

The Convertible Bond as at 31 March 2024 was classified
as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss as its
contractual cash flows were not solely payments of principal
and interest.

The Group had engaged an independent firm of professionally
qualified valuers to perform a valuation on the fair value of the
Convertible Bond as at 31 March 2024 which was estimated to
be SGD926,000 (approximately HK$5,369,000), resulting in a
fair value loss of HK$428,000 debited to profit or loss for the
year ended 31 March 2024.

LA Ik EHRE A — AW =
(7T 32 3% 18 35 8 17 A D) %% 17 142026
A F| e w] M I fE S0 A
1,000,00058 ¥ oo ([T R E ) -
HE 45 58 1 B vk > A5 42 A REG) IR B IR
AHBEE(ERLABMBE)MHLEM
oY 2 A B AT E (I R A B R
B EN A A IR T A e E
& T T R ) e A w5 AR 4
2 R A ST R AT R R B A B B
H A ] 4 B By 5 S (i) 58 AN 4 B
2 £41,000,000587 10 3% 70 (1) &8 ] 4 i
B ((REBHED - AEERARIT
1 11 1] (RP % 20234 6 H30 H L 75 11 A
) A7 18 58 B AR o ] e AR O e 4
AR > 2202647 H 6 H 2 #5 K % 4F F|
R6.0%wHE o

202541 H28H > Hh A al i L £ 25 4%
TN K 18 22 A B A 48 3 5T 57 1 3R
Toh e BT T WA BG4 > 3% AT 4 % 5
PEATIE | o W] A K 75 241,000,000
T It (495,780,000 T 2 A 5 17
R # F20254F3A31H 1F 4F B 8%
5 25 3 18 %5 #11431,0008 76 A IR £ 18
ﬁ]i o

A20243H31H > it Al B AE 2R 1)
GRIB RN IEE RS KA E
T3 KW nBEaik A THEFIAR
i [ & Bl E o

AEEE BB I HESEHAME
Al A7 558 AT 46 % 5 75 78 2024 -3 H31H I
o8 H HEAT AN (E Al F£5926,000587
T3k It (495,369,000 70) > 25 3R
F 202443 H31H 1E4F B kA5 N T (H
J&5 $6428,000%5 70 A iR £ 48 5 o

R P CLVC N 180 |



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MIEE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

20. LICENSED ASSETS 20. REEE

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$°000

THT Tt

Licensed rights % HE 317,769 346,592

Prepayments for licensed rights 5% RE AT O 16,483 13,337

334,252 359,929
Licensed assets represent payments to licensors in connection P HE G S B 1A B RE 7 SO T W e
with obtaining media content distribution rights and brand ¥ HE E}g A 75 Ay 7 B AT RE %
licensing rights over definitive licensing periods. These i R B BT o A AR B R

licensed assets are held to generate revenue in the ordinary BEEEDIANE S L A 35 o

course of the Group’s businesses.

21. INVENTORIES 0. BE

2025 2024

HK$°000 HK$°000
FHT Tk

Finished goods R RY Sh 6,713 6,511
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES

AR B RARRTRE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

22. ESERRKIE

2025 2024

HK$°000 HK$’000

TERT T# T

Billed S 181,964 218,744
Unbilled ENE 41,498 13,189
223,462 231,933
Less: Allowance for impairment W A A (9,226) (8,130)
214,236 223,803

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit. For the Media Content Distribution Business, the
payment terms with customers are generally of two to four
payments with the first payments usually due upon the Group’s
issuance of the letters of authorisation relating to the media
contents to the respective customers. The credit periods
generally range from 30 to 45 working days after the payment
milestones as specified in the underlying contracts. For the
Brand Licensing Business, the payment terms are generally of
one to two payments with the first payments usually due upon
the execution of the contracts. The credit periods are generally
30 days after the payment milestones as specified in the
underlying contracts.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables as overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the billed trade receivables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

AL EEEF 2B 5 6
W - MM N A BT ERm
T B AT — A W D kA
o B R — R A LB WS HE
J5 B 0 A B B 0 2 Y 4% R R AR B
W oo M5 E M — A FAHBE A £ 35 W
Y AF 3R R A2 30 = 4508 TAEH o &t 5
M REERTNS 3 —&E—
WA WA R — R B S
HEAW - FEMW—BAEMESH
& W B A5 3K R H £ 30 H o

7 SR ] T 5K B A 2 ) AR e IR R i
AIH o R AR B R & 2 A A
Bk o A 4R [ I 4t B B i Ak IH
5 B 1 A A A IS4 i BCBR RO At 5 6
B4R A o H o ECRIH AR FHE

IR > HBEEAME R 2O
5 5 ME SRR TE B4 R 8 2 AT N T

2025 2024

HK$’000 HKS$’000

F#E T T o0

Within 30 days 30H K 44,250 40,399
31 to 60 days 31%60H 16,707 30,809
61 to 90 days 61%90H 10,833 45,868
91 to 180 days 91%180H 35,202 14,360
181 to 360 days 181%360H 41,192 60,809
Over 360 days #1360 H 33,780 26,499
181,964 218,744

202558 BAEEARAT m



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MIEE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

22. EZEIRRRIE &)

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

525 M 0 L 3 98 0
B F -

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$°000

F#E T T

At beginning of year A W) 8,130 8,595
Impairment losses recognised (note 8) L T 58 Uk 1E Js 18 (K 518) 2,884 1,117
Impairment losses reversed (note 8) L 4% [0 i (E s 18 (B 5E8) 49) (1,382)
Amount written off as uncollectible S AT W | A E 8 R (1,728) (166)
Exchange realignment [itE b, 3 & 11 (34)
At end of year AR 9,226 8,130

The Group has applied the simplified approach to recognising
allowance for ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected credit loss allowance for all
trade receivables. To measure the ECLs, the trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. ECLs are estimated based on historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors and general economic conditions. During the year,
the expected loss rates for certain customers that are credit-
impaired are assessed specifically by management. For other
trade receivables which were more than one year past due but
not credit-impaired, management has not observed objective
evidence of financial difficulties of these debtors and has been
taking credit risk mitigating measures.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (coninucd) 22. B EWRRIE )
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure PLTF #5142 (0T 43 A AR
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: g3 B B 5 E SRR TE B9 A5 B R B B B
K
Expected Gross
credit carrying
loss rate amount Impairment
H
FEBEXR BRE A E e
HK$°000 HK$°000
T T Tt
As at 31 March 2025 A202543H31H
Credit-impaired receivables {5 B I (A 78 g 3K IE 100.0% 8,357 8,357
Other trade receivables which were: H:fth & 2 JfE i 21 I :
Current or within one year past due Rl #5 5l 41 #f — 4% LA " 0.2% 209,781 315
More than one year past due 7 1 i — A 10.4% 5,324 554
223,462 9,226
As at 31 March 2024 4202443 A31H
Credit-impaired receivables 15 B Wl (E R i 3 100.0% 7,637 7,637
Other trade receivables which were: H {th & 5 i it 7 JH :
Current or within one year past due R # gl 71 1 — 4F LA " 0.1% 221,893 259
More than one year past due 1 i — A 9.7% 2,403 234
231,933 8,130

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23. FA{TFE - &R HttEW

RECEIVABLES MIHE
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$°000
TET T ¥
Prepayments T AT R IE 6,982 12,717
Deposits %4 2,448 2,264
Other receivables H: by R i 3IE 4,402 2,192
13,832 17,173

Less: Portion classified under non-current I MR R B E
assets B (126) (1,409)

Portion classified under current assets R 45 9 3 0 A R o 13,706 15,764

202553 HHBEEERAT LK




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MIEE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
deposits and receivables for which there was no recent history
of default nor past due. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the loss
allowance required was assessed to be minimal.

24. DUE FROM A JOINT VENTURE

The amount due from a joint venture was trade-related,
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

25.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

23. ENFE - e R HMEWK
FRIE @)
FhA bl & Bk 10 4 il A B AT ) 4 4
IR A Bk B W) T A T RE R TR A
B o 20254 K 202443 A31H > i 5
5 48 48 G AR A 2 T R

24. EIR—BEaELERE
HE Wi — [ 45 4 35 10 5 JEL 2 B BT 5
R - A - R R R R TR
% o

25. RERBEESEEY

2025 2024

HK$°000 HK$°000

THERT T TT

Cash and bank balances Bl & K SR AT 4 B 207,541 209,341

Time deposits 7E W17 3K 118,852 26,386
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the G| 7 I B 75 1R DL 3R 10 B 4

consolidated statement of financial position KB & EEY 326,393 235,727

Less: Time deposits with original maturity B : A AT IR A RO
over three months A = A8 H /Y E W
£ (2,230) 9,732)

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the G 7R B4 i 2 R I B

consolidated statement of cash flows T B4 AEY) 324,163 225,995

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group’s PRC operation denominated in Renminbi
(“RMB”) amounted to approximately HK$27,049,000 (2024:
HK$16,385,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, and Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods between 1 month and 6 months depending
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn
interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The
bank balances and short term time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

26. TRADE PAYABLES

AR B RARRTRE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

5. RERBFESEEY »

SRAT B A AR S H 2 R AT A7 KR i
¥ ) ) 2 e R L o 4 A7 5O A7
AR A F 1 H 6@ A 2 A%
B He 7 A 4 1 0 B B 4 T oK 5 ik
A 5 300 A7 R 2R B B B, o G AT
G5 0 % 5 A7 SR AE A 9 Hi 4D
% EEEE TR -

26. ES ERRIE

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET RS STH

Billed [ 82,803 99,356
Unbilled PN 83,284 66,509
166,087 165,865

An ageing analysis of the billed trade payables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

REREMIR - HBEEAMERZEH
SR T A BROE I MR 8 AT AT

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$°000

FET Tt

Within 30 days 30H A 53,512 31,260
31 to 90 days 31H %#90H 7,607 13,828
Over 90 days 90 H 21,684 54,268
82,803 99,356

The trade payables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing. For
the minimum guarantee payments to the licensors, the payment
terms and the due dates are specified in the relevant contracts
and the payments are usually settled by instalments at the early
stage of the relevant licensing periods. For royalty payables
which exceed the minimum guarantee, the amounts are due
when the Group submits the royalty reports to the licensors
which are subsequent to the collection of the corresponding
trade receivables from the licensees.

The unbilled trade payables relate to royalty amounts that are
payables to but not yet invoiced by licensors and are calculated
based on the royalty rates as stipulated in the respective
licensing contracts.

© T WA SO o SRR XA FHR, o 3
SCRHEHE DT e RSB - AR A
H) PP RT B SR R I B - S
T AR B 45 B S0 0 20 0 O o AR
R AR AR 8 2 O RE AR BL I = > A B &
JR T A B T A T 4% A 7 W IOAR B
B 7y B SR AR 1) 452 HE 7 B 2 R
ek R EN Y

R B 5 5 ) M A O B4 25 1R 5 20
Fiv K57 B 2 w5 A4 E A 452 4 O
ARG T HE Ty B 52 2 WL I B
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MIEE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

27. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

27. Bt ERAK EMENFRIE

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

TER T 0

Accruals J&E w2 88,183 58,351
Other payables Aty JE A R IH 15,598 15,497
103,781 73,848

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average
credit term of three months.

28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities include (i) advance payments received from
customers for the Group to deliver the media content or render
brand licensing services; and (ii) unsatisfied performance
obligations resulting from fixed-price long-term brand sub-
licensing contracts as at the end of the year. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue upon satisfying the performance
obligations by the Group under the relevant contracts.

F At 8 A 3RIE By R wE B R 5 B
WM=MmA -

28. EHERE
B H B LR R R R () A B PR AR
S ] 50 088 B 1 7 R R 40 S 4
IR 55 1 BB 5 I (i) R ] M A = A
P 4 W A 40 2 BN T R EO I 40
BT o 2 #0BE A SE EAR SR AR B
% 1L B 4 AT TR B R 25 o

2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTERT T T
Media Content Distribution Business N AT ER 6,786 17,586
Brand Licensing Business i W% R 2E T 69,736 63,481
76,522 81,067

Movements in contract liabilities during the year are as follows: FERNEHABEHWNT:

2025 2024

HK$°000 HK$’000

F#& T T oo

At the beginning of the year ™ AE W) 81,067 69,386
Additions B4 T 444,321 421,719
Revenue recognised during the year A A EL R Y IR 55 (448,866) (410,038)
At the end of the year TR 76,522 81,067

The decrease in contract liabilities in 2025 was mainly due to
the decrease in advance payments received from customers.
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28.

29.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continuca)

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) are as follows:

AR B RARRTRE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

28. EHNEBE
LR N B A EA CREAT S 2

RIEAT) B2 (B ANE

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$°000
TER T T
Within one year — RN 62,437 70,357
After one year — AR 14,085 10,710
76,522 81,067

Revenue recognised from: DA 2 TE Al R A K 2

Amounts included in contract liabilities EYFAGHAER

at the beginning of the year ok 70,357 60,874

LEASE LIABILITIES

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements
during the year are as follows:

2. HEESE

AF TR B R0 R T (E A% B ) UL
LU

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$°000
THER T T
At the beginning of the year A ) 9,528 13,389
New leases & 809 1,882
Accretion of interest recognised N E MR IR E R
during the year 241 293
Termination of a lease HILHE — (403)
Lease modification TH & o B) — 449
Payments i3 (5,855) (6,082)
At the end of the year AR 4,723 9,528
Analysed into: G0 By
Current portion B HA 38 4 4,174 5,394
Non-current portion FE B HH &R 4 549 4,134
4,723 9,528

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 40
to the consolidated financial statements.

5 A B9 B0 H o B O £E S
B ik % Wt 5E40 o

202553 HHEEERAT IREKY




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

R B RARMEE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

29. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

29. HEES B

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are ARHEREENHERNSENT
as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$°000

TER T# T

Interest on lease liabilities i 5 A 5 A8 241 293

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets HHAEEENITE L 5,392 5,590

Expenses relating to short-term leases J6 3 AH B A B B 2 925 423
Gain on termination of a lease #EFH ks — (8)

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 18t 0 B B Y AR 6,558 6,298
The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 35(c) to the FHE 1 B 4 U o AR RE N A7 A B S i

consolidated financial statements.

30. PROVISION

2% It 5E350c) ¥ 2% -

30. &5

2025 2024

HK$°000 HK$’000

FERT T

At the beginning and at the end of the year AR J R 1,311 1,311
The provision is for reinstatement and restoration costs and A T R IR B 1R B A8 R A B W 2E
represents management’s best estimate of the Group’s liabilities A T f 6 P AR SR AR AR A
as lessees of the costs of restoring the leased properties on AR B A I AR 1R R A B 2E 0

expiry of the lease periods.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

31. DEFERRED TAX 31. IEE R IR
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the ERIRERLIE A N E RSB T
year are as follows:
Deferred tax liabilities BEKREBEERE
Depreciation
allowance
in excess
of related
depreciation
BHMEETE
WiTERE
HK$'000
TER
At 1 1 April 2023 202344 H1H —
Charged to profit or loss (note 11) TE 18 #2 H0BR (B 5E11) 8
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 20243 H31H & 20244F4H1H 8
Credited to profit or loss (note 11) FP AR 2 (B 5E11) 8)
At 31 March 2025 4202543 H31H —
Deferred tax assets EZEHEEE
Depreciation
in excess
of related
depreciation
allowance Provision
B HAaE
EREN
e BE et
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THET THER THER
At 1 April 2023 R20234FE4H1H — — —
Credited to profit and loss A B A (B EE1D)
(note 11) 13) (76) (89)
At 31 March 2024 and 202443 A31H K&
1 April 2024 202444 H1H 13) (76) (89)
Charged/(credited) to profit or R (GEA
loss (note 11) B4 ) (K sE11) 39 (104) (65)
Exchange realignment [fE 5, 3 — 173) 173)
At 31 March 2025 202543 H31H 26 (353) 327)

202558 BAEEARAT m



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MIEE

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

31. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred
tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

31. IEEBIE )

BERY > # TIEERIEEE & A
B O B 5 IR UL 3R K B o wh BE S AR
M A 5 Y R HE B TE &5 8R40 B

L/{1
2025 2024
HK$°000
T ¥ 7T

HK$°000
FTERT

TR &5 B 5 IR L R 1 ke AR
19 0 A T TR E T

327 81

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unrecognised
tax losses of HK$2,787,000 (2024: HK$1,020,000), subject to
the agreement by the relevant tax authorities, that are available
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose, out of which, HK$1,374,000 (2024:
HK$891,000) is available indefinitely and the remaining
unrecognised tax losses will expire in around one year to ten
years. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of these losses as they have mainly arisen in entities that have
been loss-making, and in the opinion of the directors, it is
currently not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

At 31 March 2025, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's
subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the opinion
of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
approximately HK$742,000 at 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$2,553,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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32. SHARE CAPITAL

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

32. A

AR B RARRTRE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$°000
F#& T T o0
Authorised: hE
5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 5,000,000,000 % 4 % 1A {EL
HK$0.01 each 0.01%5 7o 1Y 3% 8 Bt 50,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: CEAT LR
1,992,000,000 ordinary shares of 1,992,000,000 1 %5 % 18 {E
HK$0.01 each 0.01%5 yo 1Y 3% 48 19,920 19,920

33. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 124 of the consolidated
financial statements.

(@)

(b)

(©

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents reserve arising from (i) the
reorganisation and capital contribution from Ms. Lovinia
Chiu and RLA Limited (“Controlling Shareholder”)
in relation to the acquisition of MAIL; and (ii) the
shares transferred to the Share Award Scheme from the
Controlling Shareholder. Further details are set out in note
34 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other reserve

Other reserve represents the difference between the fair
value of the additional equity interest in a subsidiary
acquired from a then non-controlling shareholder at the
date of acquisition and the consideration paid.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign
currency exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.

33. #1E

7 B [ A 7R AR B R TE A TR felf A
SRS L B AR S B R 124
HINAE M B RES -

(a) EXRfFEE

A fe A B (1) EE AL B S /DN 3 L
+: X RLA Limited ([$E R B R |)
R WA S S oy o (I %) T Y
T (i) #E B e o i o T i 52 b
al BB B B E A 0 G A
— 5 R O S A B R B
5134 o

(b) E ik s
A ik 4 0 i S B B O
e BB R WS B B R 2 ] A O M
ZRATFHBECAMUEZ 25 -

(© NEFHHME
S BE 3 B fif 445 1 400 SO0 B
B 5 k3R E AR B 4 W A0 R BE S8
=AM -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

34. SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 6 February 2020 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company
adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”)
for the purpose of recognising the contributions by certain
eligible persons and providing them with incentives in order
to retain them for the continual operation and development of
the Group and to attract suitable personnel for the growth and
further development of the Group.

Eligible persons of the Share Award Scheme include, inter alia,
employees, directors (excluding independent non-executive
directors), officers, consultants or advisors of any member of
the Group. The Share Award Scheme will remain in force for 10
years from the Adoption Date, unless otherwise terminated or
amended.

The aggregate number of shares of the Company currently
permitted to be awarded under the Share Award Scheme
is limited to 10% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company as at the Adoption Date without shareholders’
approval (the “Scheme Limit”). The Scheme Limit shall
be refreshed automatically on each anniversary date of the
Adoption Date during the duration of the Share Award Scheme,
such that the Scheme Limit refreshed shall not exceed 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at each anniversary
date of the Adoption Date.

The eligible persons for participation in the Share Award
Scheme are selected, and the number of shares to be awarded
under the Share Award Scheme is determined, by the board of
directors and the maximum number of shares which may be
awarded to eligible participant under the Share Award Scheme
shall not exceed 5% of the total number of issued shares as at
the Adoption Date. The shares to be awarded under the Share
Award Scheme may be purchased by a trustee (the “Trustee”)
from the open market out of cash contributed by the Group and
be held on trust for the selected participants until such shares
are vested with the selected participants in accordance with the
provisions of the Share Award Scheme.

The Trustee shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any
shares of the Company held by it under the Trust, including but
not limited to the awarded shares, any bonus shares and scrip
shares.

On 6 October 2020, 59,760,000 shares of the Company were
contributed by Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia, the Controlling
Shareholder and an executive director of the Company, via her
wholly-owned company, RLA Company Limited, to the pool
of shares for the benefit of the Share Award Scheme. The fair
value of those shares amounted to HK$7,590,000 on the date of
contribution.

The fair value of the awarded shares based on the quoted
market prices of the Company’s shares at the grant dates was
HKO0.205 cent (2024: HKO0.19 cent). The equity-settled share-
based payment expenses of the Group are HK$4,287,000 for the
year (2024: HK$3,752,000).

m MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2025 Annual Report
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

34. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

The movements in the shares held under the Share Award
Scheme are as follows:

AR B RARRTRE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

34. R BT E w0

f%%%ﬁ%%%%ﬁ%&%%ﬁ
I

Shares held under the Share Award Scheme
BRERGRBFEEEZRG

2025 2024
Number Number
of of
ordinary Value of ordinary Value of
shares shares shares shares
ZERYE BROEE TEKREE RGEE
HK$°000 HK$°000
FERT Tt
At beginning of year R AEH] 81,550,000 11,713 79,321,000 11,290
Purchases of shares for the &t & ) 4% B 51 #1 i =
Share Award Scheme e A5 13,410,000 2,197 21,985,000 4,175
Vested during the year N TR R (20,876,000) (4,287) (19,756,000) (3,752)
At end of year A AE R 74,084,000 9,623 81,550,000 11,713

As at 31 March 2025, the total number of shares which is
available for further award under the Share Award Scheme
are 136,639,000 (2024: 157,515,000), which represented 6.9%
(2024: 7.9%) of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the average purchase
price of the award shares vested was HKO0.16 cent per share
(2024: HK$0.19) and the weighted average closing price of
the shares immediately before the dates on which the awarded
shares were vested was HKO0.21 cent per share (2024: HK$0.19).

During the year ended 31 March 2025, a total of 20,876,000
(2024: 19,756,000) share awards were granted, which
represented 1.0% (2024: 1.0%) of the Company’s weighted
average number of ordinary shares issued during the year.

No awarded shares were cancelled and forfeited during the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 under the Company’s
Share Award Scheme.

HE20254F3H31H IHFEE > R4
A2 Jh 51 ) AT — B iR 2 Ay AR B
£45136,639,000 8% (2024 4F : 157,515,000
BE) o A A 8% B AR AN A B AT By
2.6.9% (20244F : 7.9%)

B E 20254331 H IL4EE > O 5848
B B A3y 1% - 357 i A 2 A B 0. 1675 Il
(20244F : 0.19% ll1) - 5% JEh Bt £y 2 %
St JE BB 2 WA o ST 38 i T A B
0. 213 Al (20244F  0.19#: ) -

B2 202543 H31 H IR 4FEE#2 i 2 ey
15520,876,000 8% (2024 4F : 19,756,000
i IR [ NN K N i e S il
HE- 3 80 2 1.0% (20244 : 1.0%) °

M ZE 20254 122024453 H31 A IR4EFE »

R B AS 2% W) B B 42 B R ) o A A
8 i J 13 B T B R
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions
(i) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
Group had non-cash additions of right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities of HK$809,000
(2024: HK$1,882,000) and HK$809,000 (2024:
HK$1,882,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for office premises.

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
reached an agreement with the CB Issuer to early
redeem the investment in a convertible bond.
Accordingly, the Group derecognised its investment
in a convertible bond with the carrying amount
of HK$5,800,000. The net carrying amount of
HK$3,263,000, after offsetting amount payables
to the CB Issuer of HK$2,537,000 during the year
ended 31 March 2025, was reclassified to other
receivables.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities
The table below details the cash flows and non-cash
changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing
activities. Except as disclosed below, there were no non-
cash changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities.

m MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2025 Annual Report

5. FEBHERERME

(@)

(b)

FEFRERS
() ME20254E3H31H IEFE
RAEEAE BB A EMRER

PErofE AREE & 2 R BL &0
B R A& 5 R £5809,000
W T (20244F : 1,882,000
JG) 5%.809,000%5 JT (2024 4F :
1,882,000 JT ©

(i) M E20254F3H31H L4 >
A SR [ B AT R AR S B AT
2 A ek o PR AT A ]
WA S o L > ARSI
IETERRRZIE G I N2
H: R T {E /55,800,000 IT ©
7 A (B 17 A 1A K 6 A5 T 4
JE A8 2 8% 47 A\ EXJE 2,537,000
W IT % > MR I TF (83,263,000
0 E EE B 0 B & A B
FKIH ©

METDHELENAERE

TRFIIMEFEB ELENAL
B AR R B O MR B A
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (coniinuea)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities (Continued)

36.

(©

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(b)

AR B RARRTRE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

3B[ARERERERWE

METHELENEEED

(%)

Dividend Lease

payables liabilities

ENRE HEESRE

HK$’000 HK$’000

T ¥ T0 T

At 1 April 2023 #20234E4H1H — 13,389
Changes from financing cash flows fl A B 4 A ) (25,145) (6,082)
Dividends declared 2 E IR A 25,145 —
New leases e — 1,882
Termination of a lease FH & # 1k — (403)
Lease modification &1 — 449
Interest expense S BA 52 — 293

At 31 March 2024 and R20244F3H31H K&

1 April 2024 20244E4H1H — 9,528
Changes from financing cash flows & B 4 B (27,318) (5,855)
Dividends declared B E IR BB 27,318 —
New leases B E — 809
Interest expense BB 3 — 241
At 31 March 2025 R202543H31H — 4,723
Total cash outflow for leases ¢ HERSARHHALE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the N A BB E R RETE
consolidated statement of cash flows within operating B RREEEE S SR
activities and financing activities amounted to H 488 43 Bl 925,000 7T (2024
HK$925,000 (2024: HK$423,000) and HK$5,855,000 4 1 423,000% JT) & 5,855,000
(2024: HK$6,082,000), respectively, during the year. JG (20244F : 6,082,000% 7)) °

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 36. REMEEHRIE

The Group leases certain of its office premises, warehouses and
a car parking space under operating lease arrangements. Leases
for these properties are for terms ranging from 1 month to 12
months and hence are not included in the measurement of lease
liabilities.

ALEEMRBEEHE LML AT
WeN W ~ FE R — R o %5
Y)W A B WA P A 21218 A
R st A E ARG E -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MIEE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

36. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 36. &% HE&E »

(Continued)

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable short term
operating leases falling due as follows:

Within one year — R

TR R > A 4R AR 48 A AT R8N
K 19 6 4 AR R 510 0 [ B B R
2 i A AR B RH AR AT

2025 2024
HK$°000 HKS$°000
FET ST
205 109

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had

3. BB AR S

(@) B a5 B 5 3R R A 19 52 B e
BER AN > BN A 4R B

the following transactions with related parties during the W HALLTIR S
year:
2025
HK$"0@
T
An executive Director: HATEF -
Lease payments GEN=ERE 23 —
A related party*: Il e 7 #
Employee benefit expense 1l & A& ) B 3 2,121 1,908
A joint venture: EEME: _
Revenue from sub-licensing of QE il WL 4% @)
brands L e 3,663 1,338
Purchase of goods i E B & @) 5 64
Marketing and promotion T 35 B #E B % ()
expenses — 347
# The related party is a close family member of a director of the # BB AAAF —ZERNII
Company. B oo
Note: Bt at -
(i)  The revenue, cost of goods sold and marketing and promotion (i) T B B R R o AR R T B R
expenses were charged on terms mutually agreed between the T J8 2 i I W Oy L (R Hh o 1 1 K
relevant parties. WO -

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including directors’ remuneration as disclosed
in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, is as

(b) AEEIZEMABNME

AEETEEREANBNMS (&
175 A5 BB R T RE O B HR 1Y K
M E) T

follows:

2024
HK$'000
T# T
Short term employee benefits J5 94 B A Al 23,398 24,353
Post-employment benefits ik Bk 1% A £ 120 134

Total compensation paid to key BER XN =EA i)
management personnel P <2 4 % 23,518 24,487

m MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2025 Annual Report



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(c) Commitment with a related party

On 18 January 2023, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into an agreement with Sunrise to provide a standby
revolving shareholder loan of HK$3,000,000 for the
joint venture’s operations from time to time for 5 years
from the date of the agreement. The drawn down amount
bears interest at 5% per annum. The standby revolving
shareholder loan was not utilised at the end of the
reporting period.

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

AR B RARRTRE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

3. BEEERZ w0

(c) i R BB 7 WY 7K Bl

20231 H18H » A £ [H# — [H
W%/\ﬂﬁﬁikﬁﬂéﬁﬂiﬁ’% N
W 23 o2 &8 4 0 & E 1Rt
3,000,000% 7T 1 #5 vﬁ R R
B Bz H R A
A o HREUAY 4 B AR A K59 5T
B oo RERERIR - MR B A
706 BRI R K e

38. HEREIHNERMT A

PRI - & 4 T B8R R
T E WF

7/

Financial assets

ERMEE

Financial
assets at Financial
fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
B&EIIERN HAIERD
cREE SREE ®at
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt Tt Tt
As at 31 March 2025 A202563H31H
Trade receivables Gy IFE W ) TE — 214,236 214,236
Financial assets included in A AT RIE - &
prepayments, deposits and other K At 18 g FRH Y
receivables & il E — 6,850 6,850
Investments in media contents G A 14,734 — 14,734
Cash and cash equivalents B& KRBl E&SEEY —_ 326,393 326,393
14,734 547,479 562,213
As at 31 March 2024 R20245F3A31H
Investment in a convertible bond & nr e K 5,369 — 5,369
Trade receivables B 5 e L é‘ﬁ IE — 223,803 223,803
Financial assets included in FEAFEATRIE - &
prepayments, deposits and other &,ﬁ\ﬁﬂﬁﬁ ll& K IH 1)
receivables & & E — 4,456 4,456
Due from a joint venture JE Wi — W] G 5 A 26 KA — 556 556
Investments in media contents Eitgi-g 8 IINE 15,355 — 15,355
Cash and cash equivalents RaEkBRE5EY — 235,727 235,727
20,724 464,542 485,266

202568 AHBEMERAT



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MIEE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (Continued)

Financial liabilities

38. HMERETWEMT R )

TREE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

RBHEREAIRENEMAE

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$°000

TERT T T

Lease liabilities & A 4,723 9,528

Trade payables B 5 M A R IH 166,087 165,865
Financial liabilities included in accruals A RE %t%; F B L Ath A 3k

and other payables H 1) 4 fil B 16,464 21,638

187,274 197,031

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, trade payables
and financial liabilities included in accruals and other payables
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments or the effect of discounting
is not material.

For investments in media contents, in which the underlying
media contents were in the production stage, their fair values
were estimated with reference to their respective production
budgets and profit sharing projections. For investments in
media contents completed and broadcasted during the year,
their fair values are estimated with reference to the net
proceeds receivable from those attributable to the Group. For
investment in convertible bond, the fair value was estimated
using the probability weighted expected return method based
on the probability-weighted net present value of expected future
investment returns after the consideration of possible outcomes.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the fair values for investments

in media contents and investment in a convertible bond were
measured using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3).

m MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2025 Annual Report
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& RBEEEY - B BIGOR > &t
N T FROE ~ i S K H At 8 Ui kA
A B AV E > B 5 A R L RGREA
JE Tt 2 T R A A O B 4 Rl B
R - B HC R T (E K B A

MR AR RE S - KA pe B
NA B R R B HAFETI2
75 A B B AR TR B R 23 e TR
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BN rE > HAFE)
R85 T8 ] RE A5 R AE > MR TR K
B Wi At A R hn B B (E AR IR
AR AR MR L O WA i i A RS

R20254F K 20244F3H31H - B A 2
& Fon] A S G A (B R
RN A] A e A B (B = 80 5t

B ©



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 39. TMITANDIFERAYF
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 5 & Bl )
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the REHEA > &/ THMAENEK
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative N R] BB A BOEE DL K E B U
sensitivity analysis as at the end of reporting period: MR B R
Significant Sensitivity of fair
Valuation technique unobservable input Range value to the input
ATFEHBAE
BERE EXFTTBEGAYE gE NBRE
Investments in media Discounted cashflow Discount rate 10.2% 1% (2024: 1%)
contents method il B % (2024: 10.2%-11.6%)  decrease/increase in
HERANERE W &R 2% 10.2%  discount rate would
(20244 : 10.2%-11.6%) result in increase/

decrease in the

Group’s profit before
tax by HK$5,000
(2024: HK$116,000)
B R D, B 1%
(2024%F : 1%) #5 E 5
7 4 T 1) B i s A
/85,000 7T
(20244F : 116,000
0 °

Investment in a Probability weighted Discount rate N/A N/A (2024: 1%)
convertible bond expected return method il B (2024: 149%)  decrease/increase in
-9 INIE Y e 186 2 HE A i N/A  discount rate would
(20244 : 14.9%) result in increase/
decrease in the
Group’s profit before
tax by Nil
(2024: HK$99,000)
A B3 D/ R
B (20244 : %) %
MR B R BT
AR, B0 T
(20244 : 99,000
T ©

202558 BAEEARAT m



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MIEE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 9. cMIANAFERAF
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL B & B
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Significant Sensitivity of fair

Valuation technique unobservable input value to the input
AREHBARE

ELE EXTARERAZE NYRE

Risk free rate N/A N/A (2024: 1%)

o 2 i 1) 2 (2024: 3.3%)  decrease/increase in

N/A  risk free rate would

(20244 : 3.3%) result in increase/

decrease in the

Group’s profit before

tax

by Nil

(2024: HK$99,000)

Joe 3 B R D
BN (20244F

19) 7% 35 B A 4 B 1Y

W o i i ) 38

#2007 TC (2024 4F -

99,0003 JT) °

Credit spread N/A N/A (2024: 1%)
BEEE (2024: 11.6%)  decrease/increase in
N/A credit spread would
(20244F : 11.6%) result in increase/

decrease in the
Group’s profit before
tax

by Nil

(2024: HK$99,000)
FEEEW D/ M
AT (20244 19%)
R BOA 4 W B BR AL
i % A 4% /800
¥ 7T (2024 4F : 99,000
#T) o

m MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2025 Annual Report



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 39. TMITANDIFERAYF
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 5 & Bl )
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
The movements in fair value measurements of financial FENATEFEES ZRNMES
instruments within Level 3 during the year are as follows: LA F

Investments Investment in
in media a convertible

contents bond Total
RETERR

REEBAR &% et

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000

T Tt Tt

At 1 April 2023 R20234E4H1H 23,888 — 23,888

Additions nE 1,894 5,797 7,691
Return of investments & i [m) (7,975) — (7,975)

Net losses from fair value 8 - {E TR B S 4R R

adjustments (2,452) (428) (2,880)
At 31 March 2024 and 202443 H31H &

1 April 2024 202444 H1H 15,355 5,369 20,724
Derecognition £ 1k e wR — (5,800) (5,800)
Net gains/(losses) from fair value 28 - {H 77 2 1 s 18 1 A

adjustments (621) 431 (190)
At 31 March 2025 #20254F3 H31H 14,734 — 14,734
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at A SE A 20254 1 2024 4F3 A 31 H Wlf7 4%
fair value as at 31 March 2025 and 2024. A Ao $2 2A “F-{H 51 & 1) 4 A fE o
During the year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and AN 4 RE E K 4 LA T AR 2R
Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial — % B BE AR e oA S = R
assets and financial liabilities (2024: Nil). ol A = A (20244 ¢ ) o

202558 BAEEARAT m



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3A31H

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. et EREEEERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments include cash
and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures mainly arise from sales or purchases by operating
units in currencies other than the unit’s functional currencies.
The majority of the Group’s foreign currency purchase
transactions are denominated in US$. On the other hand, the
sales and disbursements are mainly denominated in US$, RMB,
HKS, New Taiwan Dollars and JPY. As HKS$ is pegged to USS,
the directors of the Company anticipate that there will be no
significant movements in the US$/HKS$ exchange rate and the
exposure on US$ will not be material.

The Group’s risk management principle with regard to its
foreign currency denominated monetary assets, liabilities,
commitments, and cash flows is to match as far as possible
the values of such assets and cash flows against similarly
denominated liabilities and cash flows. Decisions on either
holding net short or long positions in foreign currency
denominated monetary assets or liabilities are taken on a case-
by-case basis and by taking into consideration the amount and
duration of the exposure, market volatility, economic trends and
requirements of the business.

m MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2025 Annual Report
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

AR B RARRTRE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. TREMEEEERBER »

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in RMB,
TWD and JPY exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax.

31 March 2025 2025%3H31H

If HK$ weakens against RMB i 75 7T 56 N R 2 (E
If HK$ strengthens against RMB i 75 7 56 N R TH(E
If HK$ weakens against TWD i 8 T B W (E

If HK$ strengthens against TWD i 8 T L & B THE

If HK$ weakens against JPY i & 7T 56, H [E] B2 (8

If HK$ strengthens against JPY i & 7T 56, H [
31 March 2024 2024F3H318

If HK$ weakens against RMB (RSN L 2
If HK$ strengthens against RMB (R ESTWN :
If HK$ weakens against TWD i ¥ G 56 & WK B2 (H

If HKS strengthens against TWD i ¥ G 56 & W FH(E

If HK$ weakens against JPY i ¥ e 56, H 8] B2 {8

If HKS strengthens against JPY i 5 e 56, H [E T

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant. The bank balances and short term time deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

85 L B )
TREBRBARSEHR > BETAE
A 538 WA R B R SR BR BL
Hil JiE M P R - & W % H R BE = AT
AE & HE 2 B A9 UK o

Increase/
(decrease) in
Change in  profit before

exchange rate tax
BR Bt Al & F

Ex®#s #&m (CF)
HK$°000

Tt

5% 5,856
5% (5,856)
5% 491)

5% 491

5% 1,157
5% (1,157)

5% 2,452
5% (2,452)

5% 1,563
5% (1,563)

5% 1,162
5% (1,162)

FERR

A 5 [ 1 B RE R W S A R R AR =
TTNER Gy o REA LB BOK > B
AREEEERRZ 5N EF HENR
REBERT o WA > BBl RIA R
T 1R AR R A 4R UK 32
Y S IR JE B AN EE K o SRAT &% BR K
MERTFHFREFERE > B2
e 72 A0 O B SRAT o
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MIEE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. TREMEEEERBER »

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties, there is no requirement for collateral.
Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/
counterparty. At the end of the reporting period, the Group
had certain concentrations of credit risk as 29% (2024: 15%)
and 59% (2024: 55%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due
from the Group’s largest debtor and the five largest debtors,
respectively.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note
22 to the financial statements.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 March. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

= & & B )
FH A A 42 [ {5 B 5 AT K A R R
s I N sl B G A S L
&"& c EFEERMBAES K5 HE
o AIREWIR > A EEE Z
llﬁz HIETH A 29% (20244F : 15%) X 59%
(20244F = 55%) 43 Il /2 JE U A 48 [ fx
KAE TN B K AE T N 3RIH o AR
%@ﬁﬁﬂF%ﬁPﬁﬁﬂFw

A A 4L 1 B 5 M ik TE E A RS
A B 1 — 25 Ak B R B R
FH MW a2 & o

REEBERFXER

RS A AR R A R R ) )
AR EE R K R E b - £
AR UE O 28 1) 6 R (B JF A7 4 2R 1
R b B R A B T AR B R BOAS Y
%K) - LR 331 R 2 48 A i Bt

DB BINBE R EMEE 2 IR
T {H o

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1248 A8 5
FEER PHEHEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
F-RKBR F-ER Z=RBE @Btii st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt Tt Tt Tk Tt
As at 31 March 2025 R2025%3831H
Trade receivables B 5 Bl 3R — - - 223,462 223,462
Financial assets included in FEA AT HE ~ 4 K
prepayments, deposits and other At i TR
receivables BREE 6,850 — — — 6,850
Cash and cash equivalents HEe kB 4&%EY 326,393 - - — 326,393
333,243 — — 223,462 556,705
As at 31 March 2024 R2024%38318
Trade receivables B 5 Bl 3 H — — — 231,933 231,933
Financial assets included in AT I~ 4 K
prepayments, deposits and other HoAb BRI
receivables MG E 4,456 - - = 4,456
Due from a joint venture JE I — i &8 b ¥ 3R 556 — — — 556
Cash and cash equivalents HeRk¥lE ff &Y 235,727 = = = 235,727
240,739 — — 231,933 472,672
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to ensure there are adequate funds to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer terms by
considering the maturity of its financial assets and liabilities
and projected cash flows.

The following table shows the maturity profile of the Group’s
financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based
on the contractual undiscounted payments.

AR B RARRTRE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

40. TRLEREEERRBEE

REE SR

5 4 [ 0 L 5 0 5 el
T B B B 9 1 D T i
FE AR AT 70 A2 5 4 6 2 0 % 1 E
o B 5 e K o

F 2 BUR AR 5 4 4R B B A
JE A 1 0 500

More than
1 year but
Less than less than second to
On demand 1 year 2 years fifth years
BB-F E-fZ
BER OSR-F BIRWE Z£nF
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T#T T T Tt T
31 March 2025 2025%3A31H
Trade payables B 5 A 3R — 166,087 — — 166,087
Financial liabilities included in s AMERH 2 ] B R A
accruals and other payables A58 SRR I 4 A — 16,464 — — 16,464
Lease liabilities HEAE - 4,272 563 — 4,835
— 186,823 563 — 187,386
31 March 2024 2024534318
Trade payables B 5 I i 300 — 165,865 — — 165,865
Financial liabilities included in ~ 7FAMERT % I B Mt e
accruals and other payables KRB 4 A — 21,638 — — 21,638
Lease liabilities & A E — 5,836 3,870 440 10,146
— 193,339 3,870 440 197,649
Capital management EAREEH
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are A AL EE RS M I A A
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern A E RS AR EREEARL
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its B RE J1 » DA H S R B ik w A
business and maximise shareholders’ value. i KRB (E -
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments 7 A [H [K] B A 7 IR I AR K A B &
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk YRR A O N R R g AR e
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust W o B iai g AR R, A&
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend & n] A A R IR R AT R B [
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or B BB B & A 8RB AT 0 A o A 4R
issue new shares. The Group is not required to comply with ] i ZE 2 SF AT 0] A0 50 HE AT B S A B
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were E B 2202543 H31H K 20244F
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing 3 IFFEE MEEHEEARAN
capital during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March HHEEME - BUORsiRRETFI/ERES - &
2024. Capital comprises equity attributable to owners of the KA NT A NS -

parent.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
RE SRR MIEE

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 41. & & Bf #& Ak % |
OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

AT i R AR 2 ) BB IR UL R Y
R

31 March 31 March
2025 2024
20254 20244F
3H31H 3H31H
HK$’000 HK$°000
THExT T # oo
Non-current asset IREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries & Mg A 7 — —
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables AN R B H At 1R i 5k IH 1,291 589
Due from subsidiaries JHE Wi o B 2 ] SRR 164,722 223,564
Cash and cash equivalents He kB &% EY 88,186 7,661
254,199 231,814
Current liabilities RBEE
Accruals and other payables JRE it B At R A Sk IE 1,799 711
Due to subsidiaries JRE ASF B g 2 ] K IR 34,182 13,050
35,981 13,761
Net current assets RBEEFRE 218,218 218,053
Net assets & EFE 218,218 218,053
Equity R
Issued capital AT R A 32 19,920 19,920
Reserves (note) it fh (B ) 198,298 198,133
Total equity HARE 4 218,218 218,053

3 The amount is less than HK$1,000.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

31 March 2025
2025%3H31H

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 41. &2 7] B #& AR R ]| a0
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: Bt i -

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: A ) fifs A AR A G

Shares held

Share under the Share award
premium  share award scheme Capital Retained
account scheme reserve reserve profits
RA5 R 5
B E IR 13 5% B
BHREERE BENRS =8I e EXRFEE R 8 5 Al 5t
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
T T T 0 T 70 T T
At 1 April 2023 2023544818 190,054 (11,874) 584 7,590 12,390 198,744
Profit for the year 4 1R 36 — — — = 24,957 24,957
Purchases of shares for the share &t % 73 5% i 51 #1 B
award scheme B — (4,175) — — — (4,175)
Vested shares under the share AR % 173 5 B 5t )
award scheme 2 5 R 0 — 2,510 1,242 = — 3,752
Dividends i B — — — — (25,145) (25,145)
At 31 March 2024 and R2024F38318 K
1 April 2024 2024F4H81H 190,054 (13,539) 1,826 7,590 12,202 198,133
Profit for the year AN s — — — — 25,393 25,393
Purchases of shares for the share %l i {7 48 i 51 &1 i
award scheme B A — (2,197) — — — (2,197)
Vested shares under the share R % B0y 58 I8 T &1
award scheme e B R — 2,649 1,638 - — 4,287
Dividends BB — — — — (27,318) (27,318)
At 31 March 2025 ®2025F3H31R 190,054 (13,087) 3,464 7,590 10,277 198,298
At 31 March 2025, the Company’s share premium and retained 20253 H31H » A 4 Al B O i (8
profits amounted to HK$190,054,000 (2024: HK$190,054,000) B AR B8 s R 8RR 43 7 £5190,054,000
and HK$10,277,000 (2024: HK$12,202,000), respectively, and W JG (20244F : 190,054,000% JT) K&
subject to a solvency test, they are available for distribution to 10,277,0004% G (20244F : 12,202,000
shareholders. W on) o ME 22 BR A E AT AR IR > 38
AR TR o
42. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 2. HEFREMBRE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and # O F 202546 H 26 H it HE I £ #E
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 June 2025. T8 576 M B ok o
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Five-Year Consolidated Financial Summary

IFEGEVBHNE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial
statements, is set out below. The summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.

A% 45 B 7 A 25 T U BUAE R SE AR DA
o AREFERESMEFWEACT
P RC AL AR B IS R IR o A
BRE R BEE AR B ML -

RESULTS E 4
Year ended 31 March
EE3A3BLEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS$000
TET T oo T T 0 T 76
REVENUE I 3 647,806 488,809 473,899 397,876 335,184
Cost of sales 88 A (337,825)  (252,941)  (245,893)  (200,320)  (170,762)
Gross profit E A 309,981 235,868 228,006 197,556 164,422
Other income and gains, net At e A T i AR i 10,016 8,783 5,457 1,030 6,115
Selling and distribution expenses 898 R 85 B (113,388) (75,828) (60,395) (54,710) (44,801)
General and administrative expenses ~ — it S 17 B P &2 (66,332) (64,280) (57,215) (53,347) (55,390)
Other expenses, net FAt B SR AR (88,627) (46,391) (63,708) (45,538) (30,291)
Finance costs 3 -§%:N (241) (293) (339) (291) (109)
Fair value gain/(loss) on an BOE w0 % 5 5 1 4 P
investment in a convertible bond Eue # /(s 18) 431 (428) — — —
Share of results of a joint venture B —HEERER
and an associate —HEESEER 2,523 318 244 — —
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BR Bt A Al 54,363 57,749 52,050 44,700 39,946
Income tax expense iy 75 Bt B 52 (2,052) (8,786) 4,527) (2,274) (1,379)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 52,311 48,963 47,523 42,426 38,567
Attributable to: DA 45 JE HE A
Shareholders of the Company KN TR 52,311 48,963 47,523 42,426 38,567
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Five-Year Consolidated Financial Summary

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

AR MBHE

EE BEEKkER

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
F#& T T 0 T T F T T ¥ 0
Non-current assets IE Wi B A E 60,256 79,285 87,026 109,420 90,859
Current assets B 911,270 842,290 822,932 774,694 671,558
Total assets % B 971,526 921,575 909,958 884,114 762,417
Current liabilities B A s (354,841)  (328,410)  (335,122)  (328,133)  (249,720)
Total assets less current & /& 48 {5 38 i ) & &
liabilities 616,685 593,165 574,836 555,981 512,697
Non-current liabilities FF i B & 5 (1,860) (5,445) (9,399) (13,887) (362)
Net assets BEEFE 614,825 587,720 565,437 542,094 512,335
Equity attributable to 4% /A A i 3R
shareholders JEAG HE 45
of the Company 614,825 587,720 565,437 542,094 512,335
Total equity 4R B 614,825 587,720 565,437 542,094 512,335
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In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following
expressions shall have the following meanings.

“Actual Selling Price”

[ P 1

“Adoption Date”
[ 49 H 1 ]

“Articles” or “Articles of
Association”

(20 5] ) = [ AH A = 72 4 A

“Audit Committee”

[EEZAG]

“Award”

[ 4% ) |

“Award Period”
[ 4% & 7

“Award Shares”

(4% i Jiz 13 )

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[ e

“Brand Licensing Business”

[y it 452 HE 256 5 |

“Business Day”
[H3EH]

“BVI”
[ Ja i 20 B 5

“CG Code”
[ 38 % i <

A N BRICFE A TR T 8 g
HAUT#E -

means the actual price at which the Award Shares are sold (net of brokerage, Stock
Exchange trading fee, SFC transaction levy and any other applicable costs) on
vesting of an Award pursuant to the Scheme

A5 T ) B o A B Ry o 5 B 0 £ B R B AR (S AN BR AR AL & - B s B g
VEGR 3 3 5L & YRR i)

means 6 February 2020, the date on which the adoption of the Share Award
Scheme was approved by the Board

20204E2 H6 H > BV TE i 1k v BF 4 % 0 42 8 5F 3 A0 B i

the articles of association of our Company adopted on 21 September 2022, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

AN A A A B R A > R 202249 H 21 H R A > BORIRFAERT ~ Al 7 ml DA A
J7 X AE

the audit committee of our Board

EHOEERZAG

means an award granted by the Board to a Selected Participant, which may vest in
the form of Award Shares or cash equivalent to the amount of the Actual Selling
Price of the Award Shares, as the Board may determine in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme Rules

B AT AR R A AR R B0 M6 K DR E 1] A RE 2 B R PR SE Y > T % 28 T
DA SE Y B B 5% i S 0y B R R R 9 S B B e 00 R SR

means the period commencing on the Adoption Date, and ending on the day
immediately prior to the 10th anniversary of the Adoption Date

PR AN 0T BE 4R 2 BR AR DD RE M0 8 4R B — H 1k

means the Shares granted to a Selected Participant in an Award

DA% il 72 X 4 2 2 B3 1R

the board of directors of our Company

AAFERE

business of licensing of brands by (i) sub-licensing various rights to use the brands
granted by brand licensors and (ii) acting as the agent for the brand licensors to,
among others, identify potential licensees for these brand licensors

7003 (i) P M ol RS2 HE D7 % T B 2 T RO T R % G A 5 o R A HE D7 9
PR 5 5% 55 i WA T CHL v A 48) W) €0 98 A 5 1 O 2R A 1 o W A2 6 S

means any day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing in
securities

gt 22 P B S 5% 58 B WY AT AT H

the British Virgin Islands
e S I L RE B

Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

T R R Bk C 1T A 3 iR <1
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“Companies Ordinance”

FARSECS N

ELIYs

“Company”, “our Company”,
“We” or &‘uSV’

[ 23 A s T3 )

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”
428 1% i )

“date of this annual report™/
“date of this report”

[ 45 4 H O ) B TAS e H 3

“Director(s)” or “our Director(s)”

[# %)

“Eligible Person(s)”

(& &AL

CLINNTS

“Group”, “our Group”,
“Medialink Group”,
“we” or “us”

[ R )~ [ 0 4 M ) B
Ei N

“HK$’9’ S‘HKD?’ Or
“Hong Kong dollars”
[T )

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended or
supplemented from time to time

A U 15 58 622 % 8 RG] o AEOR IR 4B BT B T

MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED, an exempted company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability on 29 October 2018 and references to “we”,
“us” or “our” refer to our Group or, where the context requires, our Company
FeIRAEEA PR AR > — R 20184E10 529 H it B 2 B K 5T 1 057 0 1 8 S
BR 2w o i [ A S o 1AM A9 ) Aoy B 2 48 A 4 1 AR 2 m) (91 30 3% T 48)

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules and in the context of our
Company, means Ms. Lovinia Chiu and RLA

BAEMEPFrEeE > iR QRGNS > 558 /3L - ZRLA
means 26 June 2025
202546 H26H

the director(s) of our Company

ENVNE o

to the extent permitted under Rule 17.03A of the Listing Rules, means any
individual, being a director (excluding independent non-executive Directors), senior
management, employee (whether full-time or part-time), consultant or advisor of
the Group who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, has contributed or will
contribute to the Group; however, no individual who is resident in a place where the
grant, acceptance or vesting of an Award pursuant to the Scheme is not permitted
under the laws and regulations of such place or where, in the view of the Board,
compliance with applicable laws and regulations in such place makes it necessary
or expedient to exclude such individual, shall be entitled to participate in the
Scheme and such individual shall therefore be excluded from the term Eligible
Person

TE MR 5 b B RSB 17.03A M BT R BB RN > ER g 2R A B AERA
B A ERMAAEENER AQEBLERTES) R EHEAR - RA
(22 s e ) ~ B ) s At A A I A A s M BT B [ 7 V5 A Rk AR AR R
AR w1 B R R PR~ e A Rl S o BN R R R A B
fg&&ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁj\i RN LIRS B TR MA
AEMAL

our Company and its subsidiaries at the relevant time or, where the context
otherwise requires, in respect of the period prior to our Company becoming the
holding company of its present subsidiaries, such subsidiaries as if they were
subsidiaries of our Company at the relevant time

AN ) R A A B R TR £ B J  F) > BOf SC R 55 A TR > AR A F A LB
A B B > ) I 2 P 2% R 2 S ERT o B R A T T A o ) R A R %
45 B Ja 2 W

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

i ik E BT
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“Hong Kong”
[ ¥

“JPY”
[H Al

“Listing”
[

“Listing Date”

[ H )

“Listing Rules”
[Ei AR Al

“Macau”

RUSEN
“MAIL”

[ 36 8) # (B )

“Main Board”

[

“Media Content Distribution
Business”

[ 0 R 2 R AT 26 5 )

“MEL”

[ 6 12 45 |

“Memorandum” or

“Memorandum of Association”

[ R A ) i [ AH 4 7 e Ok A4

“MFE”

[MFE |

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
o B A R AT B I

Japanese Yen, the lawful currency of Japan

HA 2 B H A

the listing of the shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
e 4 A g 52 P SE AR i

Tuesday, 21 May 2019, on which the Shares were first listed and from which
dealings in the Shares were permitted to take place on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

20194FSH21H (2 1 =) > BRIV 6y 1 vk b vl S 28 o % 6 52 B 3 B B O BT
ZH

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, as amended or supplemented from time to time

RIS 2 S B A BR S R SR TR o AR OR R AE AT B T

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
o B AR I AT B

Medialink Animation International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong on 11 August 2000 with limited liability
Fo R B & (B BR) A BR A A > — [ iR20004F8 A 11 H 1 7 ik 5 it 5 7 19 A BR

AT

the stock exchange (excluding the options market) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operated in parallel with GEM of the Stock
Exchange

Fh B 52 i 7 0 Y R 2R 58 5 T O A0 435 W3 HE 17 355) > 7 8 57 TR B 52 I GEMLIA ¥
DU B GEM — [F] i i 22 i % 4

business of distribution of media content by sub-licensing various rights to exploit
the media content granted by the media content licensors and co-investment in the
production of media content

325 8 T 45 25 T JSORE DL B 3 IO O RN D7 T A5 HE O S O A DL R SR B
SR AR A A A SRS N R AT SR

Medialink Entertainment Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong on 13
October 2000 with limited liability and a wholly owned subsidiary of our Company
Fe TR G A PR A w] > — [H IR 20004E 10 H13 A 7E & dE sE S 2 A IR A R - A
Aoy E i) 42 A W

the memorandum of association of our Company adopted on 21 September 2022, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

AN AL AR T AR KA - R 20224F9 H21H ER AN - KERN IR AT~ il 7 5l DL A
Jr KAE

Medialink (Far East) Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong on 11 July
2001 with limited liability and a wholly owned subsidiary of our Company
Medialink (Far East) Limited > — [H] J220014F7 3 11 H & 7 # & i 557 19 A BR 2
IR NN R o) g op = B/AC
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“Ms. Barbara Chiu”

[ /N F 21 )

“Ms. Lovinia Chiu”

[ /1N 4 4 -

“Ms. Noletta Chiu”
[t /N R 2 1)

“Net Proceeds”

[ FT 15 3 6 1 #1

“Nomination Committee”

e Z 8]

“on-market”

EZANE

“PRC” or “China” or
“Mainland China”

[r B s e (A

“Prospectus”

[ B % A

“Remuneration Committee”

[ 2 5 )

“Reporting Period” or “Year”

[ 0 ) B A 4 %

“Returned Shares”

[ 2 i 13 ]

Ms. Chiu Siu Ling Barbara, Senior Director — Human Resources &
Administration and the sister of Ms. Lovinia Chiu and Ms. Noletta Chiu

HENF et AN B IR AT BOAR B DAk /) L R /) B o 0

Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia, the chairman of our Board, an executive Director and
chief executive officer of our Company, our Controlling Shareholder, and the sister
of Ms. Noletta Chiu and Ms. Barbara Chiu
/N> RNREEG L - PUATE F AT
AN R A Bt S ¥ e 0 T ik

AR T A T B R DA Rl

Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta, our executive Director and the sister of Ms. Barbara
Chiu and Ms. Lovinia Chiu
/N B A o FRAM B AT HE S R N B o RO /) e e s 9 ik

Proceeds from issuance of the shares in the Company in connection with the
Listing after deduction of the underwriting fees and commissions and expenses
payable by the Company

&4 %igﬂ%ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁéu&%fiﬁ » BT A B B A 2% ] A 5
11 B 45 3R

the nomination committee of our Board

ERGRAZAY

means the acquisition of Shares through one or more transactions through the
facilities of the Stock Exchange in accordance with the Listing Rules and any other
applicable laws and regulations

ﬁﬁtﬁﬁﬂﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁ%*ﬁ I6#] 325 1A L 325 0 7 i 52 P vt s 8 — IR B 2 IR KL
o W5 B e Ay

The People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this report and for
geographical reference only and except where the context requires, references
in this report to “China” and the “PRC” do not include Hong Kong, Macau and
Taiwan

e N RSN > (0 R o S BT - BRSO AR A R
A B ARSI W A

prospectus of the Company dated 30 April 2019
A 2% A H 1 2520194F4 A 30 H /Y 45 B 2 2

the remuneration committee of our Board

EHRGHMEAE

means the reporting period for the year ended 31 March 2025
8 2202543 H 31 H AL 4F 5 ) $ii 5 4)

means the Award Shares that are not vested and/or are forfeited in accordance with
the terms of the Scheme, or such Shares being deemed to be Returned Shares under
the Scheme Rules
TE%%{%‘J%%B‘M&E%%&/EN&WE‘J@%J@ﬁﬂ%ﬁa‘ﬁ*ﬁ%%%ﬂﬁﬁﬂ?ﬁh?&%ﬂ&
1Y JI Ay
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“RLA”

[RLA

“RMB”
TR

“Scheme” or “Share Award
Scheme”

[t 1 ] 5k
[ 17 5% Jh 5t &1

“Scheme Limit”

[t &) ERR

“Scheme Rules”

[t &8 A

“Selected Participant(s)”
[f8 7€ 2 Bl |

“SFC”
[ ¥ &

“SFO”
75 75 I 30 £ Ak 191

“SGD”
[ % ot

“Share(s)”

I 3]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ oR

“Stock Exchange”
R

RLA Company Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability
on 23 October 2018, which is one of our Controlling Shareholders and wholly
owned by Ms. Lovinia Chiu

RLA Company Limited > — [ 742018410 H 23 H 7£ 7% J& i £ B 5 sk M 5 Sz i &
AW BERMEBRBR R — > W/ L L2 EHA

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
A E B AR

means the share award scheme adopted by the Company in accordance with these
Scheme Rules on the Adoption Date

T BR AR A 2 FAR 4 s AR B BR AR A S 4y B D -

means the aggregate number of Shares underlying all grants that may be made
pursuant to the Scheme (excluding Award Shares that have been forfeited in
accordance with the Scheme), being 10% (i.e. 199,200,000 Shares) of the total
number of issued Shares as at the Adoption Date

AR B T ) ) A5 BT 7 B 4 07 K (A A AR 4t B R S B T % )
RIVER & H 1 2 98 A7 i 6 A8 BT 10% (B1199,200,000 2 B £73)

means the rules set out in the Scheme as amended from time to time

at B T G AR B (KA R B T

means any Eligible Person approved for participation in the Scheme and who has
been granted any Award

AT o] 26 v 2 Bt ) 7 0 2 5 i 9 5 B AN L

means the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

BB FAMBEFEHEEELZAY

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended or supplemented from time to time

A k1 5571 R R R B R ] 5 AR R A BT B T

Singapore dollar, the lawful currency of Singapore

TN 33 RE BRI 35 e

means ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company, or, if
there has been a sub-division, consolidation, re-classification or re-construction of
the share capital of the Company, shares forming part of the ordinary share capital
of the Company of such other nominal amount as shall result from any such sub-
division, consolidation, re-classification or re-construction

ARy F BBEAS o A B TET(ELO.O 1948 T (19 5 4 B > s (AR A Rl A R4 - & 0 ~ &
oy SR AL) PRAN - A 0F > HE B 0 S R AL P AR AR R AR H At
TAT (L 1) f 3

holder(s) of Shares
I EHES PN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
WIS 22 5 B A PR
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“Trust”

EEEA
“Trust Deed”
EEEE SOl

“Trustee”

B3 PN

“US dollars” or “US$”
=

“Vesting Date”

[l Jag H 341 ]

means the trust constituted by the Trust Deed to service the Scheme

{5 WE 32 49 A0 B 5 & A9 5 E

means the trust deed to be entered into between the Company and the Trustee (as
may be restated, supplemented and amended from time to time)

A 25 ) B E AT A £ HE 2240 (o f R 56 9~ 72 B i)

means the trustee appointed by the Company for the purpose of the Trust

KAFREREEENZTEA

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
FEEE R ET

means the date as determined from time to time by the Board, on which the Award
(or part thereof) is to vest in the relevant Selected Participant as set out in the
relevant award letter

%i‘iKgﬂqﬁy&%?ﬁﬁ PR 5 B R 1 T I SIS S (2R ER 43 I T A B s w2
WA R H

In this report, the terms “associate”, “close associate”, “connected WA A N > BRIEXFE RN AT - &R B

EEIT3

person”, “connected transaction

EEINT3

ELINT3

, “controlling shareholder”, “core % A |~[Z B HHE A |~ TR AN+ |~ [BH 2

connected person”, “subsidiary(ies)” and “substantial shareholder” 3¢ % | ~ [ [ B o) ~ [4%0oBH 2 AN+ | ~ T
shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Listing Rules, J& 2 m)J J [ 45 B % 52 ) /8 B A5 b 77 k5 A fr
unless the context otherwise requires. R

2005%H BHEEERAT m



This glossary contains explanations of certain terms used in this £ fill %l %2 & 4 A< i 15 B F 25 T % 52 0
report. These terms and their meanings may or may not correspond to ¥ ° 7% % i ¢ M Ho WA 26 o 26 B 5% 55 i ¢

standard industry meaning or usage of these terms.

“brand(s)”

[ b ]

“brand licensor(s)”

[t heR 43 HE 7 ]

“character brand(s)”

FERERA 0

“fashion brand(s)”

['IEF 1 it it

«1p”
IR0 i 2

“media content”

[ 1A %5 )

t1)

“media content licensor(s)

(L P 75 1 HE 7

“merchandising rights”

RETTES

“minimum guarantee”

[ 5 0 R 78 45

“OTT”

[OTTI

Wy PR e S P | IE — B e

comprising trademarks, characters, labels, names, logos, designs, or the names and/
or likeness thereof, which may be further categorised into character brands, fashion
brands, lifestyle brands and other brands

AR MG R 2 B RETSRH AR R G TS
O F P TR SRR~ IR I R T R A

licensor(s) of brand(s)

o W 432 HE 7

brand(s) involving characters from animation or comics

e E Ik TR RN iEr

brand(s) involving fashion labels or fashion names

5 T2 IR 2 i it SR ) 42 R 19 & R

intellectual property

Rl 7

media content including animation series, drama series, animated feature films,
live-action feature films and other video content

HEAFCESHEL - BEHE - RRBHER - BEARRE & MW 41
NESS

licensor(s) of media content

B A R TT

the rights to produce, manufacture, sell and otherwise distribute, advertise and
promote any tangible items, goods and/or products being or using the brands,
characters, designs or the names and/or likeness thereof

R A RETSR A SR DA A R B R Ay
o8 - M AT AT A TR W S S R RE R

an advance payment made by a licensee to a licensor to obtain the licensing
rights, which will be recognised as licensed assets; it is usually non-refundable but
recoupable or shall be set-off against the royalty payable

WA ME 7 1) B HE Oy SR TR 3K DAJE 75 S HERE R 52 HEE AR R0 e B 2 42
REE P 5 U AN R R o Ml AR R > BT R K E A A9 R B

over-the-top channels that distribute streaming media content directly to viewers
over the internet via open network, including subscription-based video on demand
services

75 e I A A L 2 1) 5T A 0 B M AT S U B T A Y over-the-top JRAH
L5 FE T R0 () A5 B % A B
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“promotion rights”

i & HE |

“royalty rate(s)”

S

66TV?7
[ 7]

the rights to use brands, characters, designs or the names to advertise and
promote the goods, services, or general business operation of a licensee, including
advertisements prepared for all print and audio-visual media uses (including radio,
television and film), packaging materials, point-of-sale displays, premium items
and other promotional items

R AR~ A BRI A AR RER o DLE R B R RE T B B
BCRE B SE TSRS G AE L I A BRI B R R A (RS AR R A
KB R M RAE R B - G AERORE B R R R~ 1 B A A S A

payment made by one party, the licensee/sub-licensee, to another party, the
licensor/master licensee, for the use of media content/brands of the licensor/master
licensee expressed as a percentage of the revenue obtained using the media content/
brands or as a fixed value, depending on the agreements between the parties

— 7 (B HMET7 /P W B HE T ) s A8 P B HE T R B HE O 1) LR TR 2
] 55— 75 (BRAET7/ HAW AR ME J7) SO IR R I - 457 2507 Z [ i 1 ok 2
I8 TR 5 A A 1 2 Y — S T 0 B s — A 1 R

television

B
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